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Unless otherwise indicated, the terms “Delta,” “we.” “us,” and “our” refer to Delta Air Lines, Inc and its subsidiaries
FORWARD-LOOKIMG STATEMENTS

Statements 1n this Form 10-K (or otherwise made by us or on our behalf) that are not istorical facts, including statements about our estimates, expectations,
beliefs, intentions, projections or strategies for the future, mav be *forward-looking staternents” as defined in the Private Securrties Litigation Reform Act of 1995
Forward-looking statements mvolve nsks and uncertzinues that could cause actual results to differ materially from historical expenence or our present
expectations Known matenal nisk factors applicable to Delta are descnibed in “Rusk Factors Relating to Delta™ and “Risk Factors Relating to the Airtine Industry’
n “ltem 1A Risk Factors” of this Form 10-K, other than risks that could apply to any 1ssuer or offering All forward-looking statements speak only as of the date

made, and we undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances that may anse after the date of
this report
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Part 1
ITEM 1 BUSINESS
General

We provide scheduled air transportation for passengers and cargo throughout the United States ("U S ) and around the world Qur global route network gives
us a presence In every major domestic and mnternational market Our route network 1s centered around a system of hub, mternational gateway and key airports that
we operate m Amsierdam, Atlanta, Boston, Detroit, London-Heathrow, Los Angeles, Minneapolis-5t Paul, New York-LaGuardia, New York-JFK, Pans-Charles
de Gaulle, Salt Lake City Seattle and Tokyo-Nanta Each of these operations includes flights that gather and distnbute traffic from markets 1n the geographic
region surrcunding the hub or gateway to domestic and international cines and to other hubs or gateways Our network 1s supported by a fleet of aircrafi that 15
varied in size and capatnlities, giving us flexibility to adjust awrcrafi 1o the network

Other important charactenistics of our route network mclude

*  our intemattonal joint ventures, particularly our ransatlantic jomt venture with Air France-KLM and Alitalia as well as our jomt venture with Virgin
Atlantic,

+  our alhances with other foreign airlines, including Aeromexico GOL and China Eastern and our membership in SkyTeam, a global airline alhance,
and

= agreements with muluple domestic regional camers, which operate as Delta Connection ®

We are incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware Qur principal executive offices are located at Hartsfield-Jackson Atlanta International Airport m
Atlanta, Georgia Our telephone number 15 (404) 715-2600 and our Internet address 1s www delta com Information contamed on our website 1s not part of and 15
not ncorporated by reference mn, this Form 10-K

International Alliances

Qur international alhance relatonships with foreign carriers are an tmportant part of our business as they improve our access to mtemmational markets and
enable us 10 market globally integrated air transportatton services In general, these arrangements include reciprocal codeshaning and frequent flyer program
participation and airport lounge access arrangements, and with some carmers mav also include joint sales and marketing coordination, co-locanion of awrport
facilities and other commercial cooperation arrangements These alliances also may present opportunities 1n other areas, such as airport ground handling
arrangements, aircrafi maintenance msourcing and joint procurement

Jomt Venture Agreements We currently operate three joint ventures with foreign carmers These arrangements, for which we have received antitrust immumty
from the U § Department of Transportation ("DOT"), provide for jomnt commercial cooperation with our partners within the geographic scope of those
arrangements, including the sharing of revenues and/er profits and losses generated by the parties on the jomt venture routes, as well as joint marketing and sales
coordinated pricing and revenue management network planning and scheduling and other «oordinated activities with respect to the parties' eperations on joint
venture routes The three joint ventures are

* A transatiantic joint venture with Air France and KL M, both of which are subsidianies of the same holding company, and Alitaha, which generally
covers routes between North America and Europe

+ A transatlantic joint veniure with Virgin Atlantic Airways with respect to operations on non-stop reutes between the United Kingdom and North
Amerca In addition to the joint venture, we own a non-contrelling 49% equity stake 1n Virgin Atlantic Limited, the parent company of Virgm
Atlantic Airways

+ A transpacific jomnt venture with Virgm Australia Airlines and its affibated carners with respect to operations on transpacific routes between North
Amernica and Austrahia/New Zealand
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Enhanced Commercial Agreements with Foreign Carriers We have separate strategic equity investments in Grupo Aeromexico, S A B de C V| the parent
company of Aeroméxuco and in GOL Linhas Aereas Intehigentes, S A the parent company of VRG Linhas Aéreas (operating as GOL), and an exclusive
commercial relauonship with each air camer We mvested in Aeroméxico and GOL because they operate in Latin America's two largest marhets, Mexico and
Brazil, respectively Qur commercial agreements with cach of these carriers separately provide for expansion of reciprocal codeshanng and frequent flyer program
participation, airport lounge access arrangements, improved passenger connections and joint sales cooperation

We miend to further expand our relationship with Aeromexico through a joint venture on flights between the U S and Mexico that will allow us to compete
more effectively on these routes We are currently seeking approvals from governmental authorities for this jomnt venture [n addition to our commercial
cooperation arrangements for passenger service with Aeroméxico, we and Aeromextco have established a joint venture relating to an airframe maintenance, repair
and overhaul operation located 1 Queretaro, Mexico We have also announced our intention to commence a tender offer for additional capital stock of Grupo
Aeromexico (the parent company of Aeromexico) that would result in us owning up to 49% of the outstanding shares

We have also acquired shares of China Eastern and entered mto a commercial agreement with them to expand our relationship and better connect the networks
of the two airlines The expanded commercial agreement 1s designed to allow the camers to compete more effectively on routes between the U S and China,
provide more travel options for customers tn beth countries and make joint investments 1n the customer experience

SkyTeam In addiion 1o our marketing alhance agreements with individual foreign airhines, we are a member of the SkyTeam global airline alliance The other
members of SkyTeam are Aerofiot, Aerolineas Argentinas, Acromexico, Air Europa, Atr France, Alitalia, China Arrlines, China Eastern, China Southern, CSA
Czech Airlines, Garuda Indonesia, Kenya Atrways, KLM Korean Air Middle East Awrlines, Sauds Arabian Arlines Tarom Vietnam Airlines and Xiamen
Aurlines Through alhance arrangements with othier SkyTeam carners Delta 1s able to link 1ts network waith the route networks of the other member airlines,
providing opportumties for increased connecting traffic while offermg enhanced customer service through reciprocal codesharing and frequent flyer arrangements,
arport lounge access programs and coordinated cargo operations

Domestic Alhances

We have reciprecal codeshanng and frequent flyer program participation and arrport lounge access arrangements with both Alaska Airlines and Hawanan
Airhines

Regionaf Carniers

We have arr service agreements with domestic regional air carrsers that feed traffic to our route system by serving passengers prmanly m small and medum-
sized ciies These atrangements enable us to better match capacity with demand wn these markets Approximately 17% of our passenger revenue m 2015 was
related to flying by these regtonal air carriers

Through our regional carmer program, Delta Connection, we have contractual arrangements with regional carners to operate arcraft using our ‘DL” designator
code We have contractual arrangements with

*  Expresslet Aulines, Inc and SkyWest Airlines, Inc , both subsidianes of SkyWest, inc,

*  Shuttle Amenca Corporation {"Shuttle America”), a subsidiary of Republic Airways Holdings, Inc

«  Compass Airhnes, LLC (“Compass’ } and GoJet Airlines, LLC, both subsidiartes of Trans States Holdings, Inc (“Trans States ) and
*  Endeavor Aur, Inc, which 1s a wholly-owned subsidiary of ours

Qur contractual agreements with regional carniers pnmanly are capacity purchase arrangements, under which we control the scheduling, pricing, reservations,
ticketing and seat inventories for the regional carriers’ fights operating under our DL” designator code We are entitled to all ticket, cargo, mail, n-flight and
anctllary revenues associated with these flights We pay those arrlines an amount, as defined 1 the applicable agreement which 1s based on a determination of their
cost of operating those fhights and other factors intended to approximate market rates for those services These capacity purchase agreements are long-term
agreements, usually with ininal terms of at least 10 years, which grant us the option to extend the intial term Certain of these agreements provide us the nght to
terminale the entire agreement, of 1n some cases remove some of the arrcrafi from the scope of the agreement, for convenience at centamn future dates

SkyWest Airlines operates some flights for us under a revenue proratton agreement This proration agreement establishes a fixed dollar or percentage division
of revenues for tickets sold to passengers traveling on connecting flight stineranes

3
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Fuel

Our results of operauons are sigmficantly tmpacted by changes in the price and availlability of arrcrafi fuel The following table shows our arrcraft fuel
consumption and costs

Gallons Consumed @ Average Price Per Percentage of Total

Year {tn millions) Cost "2 (;n millrons) Gallon ¥ Operating Expense "
2015 3988 3 7579 § 190 23 0%
2014 3893 % 13512 § 347 354%
2013 3828 % 11,464 § 300 333%

" Includes the operations of our regional carrters operating under capacity purchase agreements
@ includes the tmpact of fuel hedge acuvety and refinery segment results

General

We purchase most of our awrcrafi fuel under contracts that establish the price based on vanous market indices and therefore do not prov1de matenal protection
against price increases or assure the avalability of our fuel supphies We also purchase arrcraft fuel on the spot market, from off-shore sources and under contracts
that permit the refiners to set the price

Monroe Energy

Our whoily-owned subsidianes, Monroe Energy LLC and MIPC, LLC {collecuvely “Monroe") operate the Trainer refinery and related assets located near
Philade!phia, Pennsylvama The facilities include pipelines and terminal assets that allow the refinery to supply jet fuel to our airline operations throughout the
Northeastern U S | includmg our New York hubs at LaGuardia and JFK These companies are distinct from us, operating under their own management teams and
with their own boards of managers

We own Monroe as part of our strategy to mihigate the cost of the refiming margmn reflected in the price of et fuel, as well as to mamtam sufficiency of supply
to our New York operattons The U S government recently reversed a ban on crude ol exports from the U S This pohicy reversal will place pressure on refiners in
the Northeastern U S The possibility that some refineries in the Northeastemn U S may close reinforces the reasons for Monroe to operate the Trainer refinery

Refinery Operattons The facility 1s capable of refining 195,000 barrels of crude ou per day In addition to jet fuel, the refinery’s production consists of
gasoline, diesel and other refined products { ‘non-jet fuel products™) Monroe sources domestic and foreign crude o1l supply from a vanety of providers

Strategic Agreements Monroe exchanges substantially all the non-jet fuel products the refinery produces with third parties for jet fisel consumed 1n our airline
operalions

Segments Because the products and services of Monroe's refinery operations are discrete from our arline services, segment results are prepared for our airhine
segment and our refinery segment  Financral information on our segment reporting can be found 1n Note 14 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Fuel Hedging Program

We actively manage our fuel price nsk through a hedging program intended to reduce the financial impact from changes mn the price of jet fuel We utiltze
different contract and commodity types in this program and frequently test their economic effectiveness against our financial targets We closely monitor the hedge
portfolio and rebalance the portfolio based on market conditions which may result in locking i gains or losses on hedge contracts prior to their settlement dates
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Fuel Supply Availability

We are currently able to obtain adequate supplies of aircrafi fuel, mncluding fuel produced by Monroe or procured through the exchange of non-jet fuel products
the refinery produces, and crude o1l for Monroe's operations However 1t 15 impossible to predict the future availability or price of arcraft fuel and crude ol
Weather-related events, natural disasters, pohtical disruptions or wars nvolving oil-producing countries, changes in govemment policy concerning arcrafi fuel
production, transportation or marketing, changes i refining capacity, environmental concerns and other unpredictable events may result in fusture fuel supply
shortages and fuel price increases

Frequent Flyer Program

Our SkyMules ® frequent flyer program ("SkyMues program®) is destgned to retain and increase traveler loyalty by offering imcentives to customers to mncrease
travel on Delia The SkyMiles program allows program members to cam muleage credit for travel awards by flying on Delta, its regional carners and other
participating airlines Mileage credit may also be eamed by using certain services offered by program participanis such as credit card companies, hotels and car
rental agencies In addiion, individuals and companies may purchase mileage credits Miles do not expire but are subject to the program rules We reserve the
right to terminate the program with six months advance notice, and w change the program's terms and conditions at any tume without notice

SkyMiles program muleage credits can be redeemed for air travel on Delta and participating arrhnes, for membership m our Delta Sky Clubs ® and for other
program paruictpant awards Mileage credits are subject to certam transfer restrictions and travel awards are subgect to capacity-controlled seating In 2015,
program members redeemed more than 312 tillion miles in the SkyMiles program for 13 3 million award redemptions During this penod, 7 2% of revenue miles
flown on Delta were from award travel
Other Businesses
Cargo

Through our global network our cargo operations are able to connect all of the world's major freight gateways We generate cargo revenues i domestic and
iternational markets through the use of cargo space on regularly scheduled passenger aircraft. We are a member of SkyTeam Cargo, a global ailime cargo alliance,
whose other members are Aeroflot Aerolineas Argentinas Aeromexico Cargo, Air France-KLLM Cargo Alitalia Cargo, China Airlines Cargo, China Cargo
Airlines, China Southern Cargo, Czech Aurlines Cargo and Korcan Awr Cargo ShyTeam Cargo offers a global network spanming six continents
Delta TechOps, Delta Global Services, MLT Vacations and Delta Private Jets

We have several other businesses arsing from our airline operatiens, including aircraft maintenance, repair and overhaul (“MRO”), staffing and other services,
vacatton wholesale operations and our private Jet operations In 2015 | the total revenue from these busmesses was approximately $1 billion

*  Inaddition to providing mamntenance and engineenng support for our fleet of over 900 aircraft, our MRO operation, known as Delta TechOps, serves
aviation and airline customers from around the world

*  Delta Global Services provides services to us and to third parties, including staffing services, aviation solutions, professtonal security and trainmg
services

*  Ouwr vacation wholesale business, MLT Vacations provides vacation packages to third-party consumers

»  Our pnivate jet operations, Delta Private Jets, provides aircraft charters, aircrafl management and programs allowing members to purchase flight ime
by the hour

Distributton and Expanded Product Offerings
Our uckets are s0ld through vanious distnbution channels including digital channels such as delta com and mobyle, telephone reservations and tradional "brick

and mortar” and online travel agencies An increasing number of our uckets are sold through Delta digital channels which reduces our distnbution costs and gives
us improved and direct personalized interaction with our customers




€ nts

We are transforming distnbution to a more retail oriented merchandised approach by introducing well-defined and differenuated products available to our
customers We will offer five distinct travel experiences, which include premwum amenities and services m Delta One ™, First Class and Delta Comfort+ ™ while
Mamn Cabin and Basic Economy options ailow customers to match the level of service with their preferences We expect that these merchandising imtiatives,
implemented across all of Delta’s distribution channels will allow customers to better understand our product offerings, make it easier to buy the products they
desire and increase customer satisfaction This merchandising effort 15 best expenienced on Delta’s digital channels where customers can compare all product
options 1n a single, easy 1o understand display

Competition

The arline imdustry 1s highly competitive, marked by sigmficant competition with respect to routes fares, schedules (both iming and frequency), services,
products, customer service and frequent flyer programs The industry 1s going through a period of transformauon through consolidation both domestically and
internationally, and changes 1n mternational allances Consohdation i the arline industry, the nse of well-funded government sponsored international carners,
changes 1n intermational alliances and the creation of immumzed joint ventures have altered and will continue to alter the competitive landscape m the industry,
resulting 1n the formation of airlines and all:rances with increased financial resources, more extensive global networks and compettive cost structures

Domestic

Qur domestic operations are subject to competition from wadinonal network carners, including American Arrlines and Umited Airlines, national point-to-point
carriers including Alaska Arrhines, JetBlue Airways and Southwest Awrlines and discount carneers, some of which may have lower costs than we do and provide
service at low fares to destinations served by us Point-to-pomnt, discount and ultra low-cost camers including Spirit Airlines and Allegiant Aur, place significant
competitive pressure on network carriers i the domestic market [n particular, we face significant competition at our domestic hub and gateway airpons either
directly at those airports or at the hubs of other arrlines that are located 1 close proximiuty to our hubs and gateways We also face competition 1n smaller to
medium-sized markets from regional jet operations of other carners

International

Qur intemational operations are subject to competitton from both foreign and domestic camers Competition 15 increasing from government owned and funded
carriers n the Gulf region, including Enmurates, Etthad Awrways and Qatar Airways These carners have large numbers of itemational widebody aircrafi on order
and are increasing service to the U S from their hubs 1n the Middle East Several of these carners, along with cammers from China, India and Southeast Asia, are
government subsidized, which has allowed them to grow quickly, reinvest i their product and expand their global presence at the expense of U S airhines

Through alhance and other marheting and codesharing agreements with foretgn carners U S carners have increased their abihty to sell internationat
transportation, such as services to and bevond traditional European and Asian gateway cities Similarly, foreign carners have obtained increased access to intenor
U S passenger traffic beyond traditional U § gateway cities through these relationships In particular alhances formed by domestic and foreign carmiers, including
SkyTeam, the Star Alhance {among United Airlines, Lufthansa German Aurlines, Air Canada and others) and the oneworld alliance {among Amencan Aulines,
British Awrways, Qantas and others} have altered competition i international markets

In addition, scveral joint ventures among U § and foreign carners, including our transatlanuc and transpacific joint ventures, have received grants of antitrust
immunity allowing the participating carners to coordinate schedules, pricing, sates and mventory Other jomnt ventures that have recerved antitrust immunity
mclude a transatlantic alliance among United Airlines, Air Canada and Lufthansa German Airlines a transpacific joint venture between Unuted Arrtines and All
Nippon Airways, a transatlantic joint venture among American Airlines, British Atrways and lberia and a transpacific joint venture between American Airlines and
Japan Air Lines
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Regulatory Matters

The DOT and the Federal Aviation Admimstration (the * FAA™) exercise regulatory authority over air ransportation m the U S The DOT has authonity to 1ssue
certificates of public conventence and necessity required for airlines to provide domestic arr transportation An air carner that the DOT finds fit to operate 15 given
author1ty to operate domesuc and intemational air transportation (including the carnage of passengers and cargo) Except for constraints imposed by regulations
regarding * Essential Air Services ” which are applicable to certain small communities, airlines may terminate service to a city without restnction

The DOT has jurisdiction over certan economic and consumer proteciion matters, such as unfair or deceptive practices and methods of competition
advertising, denied boarding compensation, baggage liability and disabled passenger transportation The DOT also has authonity to review certan joint venture
agreements between major camers and engages in regulation of economic maners such as slot transactions The FAA has pnmary responsibility for matters
relating o the safety of air carmer flight operations including airline operating certificates, control of navigable air space, flight personnel, arrcraft certification and
maintenance and other matters affecting air safety

Authonity to operate international routes and international codesharing arrangements 1s regulated by the DOT and by the governments of the foreign countnes
involved Intemational certificate authontes are also subject to the approval of the U S President for conformance with national defense and foreign policy
objectives

The Transportation Secunity Admimstration and the U S Customs and Border Protection, each a diviston of the Department of Homeland Secunty, are
responsible for certamn civil aviation security matters, including passenger and baggage screemng at U § atrports and mternational passenger prescreening prior to
entry into or departure from the U S

Aurlines are also subject to vanous other federal state local and foreign laws and regulations For example, the U § Department of Justice has junisdiction over
airline competttion matters The U S Postal Service has authonty over certain aspects of the transportation of mail Labeor relations in the arhine indusiry, as
discussed below, are generally governed by the Ratlway Labor Act Environmental matters are regulaied by vanous federal, state, local and foreign governmental
entities Privacy of passenger and employee data is regulated by domestic and foreign laws and regulations

Fares and Raies

Aurlines set ticket prices i all domestic and most international caty pairs with mimimal govemnmental regulation, and the industry 15 charactenzed by sigmificant
price compentition Certain international fares and rates are subject to the junisdiction of the DOT and the governments of the foreign countrics involved Many of
our tickets are sold by travel agents and fares are subject to comnussions, overrides and discounts paid to travel agents brokers and wholesalers

Route Authority

Our flight operations are authorized by certificates of public convemence and necessity and also by exemptions and limited-entry frequency awards 1ssued by
the DOT The requisite approvals of other governments for mternational operations are controlled by bilateral agreements (and a multilateral agreement in the case
of the US and the European Union) with, or permuts or approvals issued by foreign countries Because international air transportaiton 1s governed by bitateral or
other agreements between the U S and the foreign country or countries involved, changes in U S or foreign government aviation policies could result in the
alteration or termunation of such agreements, diminush the value of our international route authonties or otherwise affect our mnternational operations Bilateral
agreements between the U S and various foreign countries served by us are subject to renegotiation from time to time The U § government has negotiated “Open
Skies™ agreements with many countries which allow unrestricted access between the U S and the foreign marhets These agreements include separate agreements
with the European Umon and Japan

Centain of our imernational route authorities are subject to periodic renew al requirements We request extenston of these authorities when and as appropnate
While the DOT usually renews temporary authorities on routes where the authonzed camer 15 providing a reasonable level of service, there 1s no assurance this
practice will continue 1n general or with respect to a specific renewal Dormant route authonitics may not be renewed i some cases, especially where another U §
carrser indicates a wallingness to provide service
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Atrport Access

Operations at four major domestic arrports and certain foreign arports served by us are regulated by governmental entities through atlocations of “slots” or
stmilar regulatory mechamsms which limit the rights of carriers to conduct operations at those atrports Each slot represents the authorization to tand at or take off
from the particular airport dunng a specified time penod

Inthe US the FAA currently regulates the allocation of slots, slot exemptions operating authonzations, or similar capacity allocation mechanisms at Reagan
National m Washmgton, D C and LaGuardia, JFK and Newark in the New York City area Our operations at these arrports generally require the allocation of slots
or analogous regulatory authorizations Similarly, our operations at Tokyo's Nanita and Haneda airports, London's Heathrow airport and other mternational airports
are regulated by local slot coordinators pursuant to the International Air Transport Association's Worldwide Scheduling Guidelines and applicable local law We
currently have sufficient slots or analogous authorizations to operate our exisung fhights, and we have generally been able to obtan the nights to expand our
operations and to change our schedules There 15 no assurance, however, that we will be able to do so i the future because, among other reasons, such allocations
are subject to changes in governmental policies

Environmental Matters

Emussions The US Environmental Protection Agency (the EPA”) s authorized to regulate awrcraft emisstons and has histonically implemented emissions
controi standards adopted by the International Crvtl Aviation Orgamzation { [CAO™) Our aircrait comply with existing EPA standards as applicable by engine
design date The ICAQ has adopted two additional aircraft engine emissions standards, the first of which 1s applicable to engines certified after December 31 2007
and the second of which 1s apphcable 1o engines cerufied after December 31, 2013 In June 2012, the EPA pubhished a final rulemaking for new emission standards
for oxides of mtrogen (NOx), adopting ICAQ's additional standards Included 1n the rule are two new tiers of more stringent emisston standards for NOx These
standards, referred to as the Tier 6 standards, became effective for newly-manufactured arrcraft engines beginning 1n 2013

Concern about aviation environmental issues, ncluding ¢limate change and greenhcuse gases, has led to taxes on our operations in the United Kingdom and i
Germany both of which have levied 1axes directly on our customers We may face additional regulation of aircraft emissions in the U § and abroad and become
subject to further taxes charges or additional requirements to obtain permats or purchase allowances or emission credits for greenhouse gas emissions wn various
junsdictions This could result 1n taxation or permuting requurertients from multiple junsdictrons for the same operations Ongowng bilateral discussions between the
U'S and other nations may lead to international treaties or other actions focusmng on reducing greenhouse gas emissions from avianon In addmon, at the 38
ICAQ Assembly that concluded October 4, 2013 1n Montreal, the Assembly adopted a climate change resolution committing ICAO to develop & global market-
based measure to be finalized at the 2016 ICAQ Assembly which would enable the airline industry to achieve carbon-neutral growth by 2020

The European Utnon has required its member states to implement regulations including aviation in its Emissions Trading Scheme ( ‘ETS”} Under these
regulations, any airline with flights onginating or landing 1n the European Union 1s subject to the ETS and, beginning in 2812, was required to purchase emissions
allowances 1f the arrhne exceeds the number of free allowances allocated to 1t under the ETS The ETS has been amended to apply only to flights wathin the
European Economtc Area from 2013 through 2016 As a result, we operate a Limited number of flights that will be subject to the ETS through 2016 After 2016, the
ETS would apply to all flights originating or landing m the European Union, unless the EU amends the current legislation followmg the 2016 ICAQ Assembly

Cap and trade restrictions have also been proposed in the U & In addition, other legislanve or regulatory action, including by the EPA, to regulate greenhouse
gas emissions 1s possible In particular, the EPA has found that greenhouse gases threaten the public health and welfare and further determined that awrcraft cause or
contribute greenhouse gases, which could result it regulation of greenhouse gas emissions from arcraft In the event that legislation or regulation 15 enacted in the
U'S orn the event similar legistation or regulation 1s enacted 1n junsdictions other than the European Umon where we operate or where we may operate i the
future, 1t could result m significant costs for us and the airline industry In addinon to direct costs such regulation may have a greater effect on the airline ndustry
through mcreases 1n fuel costs that could result from fuel suppliers passing on mcreased costs that they incur under such a system We are monitoring and
evaluating the potential impact of such legislative and regulatery developments
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We seek to munimize the impact of greenhouse gas emissions from our operations through reductions in our fuel consumption and other efforts and have
realized reductions 1 our greenhouse gas erission levels since 2005 We have reduced the fuel needs of our aircraft fleet through the reurement of older, less fuel
efficient arrcraft and replacement with newer, more fuel efficient awrcraft In addition, we have implemented fuel saving procedures m our flight and ground sepport
operations that further reduce carbon emissions We are also supporting efforts to develop alternative fuels and efforts to modermize the air traffic control system in
the U S, as part of our efforts to reduce cur emissions and mimimize our impact on the environment

Notse The Arrport Noise and Capacity Act of 1990 recogmizes the nghts of operators of arrporis with noise problems to implement local noise abatement
programs 5o long as such programs do not wnterfere unreasonably with iterstate or foreign commerce or the national awr transportation sy stem This statuie
generally provides that local noise restrictions on Stage 3 aircraft first effecuve after October 1, 1990, require FAA approval While we have had sufficient
scheduling flexibility to accommodate local nowse restrictions in the past, our operations could be adversely impacted if locally-imposed regulations become more
restrictive or widespread In addition, foreign governments may allow airports to enact sumilar restricuons, which could adversely impact our intemational
operations or require significant expenditure 1n order for our atrcrafl to comply with the restnctions

Refinery Matters Monroe's operation of the Tramner refinery 1s subject to numerous environmental laws and extensive regulations, including those relanng to
the discharge of matenials into the environment, waste management, pollution prevention measures and greenhouse gas emissions

Under the Energy [ndependence and Secunty Act of 2007, the EPA has adopted Renewable Fuel Standards (“RFS™) that mandate the blending of renewable
fuels mnto gasoline and on-road dresel (“Transportation Fuels™) Renewable Identification Numbers (“RINs”) are assigned to renewable fuels produced or imported
mtothe US that are blended nto Transportation Fuels to demonstrate compliance with this obligation A refinery may meet its obligation under RFS by blending
the necessary volumes of renewable fuels with Transportation Fuels or by purchasing RINs in the open market or through a combtnation of blending and
purchasing RINs Because the refinery operated by Monroe does not blend renewable fuels, it must purchase us entire RINs requirement in the secondary market or
obtain a warver from the EPA

Orher Emvironmental Marters We are subject to various other federal, state and locat taws govemning environmental matters, including the management and
disposal of chemicals, waste and hazardous matenals protection of surface and subsurface waters and regulation of air emissions and aircraft drinking water We
are specifically aware of soil and/or ground water contamnation present on our current or former leascholds at several domestic airports To address this
contamnation, we have a program m place to investigate and, if approprate, remediate these sites Although the ultimate outcome of these matters cannot be
predicted with certamty we believe that the resolution of these matters will not have a matenal adverse effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements

Crwil Reserve Arr Fleet Program
We participate 1n the Civil Reserve Air Fleet program (the CRAF Program™), which permitts the U § mulitary to use the aircraft and crew resources of

participang U S airlines during airhift emergencies, national emergencies or umes of war We have agreed to make available under the CRAF Program a portion
of our mternational arrcraft during the contract period ending September 30, 2016 The CRAF Program has only been activated twice since 1t was created mn 1951
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Employee Matters
Raifway Labor Act

Our relations with labor untons representing our airhine employees in the U § are governed by the Ratlway Labor Act Under the Railway Labor Act, a labor
umon seeking to represent an unrepresented craft or class of employees 1s requured to file with the National Mediation Board (the “NMB”) an application alleging a
representation dispute, along with authonization cards signed by at least 50% of the employees i that craft or class The NMB then investigates the dispute and f
1t finds the labor umon has obtained a sufficient number of authorization cards, conducts an election to determune whether to certify the labor umon as the
collective bargaining representative of that crafl or class A labor umion will be certified as the representative of the employees in a craft or class 1f more than 50%
of votes cast are for that umon A certified labor umion would commence negotiations toward a collective bargaining agreement with the employer

Under the Railway Labor Act, a collective bargaining agreement between an airhine and a labor union does not exprre, but mstead becomes amendable as of a
stated date Either party may request that the NMB appoint a federal mediator to parucipate in the negotiatiens for a new or amended agreement If no agreement 15
reached i mediation, the NMB may determine, at any time, that an impasse exists and offer binding arbitration If euther party rejects binding arbitration, a 30-day
“cooling off” period begins At the end of thus 30-day period, the parties may engage 1n ‘self help,” unless the U S President appomts a Presidential Emergency
Board (“PEB™) to invesugate and report on the dispute The appointment of a PEB maintains the “status quo™ for an additional 60 days If the parties do not reach
agreement during this perrod, the parties may then engage n self help Self help includes, among other things, a stnke by the union or the imposition of proposed
changes to the collective bargaining agreement by the airline Congress and the President have the authonity to prevent self help by enacting legislation that, among
other things, imposes a settlement on the parties

Collective Bargaining

As of December 31, 2015 , we had approximately 83,000 full-tume equivalent employees, approximately 18% of whom were represented by unions The
following table shows our domestic airline employee groups that are represented by unions

Appreximate Number of Active Date an which Coltective Bargaiming
Employee Group Emplovees Represented Union Agreement Becomes Amendable
Delta Pilots 12,080 ALPA December 31 2015 M
Delta Flight Supermntendents (Dispatchers) 400 PAFCA March 31, 2018
Endeavor Air Pilots 1.360 ALPA January 1 2020
Endeavor Air Flight Attendants 895 AFA December 31, 2018
Endeavor Air Dispatchers 50 DISTWU December 31,2018

@ We are in discusstons with representatives of the Delta pilots regarding terms of an amended collective bargamining agreement

In addition, 209 refinery employees of Monroe are represented by the United Steel Workers under an agreement that expires on February 28, 2019 This
agreement 15 governed by the Nationa! Labor Relations Act ("NLRA"}, which generally allows either party to engage in self help upon the expiration of the
agreement

Labor umons pertodically engage 1n organzing efforts to represent vanious groups of our employees, incleding at our operating subsidianes, that are not
represented for collective bargaming purposes
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Executive Officers of the Registrant

Richard H Anderson, Age 60 Chief Executive Officer of Delta since September 1, 2007 Executive Vice President of UmitedHealth Group and President of 115
Commercial Services Group (December 2006 - August 2007), Executive Vice President of UnitedHealth Group (November 2004 - December 2006), Chief
Executive Officer of Northwest Awrlines Corporation {(“Northwest ) (2001 - November 2004)

On May 2, 2016, Mr Anderson will retire as Chief Execotive Officer and become Executive Chairman of the Delta Board of Directors

Edward H Bastian, Age 58 President of Delta since September 1, 2007, President of Delta and Chief Executive Officer Northwest Airlines, Inc {October
2008 - December 2009), President and Chief Financial Officer of Delta (September 2007 -Cctober 2008) Executive Vice President and Chief Financal Officer of
Delta (July 2005 - September 2007} Chief Financal Officer Acuity Brands (June 2005 - July 2005), Sentor Vice President-Finance and Controller of Delta (2000
- Apnil 2005), Vice Prestdent and Controller of Delta (1998 - 2000)

On May 2, 2016 Mr Bastian will become Chief Executive Officer of Delta

Peter W Carter, Age 52 Execuuve Vice President - Chief Legal Officer of Delta since July 2015, Partner, Dorsey & Whitney LLP (1999 - 2015), including
co-chair of Secunties Litigation and Enforcement practice group chair of Policy Commuttee and chair of tnal department

Glen W Hauenstemn, Age 55 Executive Vice President - Chief Revenue Officer of Delta since August 2013, Executive Vice President-Network Planning and
Revenue Management of Delta (April 2006 - July 2013) Executive Vice President and Chief of Network and Revenue Management of Delta (August 2005 - Apnl
2006} Vice General Director-Chief Commercial Officer and Chief Operating Officer of Alitalia (2003 - 2005), Semior Vice President-Network of Continental
Aiarhines (2003), Semor Vice President-Scheduling of Continental Arrlines (2001 - 2003}, Vice President Scheduhing of Continental Atrlines (1998 - 2001)

On May 2, 2016, Mr Hauenstein will become President of Delta

Paul A Jacobson, Age 44 Executive Vice President - Chief Financial Officer of Delta since August 2013 Senior Vice President and Chuef Financial Officer of
Delta (March 2012 - July 2013), Senior Vice President and Treasurer for Delta (December 2007 - March 2012), Vice President and Treasurer {August 2005 -
December 2007)

Steven M Sear, Age 50 President, International and Executive Vice President - Global Sales of Delta since February 2016, Semor Vice President - Global
Sales of Delta (December 2011 - February 2016}, Vice President - Global Sales of Delta (October 2008 - December 2011), Vice President - Sales & Customer Care
of Northwest Airlines (June 2005 - October 2008)

Joanne D Smith, Age 57 Executive Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer of Delta since October 2014, Senior Vice President - In-Flight Service
of Delta (March 2007 - September 2014) Vice President - Marketing of Delta (November 2005 - February 2007), President of Song {(January 2005 - October
2005), Vice President - Marketing and Customer Service of Song (November 2002 - December 2004)

W Gil West, Age 55 Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of Delta since February 2016, Executive Vice President and Chief
Operating Officer of Delta (March 2014 - February 2016) Senior Vice President - Aurport Customer Service and Techmcal Operations of Delta (February 2012 -
February 2014) Senior Vice President - Awrport Customer Service of Delta (March 2008 - January 20112}, President and Chief Executive Officer of Laidlaw Transit
Services (2006 - 2007)

Addinonal Infermation
We make available free of charge on our website our Annual Report on Form 10-K, our Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, our Current Reports on Form 8-K and

amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable after these reports are filed with or furnished to the Secunties and Exchange Commission
Information on our website 1s not incorporated mto this Form 10-K or our other securities filings and ts not a part of those filings

1t
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ITEM 1A RISK FACTORS

Risk Factors Relating to Delta

Terrorist attacks, geopolitical conflict or securtty events may adversely affect our business, financial conditton and operating results

Potential terronist attacks, geopolrtical conflict or secunty events, or fear of such events, may reduce demand for arr travel and cause increases in costs and
dechines i revenue The attacks of September 11, 2001 and the aftermath matenally impacted the bustness financial condition and operating results of our
company, as 1t did for the rest of the airline industry Despite sigmficantly heightened secunty measures at arports and airlines, the airline industry remains a high
profile target for terronst groups Terronist activity, such as the attacks in Panis m November 2015, generally can also impact our mdustry by discouraging awr
travel We constantly monitor threats from terronst groups and individuals includeing from vielent extremusis i the U S, both wath respect to direct threats aganst
our operations and in ways not directly related to the airhne mdusiry In addition, the tmpact on our operations of avoiding areas of the world, including airspace, in
which there are geopolitical conflicts and the targeting of commercial aircraft by parties to those conflicts can be significant Security events, whether from external
or internal sources also pose a sigmificant risk to our operations

Terrorist attacks, geopolitical conflict or secunity events, or fear of such events, even 1f not made directly on or involving the auime industry, could have
significant negative impact on us by discouraging passengers from flyurg and requiring changes in our operations For example, heightened terrorist activity or
geopolitical conflict may discourage arr travel and reduce ticket purchases In addition to losing revenue from decreased ticket sales and increased refunds
potential costs include increased security costs, tmpacts from avording flight paths over areas i which conflict 1s occurning reputational harm and other costs If
any or all of these types of events occur, they could have a matenal adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations

Our business and results of aperations are dependent on the price of aircraft fuel High fuel costs or cost increases, including in the cost of crude oil, could
have a material adverse effect on our eperating results

Our operating results are significantly impacted by changes in the price of awrcraft fuel Over the last decade fuel pnces have increased substantially at umes
and have been highly volatile during the last several years In 2015, our average fuel price per gallon, including the impact of fuel hedges, was $1 90, 2 45 2%
decrease from our average fuel price 1 2014 In 2014, our average fuel puce per gallon was $3 47 , a 15 7% ncrease from cur average fuel price m 2013 In
2013 our average fuel price per gallon was $3 00 , which was sigmficantly higher than fuel pnces just a few years earlier Fuel costs represented 23 0% 35 4%
and 33 3% of our operating expense 1 2015, 2014 and 2013 , respectively

Qur ability to pass along rapidly increasing fuel costs to cur customers may be affected by the compeutive nature of the arrline industry At umes n the past we
often were not able to increase our fares to offset fully the effect of increases mn fuel costs and we may not be able to do so in the future This 1s particularly the case
when fuel prices increase rapidly Because passengers often purchase tickets well in advance of their travel, a significant rapid increase in fuel price may result in
the fare charged not covering that increase

We acquire a sigmficant amount of jet fuel from our wholly-owned subsidiary, Monroe, and through strategic agreements that Monroe has with third parties
The cost of the fuel we purchase under these arrangements remains subject to volatlity i the cost of crude o1l and jet fuel In addition, we continue to purchase a
significant amount of aircraft fuel in addition to what we obtain from Monroe Our aircrafl firel purchase contracts alone do not provide material protection against
price increases as these contracts typically establish the price based on industry standard market price indices

Our fuel hedging activittes are intended to manage the financial impact of the volatiitty mn the price of Jet fuel The effects of rebalancing our hedge portfolio
and mark-to-market adiustments may have a negative effect on our financial results

We actively manage our fuel price nisk through a hedging program mntended to reduce the financial impact from changes n the price of jet fuel We uulize
different contract and commodity types 1n this program and frequently test their economic effectiveness aganst our financial tarpets We closely momitor the hedge
portfolio and rebalance the portfelio based on market conditions, which may result in locking in gains or losses on hedge contracts prior to their settlement dates
In addition, we record mark-to-market adjustments (*MTM adjustments™) on our fuel hedges MTM adjustments are based on market prces at the end of the
reporting penied for contracts setthing in future periods Losses from rebalancing or MTM adjustments (or both) may have a negative impact on our financial
results
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Our fuel hedge contracts contamn margtn funding requirements The margin funding requirements may require us 1o post Margin to counterparties or may cause
counterparttes to post margin to us as market prices in the undetlying hedged items change If fuel prices decrease sigmficantly from the tevels existing at the ume
we enter into fuel hedge contracts, we may be required to post a sigmficant amount of margm, which could have a matenal impact on the level of our unrestncted
cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments

Sugnificant extended disruptions in the supply of aircraft fuel, mcluding from Monree, could have a matertal adverse effect on our operations and operating
results

Weather-related events natural disasters political distuptions or wars involving oil-producing countries, changes m governmental policy concerning awrcraft
fuel production, transportation, taxes or marketing, environmental concerns and other unpredictable events may impact crude o1l and fuel supply and could resuft in
shortages in the future Shortages in fuel supplies could have negative effects on our results of operations and financial condrtion

Because we acquire a large amount of our jet fiel from Monroe, the disruption or interruption of production at the refinery could have an impact on our ability
to acquire Jet fuel needed for our operations Disruptions or wterruptions of production at the refinery could result from various sources including a major accident
or mechamcal fmlure, mterreption of supply or dehivery of crude oil, work stoppages relating to orgamized labor tssues, or damage from severe weather or other
natural or man-made drsasters, mcluding acts of terrorism 1 the refinery were to expenence an interruption m operations, disruptions in fuel supphies could have
negative effects on our results of operattons and financial condition In addition, the financial benefits from the operation of the refinery could be matenally
adversely affected (to the extent not recoverable through msurance) because of lost production and repair costs

Under a strategic agreement that Monroe has with a significant counterparty, Monroe 15 exchangimng non-jet fuel products for jet fuel for use n our airline
operations Menroe 1s required to deliver specified quantities of non-jet fuel products to the counterparty and the counterparty 15 required to deliver specified
quantitics of jet fuel to us If esther party does not have the specified quantity or type of product available, that party 1s required to procure any such shortage to
fulfill s obligation under the agreement If the refinery experiences a sigmficant interruption in operations, Monroe may be required to expend substantial amounts
ta purchase the products 1t 1s required to deliver, which could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial results of operations

In addition, the strategic agreements utilize market prices for the products being exchanged If Monroe's cost of producing the non-jet fuel products that 1t 15
required to deliver under these agreements exceeds the value it receives for those products, the financial benefits we expect to achieve through the ownership of the
refinery and our consolidated results of operations coutd be matenally adversely affected

Our significant investments in mrlines i other parts of the world and the commercial relationships that we have with those carriers may not produce the
returns or resulfs we expect

Anmportant part of our strategy to expand our global network has been to make significant ivestments in airlines 1n other parts of the world and expand our
commercial relationships with these carriers We expect to continue exploning similar non-centrolling mvestments 1n, and entering mto joint ventures and strategic
alliances with, other carriers as part of our global business strategy These transactions and relationships mvolve sigmificant challenges and nsks, including that we
may not realize a satisfactory return on our nvestment, that they may distract management from our operations or that they may not generate the expected revenue
synergies These events could have a matenal adverse effect on our operating results or financial condition

In addition, we are dependent on these other carriers for significant aspects of our network 1n the regrons in which they operate While we work closely with
these camers, we do not have control over their operations or business methods We may be subject to consequences from any improper behavior of joint venture
partners, ncluding for farture to comply with anti-corruption laws such as the Umited States Foreign Corrupt Practices Act To the extent that the operations of any
of these carrters are disrupted over an extended period of time or their actions subject us to the consequences of failure to comply with laws and regulations, our
resulis of operations may be adversely affected

13




Table of Contents
We are at risk of losses and adverse publicity stemmung from a serious accsdent involving our arrcraft.

An aircraft crash or other serious accident could expose us to significant habihity Although we believe that our msurance coverage 1s appropriate, we may be
forced to bear substantial losses from an accident 1n the event that the coverage was not sufficient In addition, any accident mvolving an aircraft that we operate or
an awrcraft that 15 operated by an arrline that 1s one of our regional carriers or codeshare partners could create a negative public perception about safety, which could
harm our reputation, resulting in arr travelers bemng reluctant to fly on our awrcraft and therefore harm our business

Agreements goverming our debt, inciuding credit agreements, mclude financial and other covenants Fmiure to comply with these covenants could result in
events of default

Our credit facihities have various financial and other covenants that require us to mawntain, depending on the particular agreement, minimum fixed charge
coverage ratios, mimmum haquidity and/or minimum collateral coverage ratios The value of the collateral that has been pledged 1n each facility may change over
time due to appraisals of collateral required by our credit agreements and indentures These changes could result from factors that are not under our control A
decline 1n the value of collateral could result in a situation where 1t may be difficult to mamtain the collateral coverage ratio In addition, the credit facilives contam
other negative covenants customary for such financings These covenanis are subject to important exceptions and qualifications If we fail to comply with these
covenants and are unable to remedy or obtain a waiver or amendment, an event of default would result

The credit facilities also contain other events of default customary for such financings 1 an event of default were to occur, the lenders could, among other
things, declare outstanding amounts due and payable In addition, an event of default or declaration of acceleration under any of the credit facilities could also
result i an event of default under other of our financing agreements The acceleration of sigmficant amounts of debt could require us to renegouiate, repay or
refinance the obhgations under the credit facilities or other financing arrangements

Employee strikes and other labor-related disruptions may adversely affect our operations

Our business 15 labor intensive, utilizing large numbers of pilots, flight attendants, awrcraft mamntenance techmerans, ground support persennel and other
personnel As of December 31, 2015 , approximately 18% of our workforce, primarily pilots, was uniomzed Relations between air carriers and labor unions in the
United States are govemned by the Railway Labor Act, which provides that a collective bargamning agreement between an arrline and a labor umon does not exptre,
but mstead becomes amendable as of a stated date The Railway Labor Act generally prohubuts strikes or other types of self help actions both before and after a
collective bargaiming agreement becomes amendable, unless and unti] the collecuve bargaining processes required by the Ralway Labor Act have been exhausted
Maonroe's relations with unions representing 1ts employees are governed by the NLRA, which generally allows self help after a collective bargatning agreement
expires

If we or our subsidianies are unable to reach agreement with any of our umomized work groups on future negotiations regarding the terms of their collective
bargaining agreements or 1f additional segments of our workforce become unionized, we may be subject to work interrptions or stoppages, subject to the
requirements of the Railway Labor Act or the NLRA, as the case may be Strikes or labor disputes with cur unionized employees may adversely affect our ability
to conduct busimess Likewise, if third-party regional carriers with whom we have contract carrier agreements are unable to reach agreement with their unionized
work groups n current or future negotiatons regarding the terms of their collective bargaining agreements, those carniers may be subject to work interruptions or
stoppages, subject to the requirements of the Rallway Labor Act, which could have a negative impact on our operations

Extended interruptions or disruptions i service at one of our hub, gateway or key aurports could have a material adverse impact on our operations

Our business 1s heavily dependent on our operations at the Atlanta arrport and at our other hub, gateway or key airports in Amsterdam, Boston, Detroit, London-
Heathrow, Los Angeles, Minneapolis-St Paul, New York-LaGuardia, New York-JFK, Pans-Charles de Gaulle, Salt Lake City, Seattle and Tokyo-Narita Each of
these operations includes fhights that gather and distnbute traffic from markets 1n the geographic region surrounding the hub or gateway to other major cities and to
other Delta hubs and gateways A sigmificant extended interruption or disruption 1n service at one of our hubs or gateways could have a matenal impact on our
business, financial condition and results of operations

14




Table of Contents

Breaches or lapses in the securiy of our technology systems and the data we store could compronuse passenger or employee information and expose us (o
hability, possibly having a matertal adverse effect on our business

As aregular part of our ordimary busmess operations, we collect and store sensiive data including personal information of our passengers and employees and
nformation of our business partners The secure operation of the networks and systems on which this tvpe of information 15 stored processed and maintained 15
critical to our business operations and strategy

Our mformation systems are subject to an increasing threat of continually evolving cvbersecunity nisks Unauthorized parties may attempt to gatn access to our
systems or informauion through {raud or other means of deceptton Hardware or software we develop or acquire may contain defects that could unexpectedly
compromise mformation secunity The methods used to obtamn unauthonized access, disable or degrade service or sabotage systems are constantly evolving, and
may be difficult to antrcipate or 10 detect for long periods of ime We regularly review and update procedures and processes to prevent and protect against
unauthorized access to our systems and information and inadvertent misuse of data However, the constantiy changing nature of the threats means that we may not
be able to prevent all data secunty breaches or misuse of data The compromise of our technology systems resulting in the loss, disclosure, misappropnation of, or
access 1o, customers', employees’ or business partners’ information could result in legal claims or proceedings, hability or regulatory penalties under laws protecting
the privacy of personal mmformation, disruption to our operations and damage to our reputation, any or ali of which could adversely affect our business

Desruptions of our information technology infrastructure could interfere with our operations, passibly having a moterial adverse effect on our business

Disruptions in cur information technology network could result from a technology ermor or faiture impacting our internal systems whether hosted mtemally at
our data centers or externally at third-party locations, or large scale external interruption i technology mirastructure support on which we depend such as power,
telecommumications or the mtemnet The operation of our technology systems and the use of related data may also be vulnerable to a variety of other sources of
interruption including natural disasters terronist attacks computer viruses hackers and other secunty 1ssues A significant individual sustamed or repeated failure
of our network including third-party netaorks we utthize and on which we depend, could impact our customer service and result in increased costs While we have
1n place, and continue to invest in, imtiatives to prevent disruptions and disaster recovery plans, these measures may not be adequate to prevent a business
disruption and 1ts adverse financial and reputational consequences to our business

Fatlure of our technology te perform reliably could have an adverse effect on our business

We have become mncreasingly dependent on technelogy initiatives to enhance customer service, reduce costs and increase operational effectiveness n order to
compete in the current business environment For example, we have made and continue to make significant investments in delta com, mobale device applications,
check-1n kiosks and related imbiatives, mcluding secunty for these imuatives The performance, rehability and security of the technology are critical to our ability
to attract and retan customers and our ability to compete effectively If our technology does not perform reliably, our business and operations could be negatively
affected

Our resulis can fluctuate due to the effects of weather, natural disasters and seasonality

Our results of operations are impacted by severe weather, natural disasters and seasonality Severe weather conchtions and natural disasters can significantly
disrupt service and create air traffic control problems These events decrease revenue and can also increase costs In addition mcreases m the frequency, seventy or
duration of thunderstorms, hurmcanes, typhoons or other severe weather events, including from changes m the global chimate, could result 1n increases n delays
and cancellations, turbulence-related injuries and fuel consumption to avoid such weather, any of which could result 1n loss of revenue and higher costs [n
addition, demand for air travel 1s typically higher m the June and September guarters, particularly in international markets, because there 1s more vacation travel
durning these periods than during the remainder of the year The seasonal shifiing ot demand causes our financial results to vary on a seasonal basis Because of
fluctuations n our results from weather, natural disasters and seasonality, operating results for a historical penod are not necessanly mdicatnve of operating results
for a future pertod and operating resulis for an tntenim penod are not necessanly mdicative of operating results for an entire year
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An extended disruption in services provided by our thurd-party regional carriers could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations

We utilize the services of third parties m a number of areas in support of our operations that are mtegral to our business, including third-party carriers n the
Delta Connection program While we have agreements with these providers that define expected service performance, we do not have direct control over their
operations In particular, some third-party regienal carriers are facing a shoniage of qualified pilots due to government mandated increases in flight experience
required for piots working for arhines 1f this shortage becomes more widespread, third-party regional carmers may not be able to comply with their obligations to
us To the extent that 4 sigmificant disruption m our regional operations occurs because any of these provtders are unable to perform their obligations over an
extended period of time, our revenue may be reduced or our expenses may be increased resulting 1n a matenial adverse effect on our results of operations

The failure or inabillty of insurance to cover a significant liability related 1o an environmental or other incident associated with the operation of the Monroe
refinery could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial resulfs

Monroe's refining operations are subject to various hazards umque to refinery operations, including explosions, fires, toxic emussions and natural catastrophes
Monroe could mcur substantial losses meluding cleanup costs, fines and other sanctions and third-party clmims, and 1ts operations could be mterrupted, as a result
of such an incident Monroe's insurance coverage does not cover all potential losses costs or liabiliies and Monroe could suffer losses for uninsurable or uninsured
risks or 1n amounts greater than 1ts msurance coverage In addition, Monroc's ability to obtam and mamntain adequate insirance may be affected by conditions in the
insurance market over which 1t has no control I1f Monrog were to incur a significant liability for which 1t 1s not fully insured or for which msurance compantes do
not or are unable to provide coverage, this could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial results of operations or consohidated financal
position

The operation of the refinery by Monroe is subject to significant environmental regulation Failure to comply with environmental regulations or the enactment
of addittonal regulanon could have a negative impact on our consolidated financial results

Meonroe's operations are subject Lo extensive environmental health and safety laws and regulations, mcluding those relating to the discharge of matenals into
the environment, waste management, pollution prevention measures and greenhouse gas emissions Monroe could incur fines and other sanctions, cleanup cosis
and third-party claims as a result of violations of or liabihittes under environmental, health and safety requirements, which 1f significant, could have a matenal
adverse effect on our financial results In addition the enactment of new environmental laws and regulations inctuding any laws or regulations refating o
greenhouse gas emssions, could significantly increase the level of expenditures required for Monroe or restrict its operations

In particular, under the Energy Independence and Security Act of 2007, the EPA has adopted RFS that mandate the blending of renewable fuels into
Transportauon Fuels RINs are assigned to renewable fuels produced or imported mto the U S that are blended inte Transportation Fuels to demonstrate
compliance with this obligation A refinery may meet 1ts obligation under RFS by blending the necessary volumes of renewable ficls with Transpertation Fuels or
by purchasing RINs m the open market or through a combination of blending and purchasing RiNs

Because the refinery operated by Monroe does not blend renewable fuels, it must purchase 1ts entire RINs requirement in the secondary market or obtain a
watver from the EPA As a result, Monroe 1s exposed to the market price of RINs Market prices for RINs have been volatile, marked by periods of sharp increases
We cannot prechct the future prices of RINs Purchasing RINs at elevated prices could have a matertal impact on our resuits of operations and cash flows

Existing laws or regulations could change and the mimmum volumes of renewable fuels that must be blended with refined petroleum products may increase
Increases in the volume of renewable fuels that must be blended wnto Monroe's products could limut the refinen's preduction 1f sufficient numbers of RINs are not
available for purchase or rehef from this requrement 1s not obtained which could have an adverse effect on our consolidated financial results

¥ we lose senior management personnel and other key emplovees and they are not replaced by individuals with comparable skills, our aperating results could
be adversely affected.

We are dependent on the experience and industry knowledge of our officers and other key emplovees to design and execute our business plans [f we experience

a substantial turnover 1n our leadership and other key employees and these persons are not replaced by individuals with comparable skills, our performance could
be matenally adversely impacted Furthermore we may be unable to attract and retamn additional quahfied executives as needed 1n the future
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Risk Factors Relating to the Awrhine Industry

The global airline industry ts highly competitive and, if we cannot successfully compete in the markeiplace, our business, financtal condition and operating
resuits will be materially adversely affected

The airline industry 1s lughly competitive, marked by sigmificant compeution with respect to routes, fares, schedules (both timing and frequency), services,
products customer service and frequent flyer programs Consolidation 1n the airline industry the rise of well-funded government sponsored international camers,
changes n international alliances and the creation of immunized joint ventures have altered and will continue to alter the competilive landscape in the mdustry by
resulting in the formation of arrlines and alliances with increased financial resources, more extensive global networks and competitive cost structures

Our domestic operations are subject to competition from traditional network carrrers, including Amernican Airhines and Umited Airlines national point-to-point
cammers, mncluding Alaska Awulines, JetBlue Airways and Southwest Awrlines, and discount carmiers, some of which may have lower costs than we do and provide
service at low fares to destinations served by us Point-to-point, discount and ultra low-cost carmers incleding Spurtt Aurlines and Allegiant Air place sigmificant
compelittve pressure on network carriers in the domestic market As a result, we face significant competition at our domestic hub and gateway airports either
directly at those airports or at the hubs of other arlines that are located tn close proxmmity to our hubs and gateways We also face competiion n smaller to
medium-sized markets from regional jet operations of other cammers Qur abihity to compete in the domestic market effectively depends, i part, on our ability to
mamtain a compenive cost structure If we cannot mamtain our costs at a competitive level, then our business financal condition and operating results could be
matenally adversely affected

Our mnternational operations are subject to compettion from both foretgn and domestic carners Competition 1s increasing from government-owned and -finded
carmers 1n the Gulf regron, ncluding Emurates, Etihad Airways and Qatar Amrways These carmiers have large numbers of international widebody aircraft on order
and are increasing service to the Umited States from their hubs m the Middle East Several of these carriers, aloag with carriers from China, India and Southeast
Asia, are government-subsidized, which has allowed them te grow quickly reinvest in thewr product and expand thewr global presence at the expense of U S
airlines

Through alliance and other marheting and codeshaning agreements with foreign carmiers, U S carmiers have increased their allity to selt international
transportation, such as services to and beyond tradiional European and Asian gateway cities Simularly, foreign carners have obtained increased access to iterior
U S passenger traffic beyond traditional U S gateway cities through these relationships

In addition, several jomnt ventures among U S and foreign carners have recerved grants of anutrust immunity allowing the part:icipating carriers o coordinate
schedules, pricing sales and mventory

Increased compention in both the domestic and international markets may have a matersal adverse effect on our business, financial condiuon and operating
results

The airltne imdustry ts subject to extensive government regulation, and new regulations may increase our gperating costs

Airlines are subject to extensive regulatory and legal comphance requirements that result in significant costs For instance, the FAA from time to time 15sues
directives and other regulations relating to the mamntenance and operation of arrcraft that necessitate significant expenditures We expect to continue incurmng
expenses to comply with the FAA's regulations

Cther laws, regulations, taxes and mirport rates and charges have also been timposed from tume to tume that significantly increase the cost of arline operations or
reduce revenues The idustry 1s heavily taxed For example, the Aviation and Transportation Security Act mandates the federalization of certain arrport secunty
procedures and imposes security requirements on airports and airlings, most of which are funded by a per ticket tax on passengers and a tax on arlines Addiional
taxes and fees, 1f implemented, could negatively impact our results of operations
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Proposals to address congesiion 1ssues at certam airpofts ot m certain arspace, particularty in the Northeast U S have included concepts such as “congestion-
based” landing fees, “slot auctions” or other alternatives that could impose a significant cost on the airlines operating 1n those airports or awspace and impact the
ability of those airlines to respond to competitive actions by other arrhines In addition, the farlure of the federal government to upgrade the U 5 arr traffic control
system has resulted m delays and disruptions of aur traffic duning peak travel penods in certamn congested markets The failure to tmprove the air traffic control
system could lead to mereased delays and mefficiencies i flight operations as demand for U S arr trave! increases, having a matenal adverse effect on our
operations Faslure to update the air traffic control system n a timely manner, and the substanuial funding requirements of an updated system that may be imposed
on air carmers, may have an adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations

Future regulatory achon concerning ¢limate change, aircraft emissions and noise emissions could have a sigmficant effect on the arhne mdustry For example,
the European Commussion adopted an emissions trading scheme applicable to all flights operating i the European Union, including flights to and from the U §
While enforcement of the scheme has been deferred until April 2017, we expect that this system would impose additional costs on our operatiens in the European
Unien of fully implemented Other laws or regutations such as this emissions trading scheme or other U 8 or foreign governmental actions may adversely affect
our operations and financial results, either through direct costs 1 our operattons or through increases m costs for jet fuel that could result from jet fuel supphers
passing on increased costs that they meur under such a system

We and other U S carners are subject to domestic and foreign laws regarding privacy of passenger and employee data that are not consistent 1n all countries m
which we operate In addition to the heightened level of concern regarding privacy of passenger data m the U S, certamn European government agencies are
reviewmng arrling privacy practices Compliance with these regulatory regimes 15 expected to result 1n additional operating costs and could impact our operahions
and any future expansion

Prolonged pertods of stagnant or weak economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operanng results

As a result of the discretionary nature of air travel, the airline industry has been cycheal and parucularly sensitive to changes m economic conditions Because
we operate globally, with almost 35% of our revenues from operations outside of the U S , our business 1s subject to economic condittons throughout the world
Duning pertods of unfavorable or volatle economuic conditions 1n the global economy, demand for air travel can be significantly impacted as business and leisure
travelers choose not to travel, seek alternative forms of transportation for short trips or conduct business through videoconferencing [f unfavorable economic
conditions occur particularly for an extended period, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected In addtton, significant
or volatile changes in exchange rates between the U S dollar and other currencies, and the impositton of exchange controls or other currency restricions, may have
a material adverse effect on our hquidity, financial conditions and results of operations

The rapid spread of contagrous Wlinesses can have a material adverse effect on onr business and results of operations

The rapid spread of a contagious 1llness, or fear of such an event, can have a matenal adverse effect on the demand for worldwide air travel and therefore have a
material adverse effect on our business and results of operations Moreover, our operatons could be negatively affected :f employees are quaranuned as the result
of exposure to a contagious illness Simalarly, travel restrictions or operational 15sues resulting from the rapid spread of contagious illnesses 1n a part of the world 1n
which we operate may have a matenally adverse impact on our business and results of operations

ITEM 1B UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Nene
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ITEM 2 PROPERTIES
Fhght Equipment

Our operating aircraft fleet, commitments and options at December 31 2015 are summarnized o the following table

Current Fleet Commitments
Aurcraft Type Owned Capital Lease  Operating Lease Total Average Age Purchase @ Lease
B-717-200 — 13 74 87 143 — i
B-737-700 10 — — 10 69 — -_
B-737-800 73 —_ —_ 73 149 - _
B-737-900ER 31 — 19 50 13 70 —_
B-747-400 4 5 _— 9 237 — —
B-757-200 81 18 11 110 200 —_— —_
B-757-300 16 — —_ 16 128 —_ —
B-767-300 13 —_ 1 14 247 — —_
B-767-300ER 54 4 —_— 58 128 —_ —
B-767-400ER 21 — — 2] 14 8 — _
B-777-200ER 8 — —_ 8 159 — _
B-777-200LR 10 — —_ 10 67 — —_
B-787-8 — — —_ —_ —_ 18 e
A319-100 55 — 2 57 139 — —
A320-200 58 — 11 69 208 — —
A321-200 —_ — — — - 45 —
A330-200 11 — — 11 108 — —
A330-300 25 —_— —_ 25 88 6 —
A330-900neo — — — — — 25 ——
A350-900 — — —_ — — 25 —
E150-100 — — —_ — — 19 —
MD-88 83 33 _ 116 254 —_ —_
MD-90 59 & —_ 65 189 — —_
Total 612 79 118 809 171 208 1
@ Excludes certaun aircraft we own or lease which are operated by regional carmners on our behalf shown 1n the table below
@ Qur purchase commtment for the 18 B-787-8 aircraft provides for certain aiweraft substitution nghts, including for our current orders of B-737-900ER wircraft
The followng table summanzes the aircraft fleet operated by our regional camners on our behalf at December 31, 2015
Fleet Ty pe
Carner CRJ-100 CRJ-T00 CRJ-300 Embraer 145 Embraer 170 Embruer 175 Total
Endeavor Aur, Inc ) 36 —_ 81 — — — 117
Expressjet Airhnes, Inc 4] 41 28 — — — 110
SkyWest Arrlines, Inc 58 19 36 — — — 113
Compass Aurlines, LLC — — — — 6 36 42
Shuttle Amenca — — — 4] 14 16 7
Golet Arrhnes, LLC — 22 7 — — - 29
Total 135 82 152 41 20 52 482

M Endeavor Ate, Inc 15 a whally-owned subsidiary of Delta
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Alircraft Purchase Commutments

Our purchase commatments for additional arcraft at December 31, 2015 are detailed in the following table

Dehivery in Calendar Years Ending

Awrcraft Purchase Commitments 1016 2017 2018 After 2018 Total
B-737-900ER 19 20 18 13 10
B-787-8 - —_ _— 18 18
A321-200 I5 15 15 —_ 45
A330-300 4 2 —_ —_ 6
A330-900neo — _ —_ 25 25
A350-900 _ 6 9 10 25
E190-i100 19 — —_— — 19
Total 57 43 42 66 208

Ground Facilittes
Airline Operations

We lease most of the land and buildings that we occupy Our largest aircraft maintenance base, various computer, cargo, fhght kitchen and traimng facilities and
most of our pnncipal offices are located at or near the Atlanta airport, on land leased from the City of Atlanta We own our Atlanta reservations center, other real
property mn Atlanta, real property located near the Minneapolis-St Paul International Aurport and reservations centers in Minot, North Dakota and Chishelm
Mmnesota We alse own a 1 3-acre property in downtown Tokyo and a 33-acre land parcel comiaining a $12-room hotel and other buildings located near Tokyo's
Narnta International Awrport

We lease ticket counter and other terminal space, operating areas and air cargo facilities 1n most of the airports that we serve At most awrports, we have entered
o use agreements which provide for the non-exclusive use of runways, taxiways and other tmprovements and facilities, landing fees under these agreements
nermally are based on the number of landings and weight of arrcrafl These leases and use agreements generally run for penods of less than one year to 30 years or
more and often contain provisions for periodic adjustments of lease rates, landing fees and other charges applicable under that type of agreement We also lease
awrcraft maintenance and air cargo facilities at several awrports Qur facility leases generally requure us to pay the cost of providing, operating and maintaming such
factlities, including, 1n some cases, amounts necessary to pay debt service on special facility bonds 1ssued to finance their construction We also tease marketing,
ucketing and reservations offices 1n certain locations for varying terms

Refinery Operations
Our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Monroe and MIPC, own and operate the Trainer refinery and related assets 1n Pennsylvania The facihity includes pipelines and

terminal assets that allow the refinery to supply jet fuel to our airhne operations throughout the Northeastern U S |, including our New York hubs at LaGuardia and
JFK

20




Table of Coptents
ITEM 3 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
First Bag Fee Antitrust Ligation

In 2009, a number of purporied class action antitrust lawsuits were filed aganst Delta and AuTran Airway s (“ArTran”), alleging that Delta and AirTran
engaged in collusive behavior in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman Act in November 2008 based upon certamn public statements made m October 2008 by
AxTran's CEO at an analyst conference concerning fees for the first cheched bag, Delta's imposiiion of a fee for the first cheched bag on November 4 2008 and
AurTran's imposition of a ssmlar fee on November 12, 2008 The plamtffs sought to assert claims on behalf of an alleged class consisting of passengers who paid
the first bag fee after December 3, 2008 and seek injunctive relief and unspecified treble damages All of these cases have been consolidated lor pre-tral
proceedings and remam pending 1n the Northern District of Georgia A motion for class certificaiion has been filed, but no class has been certified to date Delta
believes the claims wn these cases are without ment and 1s vigorously defending these lawsuits The defendants’ motions for summary judgment are also pending

Capaaty Antitrust Litigation

In July 2015, a number of purported class action antitrust lawsuits were filed allegmmg that Delta, American, United and Southwest had conspired to restrain
capacity The lawsuits were filed n the wake of media reports that the U § Department of Justice had served civil investigative demands upon these carners
seeking documents and information relating to this subject The lawsuits have been consolidated into a single Multi-Dastrict Litigation proceedmg in the U S
Dustrict Court for the District of Columbia Delta beheves the claims in these cases are without ment and 15 vigorously defending these lawsuits

e
For a discussion of certain environmental matiers, see “Business-Regulatory Matters-Environmental Matters” in Item 1
ITEM 4 MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
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ITEM 5 MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Market Information
Our common stock 1s histed on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") The following table sets forth for the penods indicated the highest and lowest sales

price for our common stock as reported on the NYSE and dividends declared dunng these perods

k
Common Stoc Cash Drvidends Declared

High Low {per share)

Fiscal 2015

Fourth Quarter $ 5277 § 4338 $ 0135
Thurd Quarter ) 48 30 § 3461 $ 0135
Second Quarter $ 47 98 $ 3897 $ 009
First Quarter $ 5106 $ 42 60 b 009
Fiscal 2014

Fourth Quarter 5 5016 $ 3012 b 009
Third Quarter S 40 97 $ 3459 s 009
Second Quarter $ 42 66 § 3054 $ 006
First Quarter 5 3585 $ 272 3 006
Holders

As of January 31, 2016, there were approximately 2,940 holders of record of our common stock
Dividends

In the September 2013 quarter our Board of Directors tmitiated a quarterly dividend program of $0 06 per share in the September 2014 quarter the Board
increased the quarterly dividend payment to $0 09 per share In the September 2015 quarter, the Board increased the quarterly dividend payment to $0 1335 per
share Qur ability to pay future dividends 1s subject to compliance with covenants in several of our credut facihities In addition, any future determination to pay
cash dividends will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors, subject to applicable hmutations under Delaware law and will be dependent upon our results of
operations, financial condition, cash requirements, futitre prospects and other factors deemed relevant by the Board of Directors
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Stock Performance Graph
The following graph compares the cumulative total returns during the period from December 31 2010 to December 31, 2015 of our common stock to the

Standard & Poer's 500 Stock Index and the NYSE ARCA Aurline Index The companson assumes $100 was invested on December 31, 2010 1 each of our
commeon stock and the indices and assumes that all dividends were reinvested

Cumulative Total Returns
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Secarities

The fellowing table presents information with respect to purchases of common stock we made durmg the December 2015 quarter The total number of shares
purchased includes shares repurchased pursuant to our $5 billion share repurchase program which was publicly announced on May 13, 2015 ("the 2015
Repurchase Program") The 2015 Repurchase Program will terminate no later than December 31, 2017 Some purchases were made pursuant to a trading plan
meeting the requurements of Rule 10b5-1 under the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934

In addition, the table mcludes shares withheld fiom employees to satisfy certain tax obligations due in connection with grants of stock under the Delta Arr
Lines, Inc 2007 Performance Compensation Plan (the "2007 Plan") The 2007 Plan provides for the withholding of shares to satisfy tax obligations It does not
specify a maximum number of shares that can be withheld for this purpose The shares of common stock withheld to satisfy tax withholding obligations may be
deemed to be 1ssuer purchases™ of shares that are required to be disclosed pursuant to this ltem

Total Number of Shares
Total Number of Purchased as Part of Approximate Dollar Value (in millions)
Shares Average Price Pubhicly Announced  of Shares That May Yet Be Purchased

Pened Purchased Paid Per Share  Plans or Programs Under the Plan or Programs
October 2015 3,394359 § 48 35 3,394,359 $ 4211
November 2015 4 668,397 § 4% 63 4,668,397 h 3,979
December 2015 641,682 $ 46 96 641,682 5 3950
Total 8,704,438 8,704 438
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ITEM 6 SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following tables are denved from our audited Consolidated Financial Statements, and present selected financial and operatmg data for the vears ended

December 31, 2015, 2014 2013, 2012 and 2011

Consohdated Summary of Operations

Y ear Ended December 31,

(1n milligns, except share data) 2015 1014 2013 2012 2011
Operating revenue 40,704 § 40,362 $§ 37773 § 36,670 $§ 35115
Operating expense 32,902 38,156 34,373 34,495 33,140
Operaung wncome 7,802 2206 3,400 2,175 1,975
Non-operating expense, net (645) (1,134} {873) (1,150) (1,206)
Income before income taxes 7,157 1,072 2,527 1,025 769
Income tax {provision) benefit (2,631) (413) 8,013 (16) 83
Net income 4,526 $ 659 § 10540 % 1,009 $ 854
Basic earnings per share 568 § 079 $ 1241 § 120 § 102
Diluted earnings per share 563 § 078 % 1229 § 119 % I 01
‘Cash dividends declared per share 045 8 030 % 012 % — ¥ —_
Special Items

Y ear Ended December 31,
{in milhons) 201% 2014 2013 2012 2011
MTM adjustments and scttlements 1301 § (2,346) § 276 % 27 8 (26)
Restructuning and other {35) {716) (424) (452) (242)
Loss on extinguishment of debt —_ (268 — (118) (68)
Virgin Atlantic MTM adjustments 26 (134) — — —
Release of tax valuation allowance and intraperiod icome tax allocation — — 7,989 — —
Total income (loss) 1,292 § (3464)5 7841 § (543) § (336)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

December 31,

(10 milhens) 2015 2014 2013 1012 2011
Total assets 53134 § 54005 § 52,104 § 43933 § 42879
Long-term debt and capital leases (including current matunties) 8329 § 9661 § 11,194 $ 12555 § 13,632
Stockholders' equity (deficit) 10850 § 8813 § 11,643 § (2,131)§ (1,396)
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Other Financial and Statistical Data (Unaudited)

Y ear Ended December 31,

Consolidated 2015 2014 1013 2012 2011
Revenue passenger miles (i millions) 209,625 202 925 194 988 192 974 192 767
Available seat miles (in millions) 246,764 239 676 232,740 230 415 234 656
Passenger mule yield 16 59¢ 17 22¢ 16 89¢ 16 46¢ 15 70¢
Passenger revenue per available seat mile 14 10¢ 14 58¢ 14 15¢ 13 78¢ 12 89¢
Operating cost per available seat mile 13 33¢ 15 92¢ 14 77¢ 14 97¢ i412¢
Passenger load factor 84 9% 84 7% 83 3% 83 8% 82 1%
Fuel galtons consumed (in millions) 3,988 3,803 3,828 3.769 3,856
Average price per fuel gallon @ 5 190 § 347 § 300 8 325 % 106
Full-tune equivalent employees end of penod 82,949 79 655 77171755 73,561 78.392

O

Includes the operations of our regienal carmers under capacity purchase agreements Full-time equasalent employees exclude employees of regional carniers that we do not own
o

Includes the impact of fuel hedge actvity and refinery segment results
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ITEM 7 MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Financial Highlights - 2015 Compared to 2014

Our pre-tax mcome for 2015 was $7 2 billion |, representing a $6 1 hilhion imncrease compared to the prior year predomuinantly as a result of lower fuel prices and
strong non-fuel cost conirols Pre-tax income, adjusted for special items (a non-GAAP financial measure) increased $1 3 billion, or 29 3%, to 35 9 billion  Special
1items tn 2015 were primanly related to fuel hedge MTM adjustments and setttements which totaled $1 3 billion

Revenue Qur operating revenue creased $342 millien compared to the prior year pnimarily resulting from our Branded Fares intiative and our agreement with
American Express Passenger revenue per available seat mile ("PRASM") decreased 3 3% on 3 6% higher capacity The decrease in PRASM was largely driven by
competitive pressure in the current low fuel pnice environment and the impact of U S doliar strength on tickets sold m international markets, which are
predomtnantly priced in local currency

Operating Expense Total operating expense decreased $5 3 billion from 2014 driven by lower fuel prices, partially offset by fuel hedge losses, higher satanes
and related costs and profit sharing Duning 2015, Brent crude oxl averaged $52 per barrel and closed the year below $40 per barrel, which 1s significantly lower
than the average of $99 per barrel duning 2014 Salanes and related costs were higher as a result of mcreases 1 pilot and flight attendant block hours due to higher
capacity and pay rate increases implemented in 2015

Our consolidated operating cost per available seat mile ("CASM") for 2015 decreased 16 3% 1o 13 33 cent s from 1592 cent s1n 2014, on a 3 0% increase 1
capacity pnmanly due to tower fuel prnices Non-fuel unit costs ("CASM-Ex," a non-GAAP financial measure) were flat in 2015 compared (0 2014 at @ 17 cent s
due to strong non-fue! cost controls and the strength of the U S dollar Gur 2015 umt cost performance was m-line with our goal of imiting non-fuel unnt cost
growth to below 2% annually

The non-GAAP financial measures for pre-tax income, adjusted for special ttems and CASM-Ex used i this sectton and return on invested capital ("ROIC")
and adjusted net debt used in the section below, are defined and reconciled in "Supplemental Information” below

Company Initiatives

Runmng a reliable, customer-focused awrline has produced a higher ROIC (2 non-GAAP financial measure), which increased from 20 7% 1n 2014 to 28 3% 1
2015 [his improved financial performance has allowed us to improve our balance sheet by reducing adjusted net debt (a non-GAAP financial measure) to 36 7
billion increase funding of our defined benefit pensien plans and increase the amount of capital returned to our shareholders We are focused on delivering
additronal value for shareholders in the future through revenue growth, cost preductvity and prudent deployment of cash flows

Driving Revenue Growih
Operational Reliability

A hey dniver of our revenue growth 1s higher customer satisfaction resulting from strong operational reliabihity We have sigmificantly invested m our business
smee 2010 to improve our operational performance, which consistently ranks first among the major U S carniers During 2015 we operated 161 days with zero
marnline canceled flights, a 69% improvement over our 2014 performance In addition, our reported completion factor of 99 6% and on-time arnval rate of 85 9%
places us at the top among the major global U § carriers Thus operational excellence resulted 1 a four point increase 1n our domestic net promoter s¢ore compared
t0 2014 Accordingly, our corporate ticket volume increased 4% n 2015, reflecting our reliable service and high-quality product
Global Strategy

We are expanding our global network Under this strategy, we are strengtheming our presence in major and developing markets around the world im an effort to

increase and diversify our network wnto high revenue and high growth markets The growth of our global presence will enable customers to seamlessly connect to
more places while enjoying a consistent high-quahity travel expertence We are deploying this strategy through nvestments m Europe Asia and Latin America
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Europe Alongside our 49% equity tnvestment 1n Virgin Atlantic we implemented an antitrust immumized joimt venture with the U K -based carmer Thus joint
venture has significantly improved our presence in London, one of the largest revenue markets from the U § , while also enhancing our transatlantic network
mcluding our existing joint venture relationship with Air France-KLM and Altaha We have also moved semor decision-making functions to Amsterdam for closer
coordination with our joint venture arlines We anticipate the co-location of these management funcunons wall opumize the benefits of our joint ventures

Asia As pant of the strategy Lo improve our Pacific operations, we are mcreasing our presence in China, the largest transpacific market from the US To this
end, during 2015 we acquired shares of China Eastern for $450 million which provides us with a 3 5% stake in the airline In conjunction with this transaction we
and China Eastern entered into a new commercial agreement to expand our relationship and better connect the networks of the two arlines China Eastern is one of
the largest airhines in China with a route network covering more than 200 destinations i over 25 countries [n addition, we are restructuring our Pacific fleet by
removing less efficient B-747-400 aiwrcraft and replacing them with smaller-gauge, widebody aircraft to better match capacity with demand in an effort to improve
our margins

Latin America We are focused on maximizing the value of our relationships while deriving value from the recent investments tn our network, preduct and
service Qur capacity growth has been focused on higher performing markets such as Mexico and the Canbbean while we have reduced capacity 1in markets
challenged by weakening currencies and slowing economies such as Brazil

Duning the December 2015 quarter, we announced a plan to acquire additional caputal stock of Grupo Acromextco through a cash tender offer Following the
completion of the tender offer, when combined with our existing share ownership, we expect to own up to 49% of Grupo Aeromexico's outstanding shares We
have submutted an application for an antitrust immumized joint venture with Aeromexico which we expect will be approved in 2016 and 1s itended to allow us to
benefit from an improved level of coordination

Also, dunng 2015 we acquired additional preferred shares of GOL's parent company for $50 million increasing our ownership ta 9 5% of 1ts outstanding
caprtal stock, as part of our long-term strategy to strengthen the opportunity we see mn Brazil In comjunction with our investment we and GOL agreed to extend our
existing commercial agreements

Cost Productivity

We continue to focus on mamntaining the rate of non-fuel unit cost growth at less than 2% annually An important component ot this eftort relates to maximzing
the benefits of scale throughout the network Domestic fleet upgauging allows us to increase capacity on fewer departures, thereby improving our unit cost
performance In additton, we are leveraging our experuise in supply chain and awrcraft mamtenance to improve our productivity Finally, we are investing in
technology projects to improve the customer expetience 1n a cost-efficient manner

The Delta pilots collective bargaining agreement became amendable as of December 31, 2015 We are in discusstons with representatives of the Delta pilots to
amend the collective bargaining agreement Our employees, including pilots are an important part of Delta’s success and the underpinning ot the quahty and
operational rehability that has become part of Delta’s brand We expect to continue to pay our employees industry leading total compensation that will enable
Delta’s continued success

Prudent Deployment of Cash Flows

As part of our long-term plan, we target $7-8 illion in annual operating cash flow and $4-5 billion in annual free cash flow We use approximately 50% of our
operating cash flow to reinvest in the business for long-term growth opportumities The remaining free cash flow 1s used to further strengthen the balance sheet by
reducing debt levels, make mcremental pension contnibutions and return capatal 1o shareholders through dividends and share repurchases
Strengthened Balance Sheet

A key tenet of our strategy 15 to operate the company with investment grade financial metnics Since beginming our balance sheet improvement strategy in 2009,
we have reduced our adjusted net debt by over $10 bllion, which has significantly reduced our annual iterest expense ln addinon, we have a significant net

underfunded pension liability We have been making penston contributions above the minmmum amount required, with a goal of achieving 80% funded status for
the pension plan by 2020 B ecause of statutery pension funding rehief that apphes to us, we have untit 2031 to fully fund our penston plans
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Increased Capital Returns 1o Owners

While we have been reducing our debt levels and investing 1 the business, we have been 1acreasing our capitat retums to shareholders, returming a total of 2 6
billion tn 2015 through dividends and share repurchases Since first implementing our quarterly dividend i 2013, we have increased the dividend per share by 50%

annually, and paid $712 milhion 1n tetal dividends, ncluding $35% mulhion i 2015 Through dividends and share repurchases we have retumed over $4 billion to
shareholders since 2013, while reducing outstanding shares by approximately 9% compared 1o the beginming of 2013
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Results of Operations - 2015 Compared to 2014

Operating Revenue

Y ear Ended December 31,

lncrease % Increase

(m milhons} 2015 2014 (Decrezse) {Decrease)}
Passenger

Mainhne $ 28,898 § 28688 5 210 07%

Regional camers 5,884 6,266 (382) (6 1)%
Total passenger revenue 34,782 34954 (172) (0 5%
Cargo 813 934 (121) {13 )%
Other 5109 4474 635 142%
Total operating revenue $ 40,704 § 40,362 3§ 342 08%
Passenger Revenue

Increase {Decrease)
vs. Year Ended December 31, 2014
Year Ended Passenger RPMs ASMs Passenger Mle

{tn millions} December 31, 2015 Revenue (Traffic) {Capacity) Y eld PRASM Load Factor
Mamline 3 17,933 54% 67% 61% (12)% {0 6)% 05 pts
Regional carriers 5,884 6 1)% 22)% (4 0y% 40)% 2 1Y% 15 pts

Domestic 23,817 23% 51% 41 % 26)% (1 8)% 08 pts

Atlanuic 5,548 (48)% 06% 32% (53)% {(T)% (21) pts

Pacific 3,002 (122)% 23)% (3 0)% (102)% {(76)% 23 pts

Latin America 2415 04)% 51% 57% 53)% 5 8)% (05) pts
Total $ 34,782 @ 5)%% 33% 30% (37)% {33)% 02 pts

Passenger revenue decreased $172 million over the prior year PRASM decreased 3 3% and passenger mile yield decreased 3 7% on 3 0% higher capacity
Load factor was 0 2 pomts higher than the pnior year at 84 9%

Unit revenues of the mainline domestic region decreased 0 6% , resulting from weaker yields in certain markets which were nearly offset by the strong
performance in Atlanta, New York Seattle and Los Angeles

Regional carners passenger revenue decreased 6 1% on a 4 0% reduction in capacity Durning 2015, we removed thirty 50-seat regional aircraft as part of our
strategy to restructure our domestic fleet

Revenues related to our international regions decreased 6 0% year-over-year primartly due to the impact of the strong U S dollar and reductions in international
fuel surcharges These challenges have been addressed through capacity reductions implemented in the December 2015 quarter

In the Atlantic region, unit revenue declines i Africa, the Middle East and Russia were partially offset by strength 1n core Luropean markets Unit revenue
declines in the Pacific pnmarily resulted from the strength ofthe U S dollar and lower international fuel surcharges We continue to optimize the Pacific region in
order to improve margins by reducing our winter capacity, including the cancellation of our Seattle to Tokyo-Haneda route in the June 2015 quarter and
downgauging via the continued retirement of the B-747-400 fleet duning the second half of 2015 In addition, we have made a strategic investment in and
established a long-term commercial relationstup with, China Eastern Latin America saw capacity growth of 5 7% , the majonity of which occurred duning the first
halfof 2015 In the December 2015 quarter, we continued to invest in hugher performmng markets such as Mexico and the Canbbean, whiie reducing capacity m
Brazil due to 11s challenging economic environment

Other Revenue Other revenue mcreased $635 mutlion , or 14 2% primarily due to loyalty program revenues including our agreement with Amencan Express,
sales of non-jet fuel products te third parties by our oul refinery and marntenance sales to third parties by our MRO services business
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Operating Expense

Year Ended December 31, Increase % Increase
(. emlhipas) 2015 2014 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Salaries and related costs $ 8776 § 8120 §$ 656 81%
Aurcrafi fuel and related taxes 6544 11,668 (5,124) (43 9%
Regional carriers expense 4,241 5237 (996) (19 0)%
Atrcraft mamtenance matenals and outside repairs 1,848 1,828 20 11%
Contracted services 1,848 1,749 99 57%
Depreciation and amortization 1,835 1,771 64 36%
Passenger commussions and other selling expenses 1,672 1,760 (28) (16)%
Landing fees and other rents 1493 1,442 51 35%
Profit sharing 1490 1,085 405 373%
Passenger service 872 810 62 77%
Atrcraft rent 250 233 17 73%
Restructuring and other 35 716 (681} NM {1
Other 1,998 1,797 201 il2%
Total operating expense $ 32902 % 38,156 § (5,254) (13 8)%

4 Dnye to the nature of amounts recorded wathin restructunng and other a year-over-year companison 15 not meanmgful For a discussion of charges recorded 1n restructunng and other, see
Note 15 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Salaries and Related Costs The increase in salaries and related costs 1s pnmanly due to higher prlot and flight attendant block hours and pay rate increases
implemented 1n both the first half of 2015 and December 2015 Base pay rates ncreased 14 5% for eligible mernt, ground and flight attendant employees effective
December 1, 2015

Awreraft Fuel and Related Taxes Including our regional camers, fuel expense decreased $5 9 bullion compared to the prior year due to a 43 5% decrease n the
market price per gallon of fuel, an increase in Monroe's profitabihty and reduced hedge losses, partially offset by a 2 4% increase 1n consumption The table below

presents fuel expense, mncluding our regienal carmers

Y ear Ended December 31,

Increase % Inerease
(10 midlions, except per gallon data) 2015 2014 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Airrcraft fuel and related taxes (1 $ 6544 § 11,668 § (5,124)
Aarcraft fuel and related taxes included within regional camers expense 1,035 1,844 (809)
Total fuel expense 3 7579 % 13,512 § (5,933) {43 9%

M Includes the impact of fuel hedgmg and refinery results described further i the table below
The table below shows the impact of hedging and the refinery on fuel expense and average pnice per gallon, adjusted (non-GAAP financial measures)

Average Price Per Gallon

Y car Ended December 31, Increase Year Ended December 31, Increase
¢in milhons, except per gallon data) 2015 2014 (Decrease) 2018 2014 {Decrease}
Fuel purchase cost 3 6934 § 11,350 % 4416} § 174§ 291 § (117
Arrlne segment fuel hedge losses @) T 935 2258 (1,323) 023 058 (033)
Refinery segment impact @ (290) (96) {194) (00N (0 02) {0 05)
Total fuel expense % 1570 % 13,512 § (5,933) $ 190 % 347 § {157)
MTM adjustments and settlements @ 1,301 (2.346) 31647 033 (0 60) 093
Total fuel expense, adjusted h 8880 § 11,166 § (2.286) % 223§ 287 §$ (0 64)

& Market pnce for jet fuel at airpent locations, including related taxes and transportation costs

@' Inctudes the impact of pnicing arrangements between the airline and refinery segments with respect to the refinery's mventory prece sk For addittonal information regarding the refinery
segment impact, see "Refinery Segment” below

@ MTM adjustments and settlements include the effects of the denvative transactions discussed 1 Note 4 of the Notes to the Consohdated Financial Statements For additional (nformation
and the reason for adjusting fuel expense, sce "Supplemental Information” below
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Regional Carriers Expense The reduction m regional carners expense 1s prmmarily due to lower fuel cost from a decrease in the price per pallon of fuel, lower
capacity and reduced mamtenance expenses During 2015, we removed t hirty 50-seat regional awrcraft as part of our strategy to restructure our domestic fleet

Contracied Senvices The increase in contracted services expense predomunantly related to costs associated with the 3 0% increase i capacity and addional
lemporary staffing

Depreciation and Amortization Deprecianion and amortization expense increased year-over-year pnmanly due to investments i new A330-300 B-737-900ER
and CRJ-900 aircraft and aircrafi modifications that upgraded awrcrafi intenors and enhanced our product offering

Landing Fees and Other Rents Landing fees and other rents increased principally due to increased number of departures and higher renta! rates

Profit Sharmmg The increase in profit sharing 1s dniven by an increase in full year pre-tax mcome compared to the prior year Qur broad-based employee prefit
sharing program provides that for each year in which we have an annual pre-tax profit, as defined by the terms of the program, we will pay a specified portion of
that profit to employees In determining the amount of profit sharing, the program defines profit as pre-tax profit adjusted for profit sharing and certam other ttems
For years prior to 2016, our profit sharmng program pad 10% to employees for the first $2 5 bullton of annual profit and 20% of annual profit above 52 § billion

Beginning with 2816 pre-tax profit (to be paid out 1 2017), the profit shanng formula will be adjusted to pay 10% of annual pre-tax profit (as defined by the
terms of the program) and, 1f we exceed our pnor-year results, the program will pay 20% of the year-over-year increase i pre-tax profit to ehigible employees The

profit sharing program for pilets remains unchanged and will contthue 1n 2016 under its terms

Passenger Service Passenger service expense includes the costs for onboard food and beverage, cleaning and supplies This expense increased year-over-year
prmanly due to costs associated with enhancements to our onboard product offenng and the 3 3% increase in traffic

Other Other operating expense ncreased prumanly due o costs assoctated with sales of non-jet fuel products to third parties by our o1l refinery
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Results of Operations - 2014 Compared to 2013

Operating Revenue
Year Ended December 31,

(10 millions) 2014 2013 Increase % Increase
Passenger

Mainline 3 28,688 § 26,534 % 2,154 8!%

Regional camers 6.266 6,408 (142) 220%
Total passenger revenue 34,954 32,942 2,012 61%
Cargo 934 937 (3) (0 3)%
Other 4474 389 380 149%
Total operating revenue $ 40,362 % 37,773 % 2,589 69%
Passenger Revenue

[oerease (Decrease)
vs Year Ended December 31, 2013
Year Ended December  Passenger RPMs Passenger Mile

{mm milhions) 31, 2014 Revenne {Traffic} ASMs (Capaaty) Yaeld PRASM Lonad Factor
Mamline $ 17,017 i19% 65% 41% 51% 75% 20 pts
Regional carriers 6,266 (22)% {1 5% 3 8% (0 7)% 17% 19 pts

Domestic 23,283 77% 50% 24% 26% 52% 24 ps

Atlantic 5,826 30% (0 1Y% 09% 30% 21% (08) pts

Pacific 3421 ) ‘ﬁ(d 0% (12)% 0 2)% (28)% (38)% (09) pts

Latin Amenca 2,424 148% 167 % 17 7% __(l 6)% (2 5)% (07 pts
Total consolidated $ 34,954 61% 41% 30% 20% 30% 09 pts

Passenger revenue increased $2 0 billion or 6 1%, over pnior year PRASM ncreased 3 0% and passenger mile yield increased 2 0% on 3 0% higher capacity
Load factor was 0 9 points higher than prior year at 84 7%

Our geographic regions generally performed well compared to the prior year with the domestic region leading year-over-year unit revenue improevement Umit
revenues of the domesuic region rose 5 2% led by strong performances from cur hubs in Atlanta, New York-LaGuardia and Seattle

Revenues related to our mternational regrons mereased 3 0% year-over-year prumartly due to 17 7% capacity growth in the Latin Amenica region as a result of
our ¢fforts to improve connections with GOL and Aeromexico GOL and Aeromexico contributed a significant portion of the traffic from the U S to Brazil and
mnto key Mexico markets, respectively Despite these contributions, Latin Amernica umt revenues declmed 2 5% as a result of the capacity increase, some busmess
demand weakness assoctated with the FIFA World Cup m Brazil and economic concerns tn Venezuela Atlantic unit revenue mcreased 2 1% dnven by yield
improvements While our joint venture with Virgin Atlantic reflected solid revenue growth, especially in London-Heathrow, Atlantic yelds experienced pressure
from the impact of geopolitical and hezlth concerns related to service to Affica, the Middle East and Russia Our Pacific region expenienced a 3 8% decline i unit
revenues driven by lower yield, pnmanly due to the weakening of the Japanese yen

Other Revenue Other revenue increased $580 mullion, or 14 9%, pnmanly due to an increase in sales of SkyMiles, settlements associated with our transatlantic
Joint venture agreements and sales of non-jet fuel products to third parties by our oil refinery
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Operating Expense

Y ear Ended December 31, Increase %% lncrease
(1n milhons) 2014 1013 {Decrease) {Decrease)
Salanes and related costs b 8,120 §$ 7.720 § 400 52%
Arrcraft fuel and related taxes 11 668 9397 2271 242%
Regronal carriers expense 5,237 5,669 (432) {(76)%
Arrcraft matntenance matenals and outside repairs 1,828 1,852 (24) {13)%
Contracted services 1,749 1,665 84 50%
Depreciation and amortization 1,774 1,658 113 68%
Passenger commissions and other selling expenses 1,700 1,603 97 61%
Landing fees and other rents 1,442 1,410 32 23%
Profit sharing 1 085 506 579 NM
Passenger service 810 762 48 63%
Aurcrafi rent 233 209 24 115%
Restructuring and other 716 402 314 NM
Other 1797 1,520 2717 182%
Total operating expense $ 38,156 $ 34373 8% 3,783 110%

@ Due to the nature of amounts recorded within restructuring and other a year-over-year companson 1s not meanin gful For a discussion of charges recorded in restructunng and other, see
Note 15 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Salartes and Related Costs The increase n salaries and related costs 1s pnmanly due to investments m our employees and an increase m pilot and flight
attendant block hours, partially offset by lower pension expense

Fuel Expense Compared to the prior year, consohidated fuel expense icreased $2 § bilhon due to unfavorable MTM adjustments on fuel hedges resulting from
the significant decrease in crude o1l prices during the year (from a high of $115 per barrel 1n June to a low of $57 per barrel at December 31, 2014)and a | 7%
mcrease m consumption, partially offset by a 7 8% decrease n fuel market price per gallon and increased profitabihity at Monroe The table below presents fuel
expense, gailons consumed and our average price per gallon, ncluding the impact of hedging and the refinery

Y ear Ended December 31, Increase %, [ncrease
(in milhions, except per gallon data) 2014 2013 {Decrease) {Decrease}
Aurcraft fuel and related taxes (¥ 3 11,6683 $ 9,397 § 2,271
Aurcraft foel and related taxes mcluded within regional carmers expense 1 844 2 067 (223)
Total fuel expense $ 13,512 § 11,464 § 2,048 17 9%

M Ingludes the impact of fuet hedging and refinery results described further in the table below
The table below shows the impact of hedging and the refinery on fue! expense and average price per gallon, adjusted

Average Price Per Gallon

Year Ended December 31, lacrease Year Ended December 31, Increase
{1n millions, except per gallon data) 1014 013 (Decrease) 2014 2013 {Decrease)
Fuel purchase cost b3 11350 § 11,792 § (442) $ 290t § 309 % (0 18)
Airline segment fuel hedge losses (gains) @ 2,258 {444) 2702 058 012) 070
Refinery segment impact ‘2 (96} 116 212) (0 02) 003 (0 05)
Total fuel expense $ 13512 § 11464 § 2,048 M 347 joo 8 047
MTM adjustments ©) {2.346) 276 (2,622) (0 60) 007 (067)
Total fuel expense, adjusted $ 11,166 § 11,740 $ 574) 3% 287 $ 307 % 020

 Market price for jet fuel at aurport locations, including related taxes and transportation costs

@ Includes the impact of pncing arrangemenis between the asrline and refinery segments with respect to the refinery's inventory pnce sk For additional informatron regarding the refinery
segment impact see "Refinery Sezment” below

& MTM adjustments melude the effects of the denvative transactions discussed tn Note 4 of the Notes to the Consoltdated Financial Statements For additional information and the reason for
adjusting fuel expense, see "Supplemental Informaton” below
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Regronal Carriers Expense The reduction in regional carmers expense 1s primarily due to lower fuel expense from both a decrease n the cost of fuel per gallen
and a 3 8% decrease in capacity and fewer required maintenance events During 2014 we removed thirty-five 50-seat regional arrcrafi from our fleet as part of our
strategy to restructure our domestic fleet

Awrcraft Mawntenance Materals and Qutside Repawrs Aircraft mamntenance matertals and outside repairs consists of costs associated with matntenance of
aircraft used i our operations and costs associated with maintenance sales to third parties by our MRO services business The reduction 1n arcraft maintenance
matenals and outside repairs 15 due primanly to lower engine maintenance volume and a contract settlement charge in 2013 partially offset by a higher volume of
cost of sales from our MRO business

Contracted Services Contracted services expense increascd year-over-year due pnmarily to costs associated with the 3 0% ncrease i capaci
pei ¥ Y P Y

Depreciation and Amortizaten Depreciation and amortization expense increased year-over-vear pnmanly due to our mvestment m new B-737-900ER and
CRJ-900 aircrafl, the purchase of arrcraft off-lease and arcraft modifications that upgraded arrcraft mtertors and enhanced our product offering

Passenger Comnssions and Other Selling Expenses Passenger commissions and other selling expenses increased on higher passenger revenue

Profit Sharing The increase 1n profit sharing 15 driven by an increase 1n full year pre-tax income, excluding profit shanng and certan other items, compared
the prior year

Arcraft Rent Aarcraft rent increased year-over-year due primanly to the addition of leased B-717-200 and B-737-900ER asrcraft delivered during the year
partially offset by the retirement of certain B-747-400 arrcraft

Other Other operating expense increased pnmanly due to costs associated with sales of non-jet fuel products to third parties by our ol refinery
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Non-Operating Resulis

Year Ended December 31, Favorable {Unfavorable)
{in millions) 2015 2014 2013 2015 vs 2014 2014vs 2013
Interest expense, net 3 (481 % (650) $ (852) $ 169 $ 202
Miscellaneous, net (164) (484) zn 320 (463)
Total non-operating expense, net $ (645 § {1,134y § (873) § 489 3§ (261)

The decline in mnterest expense, net results from reduced levels of debt and unamortized debt discounts and from the refinancing of debt obligations at lower
mnterest rates The principal amount of debt and capital leases has declined from $13 2 billion at the beginning of 2013 to $8 5 billion at December 31, 2015

Miscellaneous, net 1s favorable primanly due to a reduction in debt extinguishment losses compared to 2014 The debt extingmishment losses primantly related
to unamortized debt discounts resulung from fair value adjustments recorded in the 2008 purchase accounting of Northwest Airlines We did not early extmgmish
any debt in 2013 Also contnbuting to the increase 1s our propertionate share of earmings from our equity investment in Virgin Atlantic The gain from Virgin
Atlantic primanily results from year-over-year profit and improvements in MTM adjustments on fuel hedges

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate for 2015 was 36 8% We expect our annual effective tax rate to be between 35% and 36% for 2016 The expected reduction in our rate
from prior years 1s pnmanly related to differences in our global tax rates In certain peniods we may have adjustments to our deferred tax assets as a result of
changes n prior year estimates and tax laws enacted dunng the peniod, which will impact the effective tax rate for that period At December 31, 2015 | we had
approximately $9 5 billion of U S federal pre-tax net operating loss carryforwards, which do not begin to expire until 2024 Accordmgly, we believe we will not
pay any cash federal income taxes before 2018 See Note 11 of the Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information

We released substantially all of our valuation alfowance against our net deferred tax assets on December 31 2013 The release of the allowance primarily
resulted 1n a net tax benefit of $8 ¢ billion that was recorded 1n income tax {provision) benefit in our Consoltdated Statement of Operations

Refinery Segment

The refinery pnmarity produces gasoline, diesel and jet fuel Monroe exchanges substantially all the non-jet fuel products the refinery produces with third
parties for jet fuel consumed in our arhine operations The jet fuel produced and procured through exchanging gasoline and diesel fuel produced by the refinery
provided approximately 171 000 barrels (approximately seven militon gallons) per day for use m our arrline operations during 2015 We believe that the increase
n jet fuel supply due to the refinery's operation has reduced the overall market price of jet fuel, and thus lowered our cost of jet tuel

A refinery 1s subject to annual EPA requirements to blend renewable fuels into the gasoline and on-road diesel fuel it produces Alternatively a refinery may
purchase renewable energy credits, called RINs, from third parties in the secondary market Because the refinery operated by Monroe does not blend renewable
fuels 1t must purchase its entire RINs requirement 1n the secondary market or obtain a waiver from the EPA We recognized $75 milhon $111 mullion and $64
million of expense related to the RINs requirement 1n 20135, 2014 and 2013, respectively We are 1n possession of the RINs needed to satisfy our 2013 obhigation
and a portion of our 2014 and 2015 obligations

The refinery recorded a profit of $290 mullion in 2015 compared to $96 muillion in 2¢14 and a loss of $116 nullton recorded mn 2013 The refinery's
profitability improved year-over-year despite lower revenues resufing from a decline 1n refined fuel market pnices The refinery’s increase in profits was
attributable to hagher product crack spreads and hugher throughput as a result of enhanced operational reliability, logistical improvements and utilization of
intermediates (part:ally refined fuels) For more information regarding the refinery’s results, see Note 14 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Financal Condition and Liqurdity

We expect to meet our cash needs for the next 12 months from cash flows from operations, cash and cash equivalents, short-term nvestments and financing
arrangements As of December 31 2015 we had $5 6 biltion n unrestricied Irquidity, consisting of $3 4 bitlion in cash and cash equivalents and short-term
mvestments and $2 2 llion 1n undrawn revolving credit faciliues Dunng 2015 , we generated $7 9 billion n cash from operating activities, which we used to fund
capital expendrtures of $2 9 billion , return $2 6 illion to shareholders, reduce the principal on our debt and capital lease obligations by $1 5 billion and fund
equity investments of $500 mullion  whtle maimntaining a sohd hquidity position

Sources of Liguidity
Operating Actraftes

Cash flows from operaung acuviuies continue to provide our pnmary source of hquidity We generated positrve cash flows from operations of $7 8 billion in
2015, $4 9 bithion 1n 2014 and 34 5 billion n 2013 We also expect to generate positive cash flows from operations in 2016

Our operatung cash flows can be impacted by the following factors

Seasonaliry of Advance Trcket Sales We sell tickets for air travel i advance of the customer's travel date When we receive a cash payment at the ime of sale,
we record the cash recerved on advance sales as deferred revenue in air traffic hability The aur traffic lability increases during the winter and spring as advanced
ticket sales grow prior to the summer peak travel season and decreases during the summer and fall months

Fuel and Fuel Hedge Margins Includmg our regional carmers, fuel expense represented 23 0% of our total operating expenses for 2015 The market pnice for
Jet fuel 15 hughly volatile, which can impact the comparability of our cash flows from operations from pertod to penod

As part of our fuel hedging program, we may be required to post margin to counterparties when our portfolio 1s in a loss position Conversely, 1f our portfolto
with counterparties 15 1n a gain position, we may receive margin Qur future cash flows are impacted by the nature of our derivative contracts and the market price
of the commodities underlying those denvative contracts Our hedge contracts were n a net loss position at December 31, 2015 and 2014, resultng 1n $119 milhion
and $925 milhion, respectively, of margin postings to counterpanies

Timng of SkyMiles Sales In December 2011, we amended our Amernican Express agreements and agreed to sell $675 million of unrestricted SkyMudes to
Amencan Express m each December from 2011 through 2814 Pursuant to the December 2011 amendment, Amencan Express purchased $675 milhion of
unrestricted SkyMules m each of those years with the final pavment in 2014 The ShyMules purchased 1n December 2014 were utihzed by Amenican Express in
2015 There were no advanced sales of SkyMiles in 2015

Pension Contributions 'We sponsor defined benefit pension plans for eligible employees and retirees These plans are closed to new entrants and are frozen for
future benefit accruals Our funding obligattons for these plans are governed by the Employee Retirement Income Secunty Act, as modified by the Pension
Protection Act of 2006 1n 20135, we contributed $1 2 billion to our quahified defined benefit pension plans  As a result of these contributions, we satisfied, on an
accelerated basis, our 2015 required contributtons for our defined benefit plans mcluding nearly $60¢ mitlion above the mimmum funding requirements We
contmbuted $917 million and $914 millon in 2014 and 2013, respectively, including $250 mutlion above the mimmum funding levels in each of those years We
estimate our funding under these plans will total at least $1 0 ballion in 2016, including $500 milion above the minimum funding requirements

Profit Sharmg Qur broad-based employee profit shanng program provides that, for each year m which we have an annual pre-tax profit, as defined by the
terms of the program, we will pay a specified portton of that profit to employees In determining the amount of profit shaning, the program defines profit as pre-tax
profit adjusted for profit sharing and certamn other items For years prior to 2016, our profit sharing program paid 10% to emplovees for the first $2 5 bilhon of
annual profit and 20% of annual profit above $2 5 illion

36




Table of Contents

We made profit sharing payments of $756 mliton, 3821 million and $372 million 1n 2615, 2014 and 2013, respectively, in recognition of our employees’
contributions toward meetng our financiat goals During the year ended December 2015, we recorded $1 5 bilhion n profit shanng expense based on 2015 pre-tax
profit, which will be paid to employees in Februarv 2016

Beginming with 2016 pre-tax profit (to be paid out 1n 2017) the profit sharing formula will be adjusted to pay 10% of annual pre-tax profit (as defined by the
terms of the program) and, 1f we exceed our prior-year results, the program will pay 20% of the year-over-year increase 1n pre-tax profit to eligible emplovees The
profit sharmg program for pilots remains unchanged and will contimue in 2016 under uts terms

Investing Activities

Capital Expendritures Qur capual expenditures were $2 9 billhion 1 2015, $2 2 tallion in 2014 and $2 5 bailron in 2013 Owr capital expenditures duning 2015
were primarily related to the purchase of B-737-900ER aircraft te replace a portion of our older B-757-200 awrcraft, purchases of A330-300 aircrafl, advance
deposit payments on A321-200 arrcraft and seat density projects for our domestic fleet Our capital expenditures during 2014 and 2013 were primanly for the
purchase of arcraft and modifications to upgrade aircraft mtenors that enhance our product offering

We have commutted to future awrcrafi purchases that will require sigmificant capital investment and have obtained long-term financing commitments for a
substantial portion of the purchase price of these arcraft We expect that we will invest approximately $3 billion in 2016 pnimanly for (1) aircraft, including
delivenes of B-737-900ERs, A321-200s and A330-300s, along with advance deposit pavments for these and our new A330-900neo and A350-900 orders and used
E190-100 orders, as well as for {2) awrcraft modifications, the majonity of which relate to increasing the seat density and enhancing the cabns on our domestic fleet
We expect that the 2016 investments will be funded pnmanly through cash flows from operations

Equity Investments Qur equity investments during 2015 were compnised of $450 m:llhion for China Eastern shares and $50 milhon for preferved shares in GOL's
parent company For additional information regarding these mvestments, see Note 3 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

During the December 2015 quarter, we announced a plan to acquire additional capital stock of Grupo Aeroméxico through a cash tender offer Following the
completion of the tender offer, when combired with our exisung share ownership, we expect to own up to 49% of Grupo Aeromexico's outstanding shares This
approximately $750 million capital investment 1s subject to regulatory approvals and the tender offer would likely commence 1n the June 2016 quarter

Fmancing Activities

Debt and Capnal Leases The pnincipal amount of debt and capital leases has declined from $13 2 billion at the beginning of 2013 to $8 5 bitlion at
December 31 2015 Smce December 31 2009, we have reduced our principal amount of debt and capital leases by $9 8 billion These debt reductions also serve
to reduce our total future interest expense We have focused on reducing our total debt in recent years as part of our strategy to strengthen our balance sheet Asa
result, we recerved upgrades to our credit rating by all three major rating agencies during 2013, to the following ratings

Rating Agency Current Rating Qutlook
Standard & Poor's BB+ Stable

Moody's Ba2 Positive
Fitch BB+ Positive

Continued improvement i our credit ratings to investment grade would likely result in lower costs of borrowing, among other things
In connection with the retirement and termination of the outstanding loans under our existing $2 5 ballion Senior Secured Credit Financmg Facilities (due Apnil

2016 and Apnl 2017) we completed refinancing transactions in August 2015 with new debt consisting of the Semor Secured Credit Facilities ($2 0 bilhion) and the
2015-1 EETC ($500 mihion) The Semuor Secured Credit Facilities consist of a $1 5 billion Revolving Credit Facility and a $500 mull:on Term Loan Facility
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Caprtal Returns to Shareholders Since 2013, our Board of Directors has implemented three programs to return capital to shareholders through quarterly
dividends and share repurchases Since first umplementing our quarterly dividend in 2013, we have increased the dividend per share by 50% annually, and pard
$712 million 1n total dividends, including $359 milhion in 2015 Through dividends and share repurchases, we have returned over $4 biliion to sharcholders since
2013, while reducing outstanding shares by approximately 9% compared to the beginning of 2013 During 2015 alone we repurchased and retired 48 4 milhon
shares at a cost of $2 2 billion

Dividends per Share Repurchase Average Repurchase
{in millions, except dividends per share) Share Authorzation Pnce Completton Date Authorzation Remaining
May 2013 Program 3 0060 $ 500 $ 2843 June 30, 2016 Completed June 2014
May 2014 Program s 0030 § 2,000 § 42 86 December 31, 2016 Completed June 2015
May 2015 Program 3 0135 $ 5,000 % 4577 December 31, 2017 s 3,950 ,

On February 3, 2016, the Board of Directors declared a $0 135 per share dividend for shareholders of record as of February 17, 2016

Fuel Hedge Restructuring Duning 2015, we effecuvely deferred settlement of a portion of our hedge portfolio until 2016 by entering into fuel denvative
transactions that, excluding market movements from the date of inception, would settle and preovide approximately $300 million 1 cash receipts duning the second
half of 2015 and require approximately $300 million 1n cash payments in 2016 We early terminated certain of these deferral transactions in 2015 As a result, we
reported $429 million i cash receipts and $71 nulhion 1n cash payments associated with these deferral transactions
Undrawn Lines of Credit

We have $2 2 bilhien available in undrawn revolving lines of credit Our credit faciities have covenants, including mimumum collateral coverage ratios 1 we
are not 1n comphiance with these covenants, we may be required to repay amounts borrowed under the credit facihities er we may not be able to draw on them We
currently have a substantial amount of unencumbered assets available to pledge as collateral

Covenants

We were in compliance with the covenants in our financing agreements at December 31, 2015
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Contractual Obhgations

The following table summanizes our coniractual obligations at December 31 2015 that we expect will be paid 1n cash The table does not include amounts that
are contingent on events or other factors that are uncertamn or unknown at thts ume, including legal contmgencies uncertam tax posiions and amounts payable
under collective bargaiming arrangements, among others In addivon, the table does not mclude expected significant cash pay ments representing obhigations that
anse n the ordinary course of business that do not include contractual commitments

The amounts presented are based on vanous esimates including estimates regarding the iming of payments, prevailing interest rates volumes purchased, the

occurrence of certain events and other factors Accordmgly, the actual results may vary matenally from the amounts presented in the table

Contractual Obhgations by Y ear

(in milhong) 2016 2017 2018 09 2020 Thereafter Total
Long-term debt (see Note 6)

Principal amount $ 1,442 § 869 § 2061 § 1189 § 456 § 2,081 § 8,098

Interest payments 339 294 253 166 110 294 1456
Capital lease obligations (see Note 7)

Principal amount 148 94 44 35 26 36 383

Interest payments 35 20 12 6 3 3 79
Operating lease payments (see Note 7) 1,583 1,440 1,307 1,158 1,053 6,220 12,761
Aarcraft purchase commitments {see Note 10} 2,140 2500 2,510 1,500 1 900 3010 13,560
Contract carrier obligations (see Note 10) 2,160 2270 2110 1960 1,650 2170 12,320
Employee benefit obligations (see Note 9) 692 632 674 899 755 8,301 11,953
Other obligations 680 330 280 160 70 560 2,020
Total $ 9,219 § 8449 % 9251 %8 7073 % 6023 § 22,615 8§ 62,630

" For addiional information, see the Notes 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements referenced 1n the table above
Long-Term Debt, Principal Ameunt Represents scheduled principal payments on long-term debt

Long-Term Debt Imterest Payments Represents esumated interest payments under our leng-term debt based on the interest rates specified 1n the applicable debt
agreements Interest payments on vanable interest rate debt were calculated using London interbank offered rates ("LIBOR") at December 31, 2015

Operarting Lease Payments Represents our minimum rental commitments under noncancelable operating leases (including certain aurcraft flown by regional
carrers)

Awrcraft Purchase Commiitments Represents our commutments to purchase 70 B-737-200ER, 45 A321-200, 25 A330-900neo, 25 A350-900, 19 E190-100 18
B-787-8 and six A330-300 arcraft Our purchase commitment for the 18 B-787-8 aircraft provides for certain arrcraft substitution nights, including for our current
orders of B-737-900ER aircraft

Contract Carrier Obhigations Represents our estimated m:mmum fixed obligations under capacity purchase agreements with third-party regional carriers The
reported amounts are based on (1) the required minumum levels of flying by our contract carmiers under the applicable agreements and (2) assumptions regarding
the costs associated with such minimum levels of fiying

Empioyee Benefit Obligations Represents primanly (1) our estimated mimmum required funding for our qualified defined benefit pension plans based on
actuanally determimned estimates and (2) projected future benefit payments from our unfunded postretirement and postemployment plans For additional
information about our employee benefit obliganons, see “Cniucal Accounting Policies and Estimates ™

Other Obliganons Represents estimated purchase obligations under which we are required to make mimmum payments for goods and services, including, but
not hmited to, msurance, marheting, mainienance, technology, sponsorships and other third-party services and products
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Crnitical Accounting Pohicies and Estimates

Qur critical accounting poticies and estimates are those that require sigmficant judgments and estimates Accordmgly, the actual results may differ materially
from these estimates For a discussion of these and other accounting policies, sce Note | of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Frequent Fher Program

Our SkyMiles Program offers incentives 1o travel on Delta This program allows customers to eamn mileage creduts by flying on Delta, Delta Connection and
arrhines that participate in the SkyMules Program, as well as through participating companies such as credit card comparnues, hotels and car rental agencies We sell
mileage credits (o non-mirline businesses customers and other awrlines Effective January 1, 2015, the SkyMiles program was modified from a model 1 which
customners ¢arn redeemable mileage credits based on distance traveled to a model based on ticket price This award change did not aifect the way we account for

the program

The SkyMiles Program includes two types of transactions that are considered revenue arrangements with muluple deliverables As discussed below, these are
(1) passenger ucket sales earming mileage credits and (2) the sale of mileage credits to participating companies with which we have marketing agreements Mileage
credits are a separate umt of accounting as they can be redeemed by customers tn future periods for air travel on Delta and participating arlines membership in our
Sky Club and other program awards

Passenger Ticket Sales Earnmg Mileage Credus Passenger tickel sales earming mileage credits under our SkyMiles Program provide customers with two
deliverables (1) mileage credits earned and (2} air transportation We value each defiverable on a standalone basis Our estimate of the selling pnce of a mileage
credit 15 based on an analysis of our sales of mileage creduis o other airhines and customers, which 1s re-evaluated at least annually We use established ucket prices
to determine the estimated sefling price of air transportation We altocate the total amount collected from passenger ticket sales between the deliverables based on
therr relative selling prices

We defer revenue for the mileage credits related to passenger ticket sales when the credits are earned and recognize 1t as passenger revenue when miles are
redeemed and services are provided We record the air transportation poruon of the passenger ticket sales in air traffic hability and recogmze these amounts n
passenger revenue when we provide transportation or when the ticket expires unused A hypothetical 10% increase m our esumate of the standalone selling price of
amileage credit would decrease passenger revenue by approximately $48 mullion, as a result of an merease 1n the amount of revenue deferred from the mileage
component of passenger ticket sales

Sale of Mileage Credits Customers may eam mileage credits through participating companies such as credit card comparnes, hotels and car rental agencies with
which we have marketing agreements to sefl mileage credits Our contracts to sell mileage credits under these marketing agreements have multiple deliverables, as
defined below

Qur most significant contract to sell mileage credits relates to our co-brand credit card relationship with American Express Tn December 2014, we amended our
marketing agreements with Amernican Express which increased the value we receive under the agreements and extended the term to 2022 The amended agreements
became effective January 1, 2015 The dehverables under the amended agreements are substantially smmlar to the previous agreement We account for the amended
agreements consistent with the accounting method adopted in September 2013 that allocates the consideration recerved to the irdividual products and services
dehvered based on their relative selling prices (discussed below) The increased value received under the amended agreements increases the amount of deferred
revenue for the travel component and increases the vatue of the other deliverables, which are recognized 1n other revenue as they are provided

In September 2013, we modified our marketing agreements with American Express which requrred us to change the accounting method for recording SkyMiles
sold Under the previous method, the embedded premmum or discount was altocated to the residval products or services i a combined transaction The new method
allocates consideration recerved based on the relative selling price of each product or service We determmed our best esiumate of the selling prices by considering
discounted cash fiow analysis using multiple inputs and assumptions, including (1) the expected number of miles awarded and number of miles redeemed (2) the
rate at which we sell imleage credits 1 other airhnes, (3) published rates on our website for baggage fees, discounted access to Delta Sky Club lounges and other
benefits while traveling on Delta and (4) brand value The impact of adopting the relative selling price method re-aflocated a portion of the embedded discount to
the travel component lowering the deferral rate we use to record mmles sold under the agreements and increasing revenue recognized on the remaining deliverables
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We recognize revenue as we deliver each sales element We defer the travel deliverable {mileage credits) as part of frequent flyer deferred revenue and
recognize passenger revenue as the mmleage credits are used for travel The revenue allocated to the remaintng dehverables i1s recorded in other revenue We
recogmze the revenue for these services as they are performed

Breakage For mileage credits that we estimate are not hkely to be redeemed (* breakage’ ), we recognize the associated value proportionally duning the peniod
i which the remaining mileage credits are expected to be redeemed Management uses statistical models to esimate breakage based on histonical redemption
paiterns A change i assumptions as to the period over which mileage credits are expected to be redeemed, the actual redemption activity for mileage credits or the
estimated fair value of mileage credits expected to be redeemed could have a matenal impact on our revenue 1 the year in which the change oceurs and in future
vears At December 31, 2015 , the aggregate deferred revenue balance associated wath the SkyMiles Program was $3 9 billion A hypothetical 1% change in the
number of oumstanding miles estimated to be redeemed would result in a $29 million impact on our deferred revenue hiability at December 31 2015

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lned Intangible Assets

We apply a fair value-based impairment test to the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets on an annual basis (as of October 1) and, 1f
certain events or circumstances (ndicate that an impairment loss may have been incurred, on an interim basis We assess the value of our goodwll and indefinite-
lived assets under erther a qualitative or quantitative approach Under a quabitative approach, we consider vanous market factors, including the key assumpiions
listed below We analyze these factors to determine 1f events and cucumstances have affected the fair value of goodwill and indefinite-hived intangible assets 1f we
determune that 1t 1s more likely than not that the asset may be impaired, we use the quantitative approach to assess the asset's fair value and the amount of the
tmpaument Under a quantitative approach, we calculate the fair value of the asset using the key assumptions histed below [f the asset's carrying value exceeds its
fair value calculated using the quaniitative approach, we will record an impairment charge for the difterence in fair value and carrying value

When we evaluate goodwill for impairment using a quantitative approach we estimate the fair value of the reporting wnit by considening both market
capitalization and projected discounted future cash flows (an income approach) When we perform a quantitative impairment assessment of our indefimte-hved
imtangible assets, fair value 1s estmated based on (1) recent market transactions, where available, (2) the royalty method for the Delta tradename (which assumes
hypothetical royalties gencrated from using our tradename) or (3) projected discounted future cash flows (an income approach)

Key Assumptions The key assumptions 1n our imparrment tests include (1) forecasted revenues, expenses and cash flows, (2) terminal peniod revenue growth
and cash flows, (3) an esumated weighted average cost of capital (4) assumed discount rates depending on the asset and (5) a tax rate These assumptions are
consistent with those hypothetical market participants would use Since we dre required to mahe estimates and assumptions when evaluating goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets for impawrment, avtual transaction amounts may differ matenally from these estimates In addition, we consider the amount by
which the intangible assets' fair values exceeded thewr respective carrying values in the most recent farr value measurements calculated using a quantitative
approach

Changes in certatn events and circumstances could result in impairment  Factors which could cause impairment include, but are not hmited to, (1) negative
trends 1n our market capitalization, (2) reduced profitabality resulting from lower passenger mile yields or higher input costs (primanly related to fuel and
employees), (3) lower passenger demand as a result of weakened U S and global econommies, (4) interruption to our eperations due to a prolonged employee strike,
terrorist attack, or other reasons, (5} changes to the regulatory environment {e g . dimineshed slot restrictrons or additional Open Skies agreements), {6) competitive
changes by other airlines and (7) strategic changes to our operations leading to dimuushed utilization of the intangible assets

We assessed each ot the above assumptions in our most recent impairment analyses he combination of our most recently completed annual results and our
projected revenues, expenses and cash flows more than offset any negative events and circumstances The stabilizing operating environment for U S airhnes has
resulted in annual yields increasing aleng with load factors, leading to improved financial results

Goodwill  Our goodwill balance, which 1s related to the airline segment, was $9 8 hillion at December 31, 2015 Based upon our quantitative assessment of all

refevant facters mcluding applicable factors noted in * Key Assumptions " above we determined that the fair value of goodwill sigmificantly exceeded the carrying
value and, therefore, there was no indication that goodwill was impaired
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Identifiable Intangible Assets Our identifiable intangible assets, which are related 1o the airline segment, had a net carrying amount of $4 9 bilhon at
December 31, 2015, of which $4 7 billion related to mdefimte-lived intangible assets Indefinite-lived assets are not amortized and consist primarity of routes,
slots, the Delta tradename and assets related to SkyTeam and collaborative arrangements Definite-lived assets consist primanly of marketing and maintenance
service agreements

In 2015 , we performed quanutative assessments, ncluding applicable factors noted in " Key Assumptions " above, of our indefinite-lived intangible assets
{excluding s1ix London-Heathrow slot pairs we acquired for $276 million duning the December 2015 quarter) and determined that there was no mdication that the
assets were mmpatred as the fair values ranged from approxmmately 130% to 280% of the carrying values

We obtained the Pacific routes and slots asset as part of the acquisition of Northwest Arrhines in 2008 and 1s compesed of Pacific route authonties and takeoff
and landing rights (“slots™) at capacity-constramed awports in Asia, including Tokyo-Narnita International Atrport ("Narita") This intangible asset supports Delta’s
Narita hub activities and 15 essential to Delta's enttre Pacafic network Changes in key mputs and assumptions, including (1) new or enhanced jomnt ventures or
alliances (2) foreign currency exchange rates, (3) fuel costs legislative or regulatory changes, mcluding changes 1n access to Tokyo-Haneda airport and (4) Pacific
regton profitability, could impact the value of this asset in the future

Long-Lived Assets

Our flight equipment and other long-lived assets have a recorded value of $23 0 bilhion at December 31, 2015 This value 1s based on various factors, including
the assets' esumated useful ives and salvage values We record imparrment losses on flight equipment and other long-lived assets used in operations when events
and circumstances mdicate the assets may be impaired and the estimated future cash flows generated by those assets are less than their carrying amounts Factors
which could cause impairment include, but are not limited to, (1) a decision to permanently remove flight equipment or other long-lived assets from operations, (2)
significant changes 1n the estimated useful hie (3) significant changes i projected cash flows, (4) permanent and significant declines in fleet fair values and (5)
changes to the regulatory environment For long-lived assets held for sale we discontinue depreciation and record impairment losses when the carrying amount of
these assets 1s greater than the fair value less the cost to sell

To determine whether impaurments exist for awrcraft used in operaiions, we group assets at the flect-type level (the lowest level for which there are identifiable
cash flows) and then estimate future cash flows based on projections of capacity, passenger mile yield, fuel costs, fabor costs and other relevant factors [f an
impairment oceurs, the impairment loss recognized 1s the amount by which the fleet’s carrying amount exceeds 1ts estimated fair value We estimate arrcrafi fair
values using published sources, appraisals and bids received from third parties, as available

Income Tax Valuation Allowance

We penodically assess whether 1t 1s more hikely than not that we will generate sufficient taxable income to realize our deferred income tax assets We establish
valuation allowances 1f 1t 15 not Iikely we will realize our deferred income tax assets In making this determination, we consider all available positive and negative
evidence and make certamn assumptions We consider, among other things, projected future taxable income, scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, the
overall business environment, our historical financial results and tax planning strategies In evaluating the likelihood of utthzing our net deferred income tax assets,
the significant factors that we consider include (1) our recent history of profitability, (2) growth in the U S and global economues, (3) forecast of airline revenue
trends, (4) estimate of future fuel prices and (5) future impact of taxable temporary differences

We recorded a full valuation allowance in 2004 due to cur cumulative loss position at that time Dunng 2013, after considenng all posifive and negative
evidence, we concluded that our deferred mcome tax assets are more likely than not to be realized Accordingly, we released substantially all of the valuation
allowance against our net deferred income tax assets We recognized an 38 0 billion benefit in our provision for income taxes, prumartly related to the valuation
atlowance release

At the end of 2015 our net deferred tax asset balance was $5 0 billion  against which we mamntained a §56 million valuation aliowance pnimanly related to
state net operating losses, state credus and unrealized losses on investments, which have limited expiration penods
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Defined Benefit Pension Plans

We sponsor defined benefit pension plans for eligible employees and retirees These plans are closed to new entrants and frozen for future benefit accruals As
of December 31, 2015  the unfunded benefit obligation for these plans recorded on our Consolidated Balance Sheet was $11 2 iflion Duning 2015 we
contributed $1 2 billion to these plans and recorded $240 million of expense m salaries and related costs on our Consolhidated Statement of Operations In 2016, we
estumate we will contribute at least 31 0 bilhion to these plans, mcluding $500 mallion of centnbutions above the mimmum funding requirements, and that our
expense will be approximately $250 million The most cntical assumptions impacting our defined benefit pension plan obligations and expenses are the discount
rate, the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets and life expectancy

Werghted Average Discount Rate We determine our weighted average discount rate on our measurement date primanly by reference to annualized rates earned
on high-quality fixed mcome mvestments and yield-to-matunty analy sis specific to our estumated future benefit payments We used a weighted average discount
rate {o value the obhigations of 4 57% and 4 14% at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively Our weighted average discount rate for net periodic pension
benefit cost in each of the past three years has vaned from the rate selected on our measurement date, ranging from 4 10% 1o 4 99% between 2013 and 2015

Expected Long-Tern Rate of Return Our expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 1s based pnmanly on plan-specific investment studies using historical
market retumm and volatihty data Modest excess retum expectations versus some public market indices are ncorporated mnto the return projections based on the
actively managed structure of the mvestment programs and their records of achieving such returns histonically We also expect to recerve a premium for investing
m less hquid private markets We review our rate of return on plan assets assumptions annually Our annual investment performance for ene particular year does
not, by itself, significantly influence our evaluatton The imvestment strategy for our defined benefit pension plan assets 1s to earn a long-term return that meets or
exceeds our annualized return target while taking an acceptable level of nsk and maintaining sufficient hquidity to pay current benefits and other cash obligations
of the plan This 15 achieved by mvesting in a globally diversified mix of public and private equity, fixed mcome, real assets, hedge funds and other assets and
mstruments Our expected long-term rate of retarn on assets for net pertodic pension benefit cost for the year ended December 31, 2015 was 9%

The impact of a 0 50% change 1n these assumptions 1s shown in the table below

Effect on Accrued

Lffect on 2016 Penston Liability at
Change i Assumption Pension Expense December 31, 2615
0 50% decrease 1n weaghted average discount rate -$! mullion +§1 3 bilhon
0 50% increase in werghted average discount rate -$2 million -$1 2 brllion
0 50% decrease n expected long-term rate of return on assets +$50 muillion —
0 50% increase n expected long-term rate of return on assets -$50 mullion —

Life Expectancy We have histonically utiized the Society of Actuaries' ("SOA™) published mortality data n developing a best estimate of hife expectancy
Dunng 2014, the SOA published updated mortality tables for U S plans and an updated improvement scale, which both reflect improved longevity Based on an
evaluation of these new tables and our perspective of future longevity we updated the mortality assumptions 1n 2014 for purposes of measuring pension and other
postretirement and postemployment benefit obligations  The improvement in life expectancy increases our benefit obhgations and future expense as benefit
payments are paid over an extended penod of tme In 2015, we reviewed the mortality assumptions and concluded that the assumptions used in 2014 continue to
represent our best estimate of long-term hife expectancy We will continue to review our assumptions on an annual basis

Frnding Our funding obligations for qualified defined benefit plans are governed by the Employee Retirement Income Secunity Act The Pension Protection
Act of 2006 allows commercial airhnes to elect altemative funding rules (“Alternative Funding Rules™) for defined benefit plans that are frozen Delta elected the
Alternative Funding Rules under which the unfunded liability for a frozen defined benefit plan may be amortized over a fixed 17-year period and 1s calculated
using an 8 85% discount rate In addinion, b ecause of statutory pension funding relief that applies to us, we have untit 2031 to fully fund our pension plans
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While the Penston Protection Act makes our funding obligations for these ptans more predictable, factors outside our control continue to have an impact on the
funding requirements Estimates of future funding requirements are based on various assumptions and can vary matenally from actual funding requirements
Assumptions inciude, among other things, the actual and projected market performance of assets, statutory requirements and demographic data for participants For
additional information, see Note 9 of the Notes (o the Consolidated Financial Statements

Recent Accounting Standards
Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In May 2014, the Fmancial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") 1ssued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with
Customers " Under the new standard, rex énue 15 recognized at the time a good or service 1s transferred to a customer for the amount of consideration recerved for
that specific good or service Entities may use a full retrospective approach or report the cumulative effect as of the date of adoption

In August 2015, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2015-14, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) Deferral of the Effective Date," that deferred the
effective date by one year to December 15, 2017 for interim and annual reporting periods beginming afier that date The FASB permitted early adoption of the
standard, but not before the onginal effective date of December 15 2016 We are currently evaluating how the adoption of this standard will impact our
Consohdated Financial Statements

Presentation of Debt Issuance Cosis

During 2015, the FASB 1ssued ASU Nos 2015-03 and 2015-135, related 10 simplifying the presentation of debt 1ssuance costs These standards amend existing
guidance to require the presentation of debt 1ssuance costs in the balance sheet as a deducuon from the carrying amount of the related debt hability instead of as a
deferred charge It 1s effecuve for annual reporting peniods beginning after December 15, 2015, but early adoption 1s permitted We early adopied these standards in
the December 2015 quarter, which we accounted for as a change tn accounting principle and applied the gmdance retrospectively This change results in a
reclassification of $32 million from prepaid expenses and other to current matunities of long-term debt and capatal leases and $84 million from other noncurrent
assets to long-term debt and caputal leases as of December 31, 2014

Drsclosures for Investments in Certamn Entires That Calculate Net Asset Value per Shave

In May 2015, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2015-07, "Disclosures for Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or lts
Equivalent) " Under the new standard, mvestments for which fair value 15 measured at net asset value per share (or its equivalent) using the practical expedient will
no longer be categorized i the fatr value hierarchy 1t 1s effective for wterim and annual reporting periods begmming after December 15, 2015, but carly adoption
15 permitted We will adopt this standard effective January 1, 2016 We are currently assessing how the adoption of this standard will impact our Consoltdated
Financial Statements as our penston plan has a sigmficant number of mvestments measured at net asset value

Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes

In November 2015, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2015-17, "Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes " Ths standard requires that deferred tax habilities
and assets be classified as noncurrent on the balance sheet It1s effective for imterim and annual pertods beginning after December 15, 2016, but early adoption 1s
permitted We early adopied this standard 1n the December 2015 guarter, which we accounted for as a change 1n accounting princrple and apphed the gumdance
retrospectively This change results in the reclassification of $3 3 bullion from current assets to deferred income taxes, net i other assets on our December 31, 2014
Consolidated Balance Sheet

Fmancial Instruments

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No 2016-01, "Fmancial Instruments—Overall (Subtopic 825-10) * This standard makes several modifications to
Subtopic 825-10 including the ehrmination of the avatlable-for-sale classification of equity investments, and requires equity invesiments with readily determinable
fair values to be measured at fair value with changes n fair value recognized in net income It1s effecuve for mtertm and annual periads beginning after December
15,2017
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Our investments in the parent companes of Aeroméxico and GOL are currently accounted for as available-for-sale with changes in fair value recognized
other cotnprehensive mcome At the ume of adoption, any amounts 1 accumutated other comprehensive mcome/(loss) ("AOCI") related 1o equity invesiments
would be reclassified to non-operating expense/income As of December 31 2015, a net unrealized loss of $66 million related to these investments was recorded 1n
AOQOCI on our Consolidated Balance Sheet
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Supplemental Information

We sometumes use mformation ("non-GAAP financial measures”) that 1s denved from the Consolhidated Financial Statements but that 1s not presented in
accordance with GAAP Under the U S Securities and Exchange Commssion rules non-GAAP financial measures may be constdered in addition to results
prepared in accordance with GAAP, but should not be considered a substitute for or superior to GAAP results

The following table shows a reconcihation of pre-tax mcome (2 GAAP measure) to pre-tax income adjusted for special items (2 non-GAAP financial measure)
We adjust pre-tax income for the following items to determine pre-tax income, adjusted for special items, for the reasons descnbed below

.

MTM adjustments and settlements MTM adjustments are defined as fair vatue changes recorded 1n pertods other than the settlement period Such fair value
changes are not necessanly mdicative of the actual setilement value of the underlying hedge in the contract settlement period Settlements represent cash
recerved or paid on hedge contracts settled duning the period These items adjust fuel expense to show the economic mmpact of hedging, inctuding cash
recerved or paid on hedge contracts dunng the penod Adjusting for these items allows mvestors to better understand and analyze our core operational
performance 1n the penods shown

Restructuring and ather Because of the vanability 1 restructunng and other the adjustment for this item ts heipful to investors to analyze our recurring
core performance in the penods shown

Loss on eximguishment of debt ' We adjusted for loss on extingwishment of debt in 2014 10 assist investors with thewr analysis of our recurnng core financial
performance

Virgm Atlanitc MTM adyustments  We record our proportionate share of earmings from our equity nvestment in Virgin Atlantic in other expense We adjust
for Virgin Atlantic’'s MTM adjustments to allow winvestors to better understand and analyze our core financial performance in the periods shown

Y ear Ended December 31,
{mn olhons) 2015 2004
Pre-tax mcome $ 7157 % 1,072
Adjusted for -
MTM adjustments and settlements {1301 2,346
Restructuring and other 35 716
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 268
Virgin Atlantic MTM adjustments (26) 134
Pre-tax income, adjusted for special ttems b 5865 § 4,536
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The following table shows a reconciliation of CASM (a GAAP measure) to CASM-Ex (2 non-GAAP financial measure) We adjust CASM for the following

items to deterniine CASM-Ex for the reasons described below

*  Awcraft fuel and related taxes The volaulity i firel prices umpacts the comparability of year-over-year financial performance The adjustment for arrcraft
fuel and related taxes (including our regional camers) atlows mvestors to better understand and analy ze our non-fuel costs and year-over-year financial

performance

»  Profit sharmg We adjust for profit sharing because this adjustment allows mvestors to better understand and analyze our recurring cost performance and

provides a more meaningful companson of our core operating costs to the airline industry

»  Restructuring and other Because of the vanability 1n restructuring and other the adjustment for this item 15 helpful to investors to analyze our recurmning

core performance 1n the penods shown

s Other expenses Other expenses nclude arcraft maintenance and staffing services we provide to third parties, our vacation wholesale operations and

refinery cost of sales to thard parties Because these businesses are not related to the generation of a seat mule, we adjust for the costs related to these sales to

provide a more meaningful comparison of the costs of our airline operations to the rest of the airfme industry

Y ear Ended December 31,

2045 2014
CASM 13334 1592¢
Adjusted for
Awcraft fuel and related taxes (307 (5 64)
Profit sharing (0 60) {0 45)
Restructunng and other 0on) (0 30)
Other expenses (0 48) (037)
CASM-Ex 917¢ 9 16¢
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The following table shows a reconciliabon of ROIC We present ROIC as management believes thus metric is helpful to investors 1n assessing our ability to
generate returns using 1ts mvested capital ROIC 1s operating income, adjusted, divided by adjusted average invested capital We adjust operating income for MTM
adjustments and settlements and restructuring and other for the same reasons discussed above for pre-tax income All adjustments to calculate ROIC are intended to
provide & more meamngful companson of our results to the airline industry and other high-quality industrial companies

Year Ended December 31,

|

(0 cilhions, except % of return) 2015 2014
Operating income 3 7 802 $ 2,206
Adjusted for
MTM adjustments and setilements (1,301 2,346
Restructunng and other 35 716
7x annual mterest expense included n arcraft rent 172 149
Amortization of retirement actuarial loss 230 112
Operating income, adjusted 3 6,938 $ 5,529
Adjusted book vatue of equity LS 17.564 $ 18,518
Average adjusted net debt 6,970 8,215
Adjusted average v ested capital (D s 24,534 ) 26,733
ROIC 28 3% 20 7%

oy

Adjusted average invested capital represents the sum of the average book value of equity at the end of the last five quarters, adjusted for pension and fuel hedge impacts within other
comprehensive income Average acjusted net debt 1s calculated using amounts as of the end of the last five quarters

The followng table shows a reconciliaton of adjusted net debt We use adjusted 1otal debt, including awrcraft rent, 1n addiuon to long-term adjusted debt and
capiial leases, to present estimated financtal obligations We reduce adjusted debt by cash, cash equivalents and short-term inyvestments and hedge margin
receivable, resulting in adjusted net debt, to present the amount of assets needed to satisfy the debt Management believes this metnc 15 helpful to investors n
assessing the company s overall debt profile Management has reduced adjusted debt by the amount of hedge margin recervable, which reflects cash posted to
counterparties, as we believe this removes the impact of current market volatility on our unsettled hedges and 1s a better representation of the continued progress

we have made on cur debt imtiatives

{un emlhons) December 31, 2015 December 31, 2009
Debt and capital lease obligations 8329 $ 17,198
Plus unamortized discount, net and debt 1ssuance costs 152 1,123
Adjusted debt and capital lease obligations 8,481 $ 18,321
Plus 7x last twelve months’ arrcraft rent 1,750 3,360
Adjusted total debt 10,231 21,681
Less cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments (3,437) {4,678}
Less hedge margin (receivable) payable (119} 10
Adjusted net debt 6,675 $ 17,013
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Glossary of Defined Terms

ASM - Available Seat Mile A measure of capacity ASMs equal the total number of seats available for transporting passengers during a reporting period
multiplied by the total number of mules flown dunng that pertod

CASAM - (Operating) Cost per Available Seat Mile The amount of operating cost incurred per ASM duning a reporting period

CASM-Ex - The amount of operating cost mcurred per ASM duning a reporting penod adjusted for arrcrafl fuel and related taxes, profit shanng, restructunng
and other and other expenses, mcluding awrcrafi maintenance and staffing services we provide to third parties, our vacation wholesale operauons and refinery cost
of sales to third parties

Passenger Load Factor - A measure of utllized available seating capacity calculated by dividing RPMs by ASMs for a reporting penod

Passenger Mile Yield or Yield - The amount of passenger revenue eamed per RPM during a reporting peniod

PRASM - Passenger Revenue per ASM The amount of passenger revenue earned per ASM durning a reporting penod PRASM 15 also referred to as “unit
revenue ”

RPM - Revenue Passenger Mile One revenue-paying passenger transported one mile RPMs equal the number of revenue passengers durtng a reportng period
multiplied by the number of miles flown by those passengers during that period RPMs are also referred to as “traffic”
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ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISk

We have market risk exposure related o arcraft fuel pnices nterest rates and foretgn currency exchange rates Market rish 1s the potential negative mmpact of
adverse changes mn these prices or rates on our Consolidated Financial Statements In an effort to manage our exposure to these nisks we enter into denvative
contracts and may adjust our derivative portfolio as market conditions change We expect adjustments to the fair value of financial instruments to result in ongoing
volatility in earnings and stochholders' equity

The following sensitivity analysis does not consider the effects of a change wn demand for air travel, the economy as a whole or actrons we may take to seek to
mitigate our exposure to a particular nsk For these and other reasons, the actual results of changes 1 these prices or rates may differ matenally from the following
hypothetical results

Arcraft Fuel Price Risk

Changes n arrcraft tuel pnces matenially impact our results of operatrons We actively martage our fuel price risk through a hedging program intended to reduce
the financial impact from changes o the price of jet fuel We utilize different contract and commodty ty pes tn this program and frequently test their economic
effectiveness against our financial targets We closely monitor the hedge portfolio and rebalance the pertfolio based on market conditons which may result in
locking n gains or losses on hedge contracts prior to thewr settlement dates

Our fuel hedge portfolio consists of options swaps and futures The hedge contracts mclude crude o1l diesel fuet and jet fuel, as these commodities are haghly
correlated with the price of jet fuel that we consume Our fuel hedge contracts contain margin funding requirements The margin funding requirements may cause
us to post margin to counterparties or may cause counterparties to post margin to us as market prices mn the underlying hedged 1tems change 1f fuel prices change
significantly from the levels existing at the time we enter into fuel hedge contracts, we may be required to post a significant amount of margin ' We may adjust our
hedge portfolio from time to ttme mn response to margn posting requirements

For the year ended December 31, 2015  aircraft fuel and related taxes, including our regional cammers accounted for $7 6 billion , or 23 0%, of our total
operating expense We recognuzed 5741 million of fuel hedge losses dunng the year ended December 31, 2015, due to unfavorable MTM adjustments

During the December 2015 quarter we entered into hedges designed to ofiset and effectively terminate our existing hedge positions for the March 2016
quarter In January 2016, we continued this process for substantially all of our positions with contract settlement dates through December 31, 2016 As a result, we
have both neutralized our hedge portfolio and locked 1n cash payments of approximately $725 mullion in 2016

The followmg table shows the projected cash impact to fuel cost assuming 20% and 40% increases or decreases in fuel pnces for the penod from February 1,
2016 to December 31, 2616 As a result of effectivelv terminating our hedge positions as discussed above, the impact of our hedge portfolio due to changes in fuel
prices during 2016 1s not sigmficant

{in millions, except for percentages) {Increase} Decrease
+ 40% h) (1,630}
+ 20% (820)
-20% 820
- 40% - 1,630

' Projections based upon the (increase) decrease to unhedged fuel cost as compared to the jet fuel pnce per gallon of $1 01, excluchng transportation costs and taxes at January 31, 2016 and
estimated fuel consumption of 3 7 bilhion gallens for the period from February 1, 2016 to December 31, 2016
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Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to market nsk from adverse changes 1n interest rates 15 primarily assocrated with our long-term debt obligations Market nisk associated with our
fixed and vanable rate long-term debt relates to the potential reduction n fair value and neganve mpact (o future earmings, respectively  from an increase tn
mterest rates

At December 31 2015 we had $4 0 billion of fixed-rate long-term debt and $4 1 biilion of vanable-rate long-term debt An increase of 100 basis ponts 1n
average annual mterest rates would have decreased the estimated fair value of our fixed-rate long-term debt by $160 msllien at December 31, 2015 and would have
icreased the annual mterest expense on our vanable-rate long-term debt by $39 mithion exclusive of the impact of our interest rate hedge contract We have one
interest rate hedge contract with a notionat value of $384 milhon

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

We are subject to foreign currency exchange rate nsk because we have revenue and expense denominated in foregn currencies with our prunary exposures
being the Japanese yen and Canadian dollar To manage exchange rate risk, we exccute both our international revenue and expense transactions in the same foreign
currency to the extent practicable From time to time, we may also enter into foreign currency option and forward contracts At December 31, 2015 we had open
foreign currency forward contracts totaling a $94 nullion asset posiion We estimate that a 10% depreciation or appreciation in the price of the Japanese yen and
Canadian dollar in relation to the U S dollar would change the projected cash settlement value of our open hedge contracts by a $38 million gain or 346 million
loss, respectively for the year ending December 31, 2016
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REPORT OF EINDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Delta Air Lines, Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Delta Air Lines, Inc (the Company) as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 , and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income {loss), cash flows, and stockholders’ equity (deficit) for each of the three years 1n the penod ended
December 31, 2015 These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management Our responsibility 1S to express an opiuon on these financial
statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits 1n accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {Umited States) Those standards requure that we
plan and perform the audit to obtan reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of matenal misstatement An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 1 the financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant esiimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion

In our opinton, the financial statements referred to above present farly 1n all matenal respecis the consolidated financial positton of Delta Air Lines, Inc at
December 31, 2015 and 2014 , and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three vears in the peniod ended December 31 2015,
in conformuty with U S generally accepted accounting principles

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Cversight Board (United States) Delta Air Lines, Inc 's internal
conirol over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 , based on cntena established m Internal Control-Integrated Framework 1ssued by the Commuttee of
Sponsoning Orgamizations of the Treadway Commussion (2013 framework) and our report dated February 5§ 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

Atlanta, Georgia s/ Ernst & Young LLP
February 5. 2016
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,
{in miflicns, except share data) 2018 2014
ASSLTS

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3 1972 § 2088
Short-term nvestments 1,465 1217
Accounts recelvable, net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts of $9 and $11 at December 31, 2015 and 2014 respectively 2,020 2297
Hedge margin receivable 119 525
Fuel inventory 379 534
Expendable parts and supplies nventones, net of an altowance for obsolescence of $114 and $127 at December 31, 2015 and

2014, respectively 318 38
Hedge dervatives asset 1,987 1,078
Prepaid expenses and other 796 701

Total current assets 3056 9,158
Property and Equipment, Net
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization of $10,871 and $9,340 at December 31, 2015 and 2014
respectively 23,019 21,929
Other Assets
Goodwill - 9,794 9794
fdentifiable intangibles, net of accumulated amortization of $811 and $793 at December 31, 2015 and 20]4,}cspccm ely 4,861 4,603
Defemed income taxes, net 4,956 7,595
Other noncurrent assets 1428 926
Total other assets 21 039 22,918
Total assets 3 53,134 % 54,005
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabtlities
Current matunities of long-term debt and capital leases ) 1,563 § 1,184
Air traffic hability 4,503 4,296
Accounts payable 2,743 2,622
Accrued salanies and related benefits 3,195 2,266
Hedge derivatives liability 2,581 2,772
Frequent flver deferred revenue 1,635 1,580
Other accrued habilines 1,306 2,127
Total current habilivies 17,526 16,847
Noncurrent Liabilities
Long-term debt and caputal leases 6,766 8477
Pension, postretirement and related benefits 13,855 15,138
Frequent flyer deferred revenue 2,246 2,602
Other noncurrent Liabalities 1,891 2,128
Total noncurrent habilities 24,758 28,345
Commitments and Contingencies
Stockholders' Equity
Common stock at $0 00C1 par value, 1,500,000,000 shares authorized, 799,850,675 and 845,048,310 shares 1ssued at December 31,

2015 and 2014, respectively —_ —
Additional paid-in capital 10,875 12,981
Retaned earnings 7623 3,456
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,275) (7,311)
Treasury stock, at cost, 21,066 684 and 19,790,077 shares at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively (373) (313)

Total stockholders' equity 10,850 8,813




Total habihities and stockhotders’ equity $ 53,134 § 54 003

The accompanying netes are an integral part of these Consoltdated Financial Statements
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Y ear Ended December 31,
(m mhons, except per share data) 2015 2014 2013
Operating Revenue
Passenger
Mainhne b 28,898 5 28,688 26,534
Regional carriers 5,884 5,266 6,408
Total passenger revenue 34,782 34954 32,942
Cargo 813 934 937
Other 3,109 4474 3,894
Total operating revenue 40 704 40,362 37,773
Operating Expense
Salaries and related costs 8,776 8,120 7,720
Adrcraft fuel and related taxes 6,544 11,668 9,397
Regional carriers expense 4,241 5,237 5,669
Aircraft mainienance materials and outside repairs 1,848 1,828 1,852
Contracted services 1,848 1,749 1,665
Depreciation and amortization 1,835 1,771 1 658
Passenger commissions and other : sefling expenses 1,672 1,700 1,603
Landing fees and other rents o 1,493 1,442 1410
Profit sharing 1490 1,085 506
Passenger service 872 810 762
Aarcraft rent 250 233 209
Restructunng and other 35 716 402
Other 1,998 1,797 1520
Total operating expense 32,902 38,156 34 373
Operating Income 7 802 2206 3,400
Non-Operating Expease
Interest expense net (481) (650) {852)
Miscellaneous net (i64) (484) (21)
Total non-operating expense, net (645) {E 134) {873)
Tocome Before Income Taxes 7157 1072 2,527
income Tax (Provision) Benefit (2,631) (413) 8,013
Net lIncome 3 4,526 $ 659 10,540
Basic Larnings Per Share $ 568 5 079 124
Diluted Earmings Per Share $ 563 $ 078 1229
Cash Dividends Declared Per Share 3 045 $ 030 012

The accompany ing notes are an mtegral part of these Consolidated Financiat Statements
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensine Income (Loss)

Y ear Ended December 31,

(1o milhionsy

2018 2014 2013
Net Income ) 4526 3 659 3 10,540
Other comprehensive income {loss)

Net (loss) gain on foreign currency and interest rate dernvatives (82) 3 482

Net change in pension and other benefits 163 (2,i94) 2,984
Net (loss} gatn on mnvestments (43) 10 (19)

Total Other Comprehenstve Income (Loss) 36 (2,181) 3,447
‘Comprehensne Income (Loss) $ 4 562 b (1,522) $ 13,987

The accompany ing notes are an infegral part of these Conselidated Financial Statements

56




1 nts

DELTA AIR LINES, INC
Consohdated Statements of Cash Flows

Year Ended December 31,

{in milhions) 2015 2014 2013
Cash Flows From Operating Activitees
Net income $ 4,526 % 659 § 10,540
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activitics
Depreciation and amortizatien §.835 1,771 1,658
Hedge derivative contracts {1 369) 2,186 {86)
Deferred income taxes 2,581 414 (7,991
Pension, postrettrement and postemploymeni payments greater than expense {1,013) {(7123) (624)
Restructuring and other 35 758 285
Extingmshment of debt 22 268 —
Equity investment {earntngs) loss (35) 106 (24)
SkyMiles used pursuant to advance purchase under American Express Agreemenis _ — {333)
Changes in certain assets and habiliues
Receivables (56) (302) 90
Restricted cash and cash equivalents ? 62 231
Fuel inventory 155 172 BN
Hedge margin 806 (922) 14
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (102) 58 28
Aur traffic lability S 207 174 426
Frequent flyer deferred revenue (301) (238) {121}
Profit sharing 734 264 133
Accounts payable and accrued lLiabilities (201) (36) 80
(ther, net 93 276 285
Net cash provided by operating activities 7927 4,947 4,504
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Property and equipment additions
Flight equl];menl, ncluding advance payments (2,223) (1,662) (2,117}
Ground property and equipment, including technology ’ (722) (587) (404)
Purchase of equity mvestments (500) — (366)—‘
Purchase of short-term investments {998) (1,795) (959)
Redemption of short-term investments 739 1,533 1,117
Acquisition of London-Heathrow slots (276) — 47)
Other, net 25 43 14
Net cash used i investing activities (3,955) (2,463) {2,756)
Cash Flows From Fmancmg Activities
Payments on long-term debt and capital lease obligations (2,558) (2,928) {1,461)
Repurchase of common stock (2,200} (1,100) {250}
Cash dividends {359} (251) {102}
Fuel card obligation (340} 41) 147
Payments on hedge dernative contracts (71} —_ —
Proceeds from hedge denvative contracts 429 — —
Proceeds from long-term obligations 1,038 1,020 268
Other, net {27) 60 78
Net cash used 1n financing activities (4,088) {3,240) (1,320)
Net {Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents (1i6) (756) 428
Cash and cash equivalents at begmnning of period 2,088 2,844 2416
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 1972 % 2088 § 2.844
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Paxd for Interest b 452 % 560 § 698

Non-Cash Transactions



Flight equipment under capital leases
Buid-to-suit leased facilities

American Express advance purchase of restricted SkyMiles

The accompanying rotes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financtal Statements
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

Common Stock P :::::: A:rg::;l:lcd Treasury Stock

{in millions, except per share data) Shares Amomnt Pud-In Capital (Accumulated Defickt) Comprehensive Loss Shares Amouni Tatd
Balance at January 1, 2013 868 § — § 14069 § {7,389) § (8577 16 § (239 % (2,131
Net income — — — 10,540 _ —_ _ 10,540
Dividends declared —_ — — (102} — —_ -— (102)
Other comprehensive income — —_ — — 3,447 — — 3447
Shares of commeon stock 1ssued and compensation expense

associated with equity awards (Treasury shares withheld for

payment of taxes, $14 97 (9 per share) 5 —_ 50 — — 2 24) 66
Stock options exercised 6 —_ 73 — — — — 73
Stock purchased and retired (10 — (250) — _— — — (250)
Balance at December 31, 2013 869 — 13,982 3049 (5,130 18 (258) 11,643
Net income — — —_ 659 — — - 659
Drvidends declared —_ — — (252) — — — (252)
Other comprehensive toss —_ — — - (2,181} —_ — (2,181)
Shares of commen stach 1ssued and compensation expense

associated with equity awards (Treasury shares withheld for

payment of taxes, $31 46 ¢ per share) 3 — 81 _— —_ 2 {55) 26
Stock options exercised 2 — 18 —_ — — - 18
Stock purchased and retired 29) — {1,100) —_ —_ - —_ (1,1000
Balance at December 31, 2014 845 —- 12,981 3,456 (7,311} 20 {313} 8,813
Net income — — — 4,526 — — — 4,526
Dividends declared — — — (359) — — — (359)
Other comprehensive income -_ —_— — — 36 —_— — 36
Shares of common stock 1ssued and compensation expense

associated with equity awards (Treasury shares withheld for

payment of taxes, $46 83 ¢V per share) 1 — 76 — — 1 {60} 16
Stock options exercised 2 —_— 18 — — — —_ 18
Steck purchased and retired (48) —_ (2,200) —_ — — - (2,200)
Batance at December 31, 2015 800 3 — % 10,875 % 7623 § (7 275) 208 (373) § 10,850

D Weighted average pnce per share

The accompany ing notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE1 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUN FING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

Delta Air Lines, Inc  a Delaware corporation provides scheduled air transportation for passengers and cargo throughout the Umited States (“U S ™) and around
the world Our Consolidated Financial Statements mclude the accounts of Delta Awr Lines, Inc and our wholly-owned subsidiaries and have been prepared n
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted inthe US (“GAAP”") We do not consolidate the financial statements of any company in which we have
an ownership mterest of 50% or less We are not the pnmary beneficiary of, nor do we have a controlling financial mterest in any vanable nterest entty
Accordingly we have not consolidated any vanable interest entity

We have marheting alliances with other anrlines to enhance our access to domestic and international markets These arangements may include codeshanng,
reciprocal frequent flyer program benefits, shared or rectprocal access to passenger lounges, joint promotions, common use of airport gates and ticket counters,
ticket office co-location and other marketing agreements We have received antitrust immunity for certain marketing arrangements which enables us to offer a
more integrated route network and develop common sales, marketing and discount programs for customers Some of our marketing arrangements provide for the
shanng of revenues and expenses Revenues and expenses associated with collaborative arrangements are presented on a gross basis in the applicable line tems on
our Consolidated Statements of Operations

We reclassified certatn prior period amounts to conform to the current penod presentation Unless otherwise noted, all amounts disclosed are stated before
consideration ot mcome taxes

Use of Estimates

We are required to make estimates and assumptions when preparing our Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with GAAP These estimates and
assumptions affect the amounts reported 1n our Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying notes Actual results could differ matenaily from those
estimates

Recent Accounning Standards
Revenue from Contracts with Customers

In May 2014, the Financial Accounung Standards Board ("FASB") 1ssued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with
Customers " Under the new standard, revenue 1s recognized at the time a good or service 1s transferred to a customer for the amount of constderation received for
that specific good or service Entities may use a full retrospective approach or report the cumulative effect as of the date of adoptton

In August 2015, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2015-14, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) Deferral of the Effective Date," that deferred the
effective date by one year to December 15, 2017 for mntenim and annual reporting periods beginning after that date The FASB permitted early adopuion of the
standard, but not before the ongmnal effective date of December 15 2016 We are currently evaluating how the adoption of this standard wall impact our
Consolidated Financial Statements

Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs

During 2015, the FASB 1ssued ASU Nos 2015-03 and 2015-13, related to simplifying the presentation of debt 1ssuance costs These standards amend existing
gwidance to require the presentation of debt 1ssuance costs 1n the balance sheet as a deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt liabality instead of as a
deferred charge It 15 effectrve tor annual reporting pertods beginming after December 15, 2015, but early adoption 1s permitted We early adopted these standards mn
the December 2015 quarter, which we accounted for as a change 1n accounting principle and apphed the gwmidance retrospectuively This change results in a
reclassification of $32 milhon from prepaid expenses and other to current matunues of long-term debt and capitat leases and $84 million from other noncarment
assets to long-term debt and capital leases as of December 31, 2014
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Dusclosures for Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share

In May 2015, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2015-07, "Disclosures for Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or lts
Equivalent) " Under the new standard, investments for which fair value 1s measured at net asset value per share {or its equivalent) using the pracuical expedient will
no longer be categorized in the fair value hierarchy It 15 effective for mterim and annual reperting periods beginning after December 15, 2015, but earty adoption
1s permitted We will adopt thus standard effective January 1, 2016 We are currently assessing how the adoption of this standard will impact our Consolidated
Financial Statements as our pension plan hag a sigmficant number of investments measured at net asset value

Balance Sheer Classificanion of Deferred Taxes

In November 2015, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2015-17, "Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes " This standard requires that deferred tax hatlies
and assets be classtfied as noncurrent on the balance sheet 1t 15 effectsve for interim and annual penods begmning after December 15, 2016, but earty adoption 15
permitted We early adopted thus standard tn the December 2015 quarter, which we accounted for as a change mn accounting principle and applied the gmdance
retrospectively This change results in the reclassification of $3 3 billion from current assets to deferred mcome taxes, net 1n other assets on our December 31, 2014
Consolidated Balance Sheet

Fmancial Instruments

In January 2016, the FASB 1ssued ASU No 2016-01. "Fmancial [nstruments—Cverall (Subtopic 825-10) * This standard makes several modiications to
Subtopic 825-10 including the elimination of the available-for-sale classification of equity mvestments, and requires equity investments with readily determinable
fair values to be measured at fair value with changes in faur value recognized in net income It 15 effective for mtenim and annual periods beginming afier December
15,2017

Our investments in the parent compames of Aeromexico and GOL are currently accounted for as available-for-sale with changes in fair value recognized n
other comprehensive mcome At the titme of adoption, any amounts in accumulated other comprehenstve income/{loss)} ("AOCI") related to equity investments
would be reclassified to non-operating expense/income As of December 31, 2015, a net unrealized loss of $66 million related to these investments was recorded in
ACCI on our Consolidated Balance Sheet

Casht and Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

Short-term, highly t1quid mvestments with matunties of three months or less when purchased are classified as cash and cash equivalents Investments with
maturities of greater than three months, but not 1n excess of one year, when purchased are classified as short-term investments lnvestments with maturities beyend
one year when purchased may be classified as short-term investments 1f they are expected to be available to support our short-term liquidity needs All short-terrn
investments are classified as either available-for-sale or held-to-maturity and realized gamns and losses are recorded using the specific identification method

Accounts Receivable

Accounts recetvable primanily consist of amounts due from credit card compantes from the sale of passenger arrline tickets, customers of our arcraft
maintenance and cargo transportation services and other compantes for the purchase of mileage credits under our frequent fiyer program (the "SkyMiles Program"}
We provide an allowance for uncollectible accounts equal to the esumated osses expected to be mncurred based on historical chargebacks, wnte-offs, bankruptcies
and other specific analyses Bad debt expense was not matertal in any pertod presented

Inventories
Spare Parts Inventories of expendable parts related to fltght equipment, which cannot be econommically repared, reconditioned or reused after removal from the
aircraft are carried at moving average cost and charged to operations as consumed An aliowance for obsolescence 1s provided over the remaimng useful hfe of the

related fleet We alse provide allowances for parts identified as excess or obsolete to reduce the carrying costs to the lower of cost or net realizable value These
parts are assumed to have an estumated residual value of 5% of the onigmal cost
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Refinery Refined product, feedstock and blendstock inventories, all of which are finished goods, are carried at recoverable cost We use jet fuel produced by the
refinery and procured through the exchange with third parties of gasoline, diesel and other refined products ("non-jet fuel products™) the refinery produces in our
arrline operations Cost 15 determined using the first-in first-out method Costs include the raw matenal consumed plus direct manufactunng costs (such as labor,
utilities and supphes) as incurred and an applicable portion of manufacturing overhead

Accounting for Refinery Related Buy/Sell Agreements

To the eatent that we receive Jet fuel for non-jet fuel products exchanged under buy/sell agreements, we account for these transactions as nonmonetary
exchanges We have recorded these nonmonetary exchanges at the carrying amount of the non-jet fuel products transferred withn aircraft fuel and related taxes on
the Consolidated Statements of Operations

Dernwvatives

Changes in aircraft fuel prices, mnterest rates and forergn currency exchange rates impact our results of operations In an effort to manage our exposure to these
nisks, we enter into denvative contracts and adjust our denvative portfolio as market conditions change We recognize denvative contracts at fawr value en our
Consohidated Balance Sheets

Not Designated as Accounting Hedges We do not designate our fuel denivative contracts as accounting hedges We record changes in the fair value of our fuel
hedges 1n aurcraft fuel and related taxes These changes in fair value include settled gains and losses as well as mark-to-market adjustments ("MTM adjustments™)
MTM adjustments are defined as fair value changes recorded 1n periods other than the settlement penod Such farr value changes are not necessanly indicative of
the actual settlement value of the underlying hedge i the contract settlement period

Designated as Cash Flow Hedges For denvative contracts designated as cash flow hedges (interest rate contracts and foreign currency exchange contracts), the
effective portion of the gain or loss on the derivative 1s reported as a component of AQCI and reclassified mto carmings 1 the same period n whach the hedged
transaction affects earmings The effective portion of the denvative represents the change n fair value of the hedge that offsets the change m fair value of the
hedged stem To the extent the change in the fair value of the hedge does not perfectly offset the change 1n the fair value of the hedged item, the 1neffective portion
of the hedge 15 iImmediatety recogmzed tn other expense

Designated as Fawr Value Hedges For denvative contracts designated as fair value hedges (interest rate contracts), the gain or loss on the derivative 1s reported
in earnings and an equivalent amount 15 reflected as a change 1n the carrying value of long-term debt and capitai leases, with an offsettng loss or gain recogmzed mn
current earmings We include the gain or loss on the hedged item 1n the same account as the offsetting loss or gain on the related denvative contract, resulting in no
impact to our Consolhidated Statements of Operations

The following table summarizes the risk each type of derivauve contract 1s hedging and the classification of related gains and losses on our Consolhidated
Statements of Operations

Denvative Type Hedged Risk Classification of Gans and Losses
Fuel hedge contracts Increases n jet fuel prices Aarcraft fuel and related taxes
Interest rate contracts Increases n interest rates Interest expense, net
Foreign currency exchange contracts Fluctuattons i foreign currency exchange rates Passenger revenue

The followmg table summanizes the accounting treatment of our dervative contracts

Impact of Unrealuized Gains and Losses

Accounting Designation Effectsve Portion Ineffective Portion
Not designated as hedges Change in fair value of hedge 1s recorded in earmings
Designated as cash flow hedges Market adjustments are recorded 1n AOCI Excess ifany over effecuve portion of hedge 15
recorded 1n other expense
Designated as fair value hedges Market adjustments are recorded m long-term  Excess, 1f any, over effective portion of hedge 1s
debt and capial leases recorded in other expense
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We perform, at least quarterly, an assessment of the effectiveness of our denvative contracts designated as hedges, including assessing the possibihity of
counterparty default Ifwe determme that a derivative 1s nto longer expected to be haghly effecuive, we discontinue hedge accounting prospectively and recogmize
subsequent changes n the fair value of the hedge n earmings We believe our dervative contracts that continue to be designated as hedges, consisting of interest
rate and foreign currency exchange contracts, will continue to be mghly effective m offsettmg changes i fair value or cash flow respectively, attributable to the
hedged nsk

Cash flows associated with purchasing and setthing hedge contracts generally are classified as operating cash flows However, 1f a hedge contract includes a
significant financing element at mception, cash flows associated with the hedge contract are recorded as financing cash flows

Hedge Margin In accordance with our fuel interest rate and foreign currency hedge contracts we may require counterpartics to fund the margin assocrated
with our gain position and/or counterparties may require us to fund the margin associated with our loss pesition on these contracts The amount of the margin, 1f
any, 1s peniodically adjusted based on the fair value of the hedge contracts The margin requirements arc miended to mitigate a party's exposure to the nsh of
contracting party default We do not offset margin funded to counterpariies or margin funded to us by counterparties against fair value amounts recorded for our
hedge contracts

The hedge margin we receive from counterparties 15 recorded 1n cash and cash equivalents or prepaid expenses and other wath the offsetting obligation in
accounts payable The hedge margin we provide to counterparties 1s recorded m hedge margm recervable

Passenger Tickets

We record sales of passenger tickets in arr traffic liabihity Passenger revenue 1s recogrized when we provide transportation or when the ticket expires unused,
reducing the related air traffic labiliy We penodically evaluate the estmated air traffic Lability and record any adjustments in our Consclidated Statements of
Operations These adjustments relate pnmanly to refunds, exchanges, transactions with other arrlines and other items for which final settlement occuts in penods
subsequent to the sale of the related tickets at amounts other than the ongmal sales price

Passenger Taxes and Fees

We are required to charge certain taxes and fees on our passenger tickets including U S federal transportation taxes federal security charges awrport passenger
facility charges and foreign arrival and departure taxes These 1axes and fees are assessments on the customer for which we act as a cellection agent Because we
are not entitled to retain these 1axes and fees, we do net include such amounts n passenger revenue We record a hability when the amounts are collected and
reduce the hability when payments are made to the applicable government agency ot operating carrier

Frequent Flyer Program

Qur SkyMules Program offers incentives to travel on Delta This program allows customers to earn mileage credits by flying on Delta, Delta Connectien and
arrlines that participate in the SkyMiles Program, as well as through participating comparies such as credit card compames, hotels and car rental agencies We seli
muileage credits to non-airline businesses, customers and other airlines Effecuve January 1, 2015, the SkyMiles program was modified from a model i which
customers earn redeemable mileage credits based on distance traveled to a model based on ticket price This award change did not affect the way we account for
the program

The SkyMiles Program includes two types of transactions that are considered revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables As discussed below, these are
(1) passenger tickel sales earming mileage credits and (2) the sale of mileage credits to participating companies with which we have marketing agreements Mileage
credits are a separate umit of accounting as they can be redeemed by customers n finture periods for air travel on Delta and participating awrlines, membership in our
Sky Club and other program awards

Passenger Ticket Sales Earming Mileage Credits Passenger ticket sales earming mileage credits under our SkyMiles Program provide customers with two
deliverables (1) mleage credits eamed and (2) air transportation We value each deliverable on a standalone basis Our estimate of the selling price of a mileage
credit 1s based on an analysis of our sales of mileage creduis (o other airtnes and customers which 1s re-evaluated at least annually We use established ticket prices
to determine the estimated selling price of air transportation We allocate the totzl amount collected from passenger ticket sales between the deliverables based on
their relative selling prices
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We defer revenue for the mileage creduts related to passenger tuchet sates when the credits are earned and recogmize it as passenger revenue when miles are
redeemed and services are provided We record the air transportanion portion of the passenger ticket sales in air traffic hability and recogmze these amounts in
passenger revenue when we provide transportation or when the tichet expires unused

Sale of Mileage Credits Customers may earn mileage credits through participating compantes such as credit card companies, hotels and car rental agencies with
which we have marketing agreements to sell mileage credits Qur contracts to sell miteage credits under these marketing agreements have multiple deliverables as
defined below

Our most significant contract to sell mileage credits relates 1 our co-brand credit card relationshup with Amencan Express Qur agreements with American
Express provide for joint marketing grant certain benefits to Delta-Amencan Express co-branded credit card holders ("Cardholders™) and Amencan Express
Membership Rewards Program participants and allow American Express to market using our customer database Cardholders eam mileage credits for making
purchases using co-branded cards, may check their first bag for free are granted discounted access to Delta Sky Club lounges and recetve other benefits while
traveling on Delta These benefits that we provide in the form of separate producis and services under the SkyMiles agreements are referred 1o as "deliverables *
Addittonally participants in the Amenican Express Membership Rewards program may exchange their points for miuleage credits under the SkyMiles Program Asa
result, we sell mileage credits at agreed-upon rates to Amenican Express for provision to their customers under the co-brand credit card program and the
Membership Rewards program

In December 2014, we amended our marketing agreements with American Express which increased the value we recerve under the agreements and extended
the term to 2022 The amended agreements became effective Januany 1, 2015 The deliverables under the amended agreements are substantially similar to the
previous agreement We account for the amended agreements consistent with the accounting method adopted in September 2013 that allocates the consideration
recewved to the individual products and services delivered based on their relative selling prices {discussed below} The wncreased value received under the amended
agreements increases the amount of deferred revenue for the travel component and increases the value of the other deliverables which are recognized in other
revenue as they are provided

In September 2013, we modified our marketing agreements with Amencan Express, which required us to change the accounting methed for recording SkyMiles
sold Under the previous method, the embedded premium or discount was allocated to the residual products or services in a combined transaction The new method
allocates consideration recerved based on the relative selling price of each product or service We determined our best estimate of the selling prices by considening
discounted cash flow analysis using multiple inputs and assumptions, including (I ) the expected number of miles awarded and number of miles redeemed, (2) the
rate at which we sell mileage credus to other airlines, (3) published rates on our website for baggage fees, discounted access to Delta Sky Club lounges and other
benefits while traveling on Delta and (4) brand value The impact of adopting the relative selling price method re-allocated a portton of the embedded discount 1o
the travel component, lowening the deferral rate we use to record miles sold under the agreements and increasing revenue recognized on the remaiming deliverables

We recognize revenue as we dehiver each sales element We defer the travel deliverable (mileage credsts) as part of frequent flyer deferred revenue and
recogmize passenger revenue as the nmleage credits are used for travel The revenue allocated to the remaining deliverables 1s recorded iz other revenue We
recognize the revenue for these services as they are performed

Breakage For miieage credits that we estimate are not likely to be redeemed (“breahage”), we recogmze the associated value proportionally duning the period
n which the remaining mileage credits are expected to be redeemed Management uses statistical models to estimate breakage based on historical redemption
patterns A change 1n assumptions as to the pertod over which mileage credits are expected to be redeemed, the actual redemption activity for mileage credits or the
estimated fair value of mileage credits expected to be redeemed could have a material impact on our revenue 1n the year in which the change occurs and n future
years
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Regronal Carriers Revenue

Our regional carniers mclude both our contract carrier agreements with third-party regional carriers ("contract carners”) and our wholly -owned subsidhary,
Endeavor In May 2013, Endeavor emerged from bankrupicy and we became 1ts sole owner pursuant to a confirmed plan of reorgamization

Qur contract camer agreements are structured as either (1) capacity purchase agreements where we purchase all or a portion of the contract carner's capacity
and are responsible for selling the seat inventory we purchase or (2) revenue proration agreements which are based on a fixed dollar or percentage division of
revenues for tickets sold to passengers traveling on connecting flight itineraries We record revenue related to our contract carniers and Endeavor i regional
carriers passenger revenue and the related expenses wn regional carriers expense
Cargo Revenue

Cargo revenue 1s recogmzed when we provide the transportation
Other Revenue

Other revenue 15 pnmarily compnsed of (1) the non-travel components of the sale of mileage credits discussed above, (2) baggage fee revenue, (3) other
rmscellaneous service revenue, including ticket change fees, (4) revenue from ancillary businesses, such as the aircraft maintenance and repair and staffing services
we provide to thurd parties and (5) sales of nen-jet fuel products to third parties by our o1l refinery

Long-Lived Assets

The following table summarizes our property and equipment

December 31,

(i emllions, except for estimated oseful bfe) Fstimated Useful Life 018 2014
Flight equupment 20-32 years 3 26,057 § 24,313
Ground property and equipment 3-40 years 5,862 5,198
Fhight and ground equipment under capital leases Shorter of lease term or esumated useful Iife 1,112 1,141
Advance payments for equpment 879 617
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization () (10,871} (9 340)
Total property and equipment, net $ 23,039 § 21,929

0 Includes accumulated amorhization for flight and ground equipment under capital leases in the amount of $782 milhion and $767 million at December 31 2015 and 2014 respectively

We record propenty and equipment at cost and depreciate or amortize these assets on a straight-line basis to their estumated residual values over their estimated
useful lives The estimated useful hife for leasehold improvements 1s the shorter of lease term or estiimated useful life Depreciation and amortization expense
related to our property and equipment was $1 8 billion , $1 7 bithon and $1 6 billion for each of the years ended December 31 2015 2014 and 2013 , respectively
Residual values for owned aircraft, engines, spare parts and simulators are generally 5% to 10% of cost

We capitalize certain mternal and external costs incurred to develop and implement software, and amortize those costs over an esumated useful life of three to
seven years Included in the depreciation and amortization expense discussed above, we recorded $148 mullion , $129 mullion and $110 mulhion for amortization of
capitahized software for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 | respectively The net book value of these assets totaled $420 million and $411
million at December 31 2015 and 2014 respectively

We record imparment losses on flight equipment and other long-lived assets used in operations when events and circumstances indicate the assets may be
impaired and the estimated future cash flows generated by those assets are less than thewr carrying amounts Factors which could cause impairment mclude, but are
not ltmited to, (1} a decision to permanently remove flight equipment or other long-hived assets from operations, (2) significant changes in the esiimated useful hife,
(3) sigmficant changes 1n projected cash flows (4) permanent and significant declines in fleet fair values and (5) changes to the regulatory environment For long-
lived assets held for sale, we discontimue depreciation and record imparment losses when the carry ing amount of these assets Is greater than the farr value less the
cost to sell
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To determine whether impairments exist for arrcraft used in operations, we group assets at the fleet-type level (the lowest level for which there are 1dentifiable
cash flows) and then estmate future cash flows based on projections of capacity, passenger mile yield, fuel costs labor costs and other relevant factors If an
impairment occurs the impairment loss recogiuzed 1s the amount by which the fleet's carrying amount exceeds 1ts estimated fair value We estimate aircrafi fair
values using published sources, appraisals and bids recetved from third parties as available

Goadwill and Other Intangible Assets

Our goodwill and rdentifiable intangible assets relate to the airline segment We apply a tair value-based impaimnent test to the carrying value of goodwill and
mdefintte-hived iniangible assets on an annual basis (as of October 1) and, if certamn events or circumstances indicate that an impatrment less may have been
mncurred on &n ntenim basis We assess the value of our goodwill and indefinite-hved assets under either a qualitative or quantiiative approach Under a qualitative
approach, we consider vantous market factors including the key assumptions listed below We analyze these factors to determine if events and circumstances have
affected the farr value of goodwill and indefimite-lived intangible assets 1f we determine that it 1s more likely than not that the asset may be impaired, we use the
quantitative approach to assess the asset’s fair value and the amount of the impaunnent Under a quantitative approach we calculate the fair value of the asset using
the key assumptions hsted below If the asset's carrying value exceeds 1ts fair vatue calculated using the quantitative approach, we will record an impamrment charge
for the difference in fair value and carrying value

We value goodwill and indefinite-hived intangible assets pnimanly using market capitahzation and income approach valuation techmques These measurements
include the following key assumptions (1) forecasted revenues, expenses and cash flows, (2} termenal peniod revenue growth and cash flows, (3) an estumated
weighted average cost of capital (4) assumed discount rates depending on the asset and (5) a tax rate These assumptions are consistent with those hypotheucal
market participants would use Since we are required to make estimales and assumpttons when evaluating goodwill and mdefinite-lived intangble assets for
impaimment, actual transaction amounts may differ materzally from these estimates

Changes 1n certain events and circumstances could result in impairment Factors which could cause impairment include, but are not hinuted to, (1} ncgative
trends i our market capitaltzation, (2) reduced profitability resulting from lower passenger mile yields or higher input costs (pnmanly related to fuel and
employees) (3) lower passenger demand as a result of weakened U § and global economies, (4) mterruption o our operations due to a prolonged employee strike,
terrornist attack, or other reasons, (3) changes 1o the regulatory environment (e g , dimimshed slot restricions or additional Open Skies agreements), (6) competitive
changes by other airhines and (7) strategic changes to our operatiens leading to diminished utilization of the intangible assets

Goodwill When we evaluate goodwill for impairment using a quantitative approach, we estimate the fair value of the reporting unit by considening both market
capuitalization and projected discounted future cash flows (an ncome approach) If the reporting unit's farr value exceeds its carrying value, no further testing 1s
required If however, the reporting umt's carrying value exceeds its fair value, we then determme the amount of the impairment charge if any We recognize an
impaiment charge 1f the carrying value of the reporting unit's goodwill exceeds its estimated fair value

ldennfiable Intangible Assets Tndefinite-lived assets are not amortized and consist of routes, slots, the Delta tradename and assets related to SkyTeam Defimte-
lived mtangible assets consist pnmarily of marketing agreements and are amortized on a straight-line basis or under the undiscounted cash flows method over the
estimated economic l1fe of the respective agreements Costs incurred to renew or extend the term of an intangible asset are expensed as incurred

We assess our indefintte-lived assets under a quatitative or quantitative approach We analyze market factors to determine tf events and circumstances have
affected the fair value of the indefinite-lived intangible assets If we determine that 1t 1s more Jikely than not that the asset value may be impaired, we use the
quantrtative approach to assess the asset's fair value and the amount of the impairment We perform the quantitauve impairment test for indefinite-lived intangable
assets by comparing the asset's fair value to 11s carrying value Fair value 15 estunated based on (1) recent market transactions, where available, {2) the royalty
methed for the Delta tradename {(which assumes hypothetical royalties generated from using our tradename) or (3) projected discounted future cash flows (an
mcome approach) We recogmze an impawrment charge 1f the asset’s carrying value exceeds 1ts estimated fair value
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Income Taxes

We account for deferred income taxes under the habahity method We recogmize deferred tax assets and habihities based on the tax effects of temporary
differences between the financial statement and tax basis of assets and habihiies as measured by current enacted tax rates Deferred tax assets and habihinies are
recorded net as noncurrent deferred mcome taxes A valuation allowance 15 recorded to reduce deferred tax assets when necessary

Manufacturers' Credits

We peradically receive credits in connection with the acquisition of awrcraft and engines These credits are deferred until the awrcrafi and engines are delivered,
and then applied as a reduction to the cost of the related equipment

Mamtenance Costs

We record mamtenance costs to arcraft maintenance materials and outside repairs Maintenance costs are expensed as incurred, except for costs incurred under
power-by-the-hour contracts which are expensed based on actual hours flown Power-by-the-hour contracts transfer certam risk to thard-party service providers and
fix the amount we pay per flight hour to the service provider in exchange for maintenance and repairs under a predefined maintenance program Modifications that
enhance the operating performance or extend the useful lives of arrframes or engines are capitalized and amortized over the remaming estimated uscful ife of the
assel or the remaming lease term, whichever 1s shorter

Advernising Costs

We expense advertising costs i passenger commissions and other selling expenses m the year mcurred Advertising expense was approximately $225 million
for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 , respectively

Commusstons

Passenger sales commussions are recognized in operating expense when the related revenue is recogmred
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NOTE 2 FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
Fair value 1s defined as an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a hability 1n an orderly transaction
berween market participants Fair value 1s a markel-based measurement that 1s determined based on assumptions that market participants would use 1n pnicing an
asset or hability
+  Level 1 Obsenvable inputs such as quoted prices mn actinve markets
* Level 2 Inputs, other than quoted prices in active markets, that are observable enther directly or indirectly, and
+ Level 3 Unobservable mputs in which there 1s little or no market data which require the reporting entity to develop 1ts own assumptions
Assets and habilies measured at fair value are based on the valuation techmiques denufied in the tables below The valuanon techniques are as follows

(a) Market approach Prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions mvolving identical or comparable assets or Liabihities, and

{b) Income approach Techmques to convert future amounts to a single present amount based on market expectations (including present value techmiques,
option-pricing and excess eamings models)

Assets (Liabillties) Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis (1

December 31, 2015

Valuation
(10 mllions) Total Level 1 Level 2 Technigue
Cash equivalents $ 1,543 § 1543 % —_ {a)
Short-term investments
U S government and agency secunties 151 74 77 (a)
Asset- and morigage-backed secunties 380 — 380 (a)
Corporate obligations 896 — 896 (a}
QOther fixed mcome securnities 38 — 38 (a)
Restricied cash equivatents and investments 49 49 — (a)
Long-term investments 155 130 25 (a)
Hedge denivatives, net
Fuel hedge contracts 672) 65 (737 {a)(b)
interest rate contract 3 — (3 {a}b)
Foreign currency exchange contracts 94 — 94 (a)
December 31, 2014 Valuation
{in milhens) Total Level [ Level 2 Techmque
Cash equivalents $ 1612 § 1.612 § —_ (a)
Short-term mvestments
U S government securities 59 —_ 59 (a)
Assel- and morigage-backed secunities 392 - 392 (a)
Corporate obligations 749 — 749 (a)
(Onher fixed mcome securities 17 —_ 17 (a)
Restricted cash equivalents and investments 37 37 — (a)
Long-term investments 118 90 28 {a)
Hedge denvatives, net
Fuel hedge contracts (1,848) (16T (1,681) (a)(b}
Interest rate contract N — (M (a)(b}
Foreign currency exchange contracts 73 -— 73 {a)

" See Note 9, “Employee Benefit Plans,” for fair value of benefit plan assets
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Cash Equrvalents and Restricted Cash Equivalents and Imestments Cash equivalents penerally consist of money market funds Restricted cash equivalents and
investments generally consist of money market funds and time deposits, which pnmanly support letters of credit that relate to certain projected self-insurance
obligations and airport commutments The fair value of these mvestments 15 based on a marhet approach using prices and other relevant information generated by
market transactions involving 1dentical or comparable assets

Short-Term Investments The farr values of short-term investments are based on a marhet approach using industry standard valuation techmques that incorporate
observable mputs such as quoted market prices mterest rates benchmark curves credit ratings of the secunity and other observable mnformation

Long-Term Imestments Our long-term mvestments that are measured at fair value prmartly consist of equity mvestments 1n Grupo Aeromexico, the parent
company of Aeroméxico, and GOL Linhas Aereas Inteligentes the parent company of VRG Linhas Aereas (operating as GOL) Shares of the parent companies of
Aeroméxico and GOL are traded on public exchanges and we have valued our investments based on quoted market prices The mvestments are classified in other
noncurrent assets

Hedge Derivatives A portion of our denvative contracts are negotiated over-the-counter with counterparties without gowng through a pubhic exchange
Accardingly, our fair value assessments give consideration 10 the nisk of counterparty default (as well as our own credit nisk) Such contracts are classified as Level
2 withun the fair value hierarchy The remaimder of our hedge contracts are comprised of futures contracts, which are traded on a public exchange These contracts
are classified within
Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy

»  Fuel Contracts Qur fuel hedge portfolio consists of options, swaps and futures The hedge contracts include crude oil, desel fuel and jet fuel, as these
commeodities are mghly correlated with the price of jet fuel that we consume Option contracts are valued under an income approach using option pricing
models based on data either readily observable in public markets denved from public markets or previded by counterparties who regularly trade i public
markets Volatilities used 1n these valuations ranged from 31% to 53% depending on the maturity dates, underlying commodities and strike prices of the
option contracts Swap contracts are valued under an income approach using a discounted cash flow model based on data either readily observable or
provided by counterparties who regularly trade i public markets Discount rates used m these valuations vary with the maturity dates of the respective
contracts and are based on the London interbank offered rate ("LIBOR™} Futures contracts and options on futures contracts are traded on a public exchange
and valued based on quoted market pnices

+ Interest Rate Contract Our mierest rate derivative 1s a swap contract, which 1s vatued based on data readily observable in public markets

+  Foreign Currency Exchange Contracts Our foreign currency derivatives consist of Japanese yen and Canadian dollar forward contracts and are valued
based on data readily observable in public markets

NOTE 3 INVESTMENTS
Short-Term Investments

The estimated fair values of short-term 1nvestments, which approximate cost at December 31, 2015 | are shown below by contractual matunty Actual
maturities may differ from contractual matunties because 1ssuers of the securtties may have the nght to retire our investments without prepayment penalties

Available-

(10 milhons) For-Sale
Due 1n one year or less g 344
Due after one year through three years 905
Due after three vears through five years ) 116
Due after five years 100
Total 3 1,465
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Long-Term Investments

We have developed strategic relationships with centamn awlines through equity investments and other forms of cooperation and support These strategic
relationships are impertant to us as they improve coordmation with these airlines and enable our customers to seamlessly reach more destinations

Aeromexico 1n order to expand our economuc interest i1 Aeroméxico, we entered 1nto a derivative contract for 58 9 million shares of Aeroméxico’s parent
company Through the mterest n the denivative we will participate in the increases and decreases i value of the shares and record those changes m other
expense on the Consolidated Statements of Operations At the mamrity date of the derivative contract, we may acquire all or a portion of the shares or setile
in cash Ifthe denvative term 15 not extended, the dernivative will mature 1n May 2016 We have also announced our intention to commence a tender offer for
additional caputal stock of Grupo Aeromexico {the parent company of Aeromextco) that would result in us owning up to 49% of the outstanding shares

GOL Dunng 2015, we acquired preferred shares of GOL's parent company for $50 mullion , increasing our ownership to 9 5% of GOL's outstanding capttal
stock Additonally GOL entered nto a $300 miilion five -year term loan facility with third paries which we have guaranteed Our guaranty 1s prrmaniy
secured by GOL's ownership mterest in Smiles, GOL’s publicly -traded loy alty program As GOL rematns in comphance with the terms of its loan facilaty,
we have not recorded a hability on our Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2015 In conjuncuion with these transactions, we and GOL agreed
to extend our existing commercial agreements

GOL’s financial performance 1s closely linked with the Brazilian economy, which has recently expenenced GDP contractton, high inflation and a
weakening of the Brazilian Real These challenges and GOL s recent financial performance have caused the fair value of our investment in GOL’s parent
company shares to decline to $21 milhion with the $84 millien loss recorded 1n AOCI at December 31, 2015 As GOL’s shares have traded below our cost
basis for the majonity of the last year, we evaluated whether the investment was other-than-temporanly impaired We considered the recent conditions and
outlook for both GOL and the broader Brazilian economy and the nature of our investment in GOL As a result, we determined that the ivestment was not
impaired as GOL’s management 15 implementing plans to maximize operational and network efficiency and control costs which we anticipate will improve
GOL’s financial performange In addinon, similar 1o our investments in other international arrlines, GOL 1s a strategic investment for Delta, which operates
as an extension of our global network We have the intent and ability to hold our mvestment in GOL for a penod of tume sufficient to allow for the recovery
of its market value

China Eastern During 2015, we acquired shares of China Eastern for $450 mailion , which provides us with a 3 5% siake in the airline as of December 31
2015 In conjunction with this transaction we and China Eastern entered into a new commercial agreement o expand our relationship and better connect the
networks of the two arrlines  As the investment agreement restricts our sale or transfer of these shares for a peniod of three years, we will account for the
mvestment at cost during this period Although China Eastern shares are actively traded on a public exchange, it 1s not practicable to estimate the tar value
of the investment due 1o the restriction on our abulity 1o sell or transfer the shares

We have however evaluated whether the recent decline 1n the value of China Eastern's shares would impair our mvestment We considered the recent
conditions and outlock for both Chma Eastern and the broader Chinese economy, as well as the nature of our investment m China Eastern As a result, we
deterrmuned that the mvestment was not impaired as the share price decline primartly results from turmoil 1 the Chinese equity markets and 15 not specific to
China Eastern's financial performance In addition, stular to our investments in other intemnational airhines, China Eastern 1s a strategic investment for
Delta, which operates as an extension of our global network We have the intent and ability to hold our investment in China Eastern for a period of ime
sufficient 1o allow for the recovery of its market vatue

Equity Method Investment

Virgin Atlansie  In June 2013, we purchased a non-controlling 49% equuty stake in Virgin Atlantic Limited, the parent company of Virgin Atlantic Atrways ,
for $360 million In addition, effective January 1, 2014 we began an antirust immumized joint venture with Virgin Atlantic, which allows for joint marketing and
sales coordinated pnicing and revenue management, network planning and scheduling and other coordinated activities with respect to operations on routes between
Notth America and the United Kingdom  As a result of this relationship, our customers have increased access and frequencies to London's Heathrow airport from
points in the U S, pnmarntly from our hub at New York's JFK airpornt
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We account for the investment under the equity method of accounting and recogmze our portion of Virgin Atlantic's financial results in other expense i our
Consolidated Statements of Operations As part of the equuty method of accounting, we allocated the i estment in Virgin Atlantic to (1) our portion of thewr
equity, {2) adjustments 1 the fair market value of assets and habihities and (3) implied goodwill

NOTE 4 DERIVATIVES AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Changes 1n aircrafl fuel prices, interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates impact our results of operations In an effort to manage our exposure to these
risks, we enter mto dervative contracts and adjust our denvative portfolio as market conditions change

Atrcraft Fuel Price Risk

Changes 1n atrcraft fuet prices matenally impact our results of operations We actively manage our filel price nisk through a hedging program mtended to reduce
the financial impact from changes n the pnice of jet fuel We utihize difterent contract and commodity types 1n this program and frequently test their economic
effectiveness against our financial targets We closely monitor the hedge portfolio and rebalance the portfolio based on market conditions, which may resuit in
locking n gains or losses on hedge contracts prior to their settlement dates During the years ended December 31 2015 and 2014 , we recorded fuel hedge losses
of $741 milhon and $2 0 lllion , respectively

During 2015 we effectively deferred setilement of a portion of our hedge portfolio until 2016 by entering into fuel denvative transactions that, excluding
market movements from the date of inception, would settle and provide approximately $300 mullion 1n cash receipts during the secong half of 2015 and require
approximately $300 mulion in cash payments in 2016 By effectively deferning settlement of a portion of the original dervative transactions, the restructured hedge
portfolic provided additional ime for the fiel market to stabihze We early terminated certain of these deferral transactions i 2015 As a result we reported 3429
mullion 1 cash receipts and $71 mullion in cash payments associated with these deferral transactions as cash flows from financing activities on our Consohidated
Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended December 31, 2015

Due to the continued volatility in the fuel market, dunng January and February 2016, we entered into additional deferral transactions to further defer settlement
of a portion of our hedge portfolio until 2017 These deferral transactions, excluding market movements from the date of inception, will settle and provide
approximately $300 mulion 1n cash receipts during the second half of 2016 and require approximately $300 million i cash payments in 2017 We will report the
cash recetpts and cash payments associated with these deferral transactions as cash flows from financing activities on our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

During the December 2015 quarter we entered into hedges designed to offset and effectively terminate our existing hedge positions for the March 2016
quarter In January 2016, we continued this process for substantially all of our positions with contract settlement dates through December 31, 2016 As a result, we
have both neutralized our hedge portfolio and locked in cash pavments of approximately $725 mullien 1n 2016, includmng the deferral transactions discussed above

Interest Rate Risk

Our exposure to market risk from adverse changes in interest rates 1s pnmanly associated with our long-term debt obligations Market nsk associated with our
fixed and varable rate long-term debt relates to the potential reduction 1n fair value and negative impact to future earnngs, respectively, from an increase
interest rates

In an effort to manage our exposure to the nish associated with our variable rate long-term debt, we periodically enter into interest rate swaps We designate
interest rate contracts used to converd the interest rate exposure on a portion of our debt portfolio from a floating rate to a fixed rate as cash flow hedges, while
those contracts converting our interest rate exposure from a fixed rate to a floating rate are designated as fair value hedges Duning 2014, we termmmnated our
remaining mterest rate swap agreements designated as cash flow hedges 1 connection with the extingmshment of the underlying debt

We also have exposure to market nsk from adverse changes in interest rates associated wath our cash and cash equivalents and benefit plan obhigahons Market
risk associated with our cash and cash equivalents relates to the potential decline 1n interest income from a decrease in interest rates Pension, postretirement
postemployment and warker's compensation obligation risk relates to the potential increase n our future obligations and expenses from a decrease tn interest rates
used to discount these obligations

70




Table of Copjenis
Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We are subject to foreign currency exchange rate nsh because we have revenue and expense denominated in foreign currencres with our primary exposures
being the Japanese yen and Canadian dollar To manage exchange rate nsk, we execute both our international revenue and expense transactions 1n the same foreign
currency to the extent practicable From tme to ume we may also enter mnto foreign currency option and forward contracts These foreign currency exchange
contracts are designated as cash flow hedges

Durmg 2014, we restructured certan foreign currency exchange contracts by re-hedging ¢xposures at current market levels resulting m an unrealized gain of
$150 million  The gamn on these contracts was recognized during 2015 in accordance with their onginal contract settlement dates

Hedge Position as of December 31, 2015

Hedge Other Hedge Other
Final Matunty  Dervatives Noncurrent Denvatives Noncurrent Hedge
(1 milhons) Volume Date Assct Assets Liability Liabthties Dernvatives, aet
Designated as hedges
Interest rate contract {fare 384 US dollars August 2022 § 4s — s — M s @)
value hedge)
Foreign currency exchange 46,920 Japanese yen
July 2018 76 20 1 1 94
contracts 395 Canadian dollars i M M
Not designated os hedges
gallons - crude o1l diesel  November
Fuel hedge contracts 887 and et fucl 2017 1,907 4 (2 580) (3) (672)
Total denvative contracts $ 1987 § 24 3 (2,581) § (1) $ {581)
Hedge Position as of December 31, 2014
Hedge Other Hedge Other Hedge
Final Matunty  Derivatives Noncurrent Denvatives Noncurrent Denvatives,
{in milhons) Yolume Date Asset Assets Liability Liabilities net
Designated us hedges
{nterest rate contract {fair
value hedge) 416 US dollars August 2022 § 58 — 3 — 3 (12) § (7
F 77,576 lapanese ven
oreign currency exchange panesey October 2017 25 49 (n — 73
contracts 511 Canadian dollars
Not designated as hedges
gallons - crude o1l, diese!  December
Fuel hedge contracts 3,286 and et fuel 2016 1048 3 (2,771) (128) (1,848)
Total denvative contracts b3 1,078 § 52 % (2,772) § (140) $ (1,782)

Offsetting Assets and Liabilitres

We have master netting arrangements with all of our counterparties giving us the night of setoff We have elected not to offset the fair value positions recorded
on our Consolidated Balance Sheets The following table shows the potential net farr value positions had we elected to offset

Hedge Dervatives Other Moncurrent Del:l:daiies Other Noncurrent Hedge
{in rullions) Asset Assets Liabihty Ltabilittes Dernvatives, Net
December 31, 2015
Net derivative contracts $ 143 § 21 3 (737 § 8 $ (581)
December 31, 2014
Net derivative contracts $ 29 % 49 3 (1,723) § {137 § {1,782)
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Designated Hedge Gams (Losses)

Gains (losses) related to our designated hedge contracts during the vears ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 are as follows

Eftective Porion Reclassified from AOCI to Effective Portton Recognized in Other
Earnmgs Comprehensive (Loss) Income
{tn milhons) 2018 2014 2013 2015 2014 2013
Interest rate contracts $ — 3 @Bns —_ 3 — 3 38 § 28
Foreign currency exchange contracts 198 158 135 {130) (34) 133
Total designated $ 198 $ 127 § 135 § (130) § 4 3 161

As of December 31, 2015, we have recorded $75 milhion of net gains on cash flow hedge contracts in AOCI which are scheduled to settle and be reclassified
mio earnings within the next 12 months

Credit Risk

To manage credit risk associated with our aircraft fuel price, interest rate and foreign currency hedging programs we cvaluate counterparties based on several
critena including their credit ratings and limit our exposure to any one counterparty

Qur hedge contracts contam margm funding requirements The margin funding requrements may cause us to post margin to counterparties or may cause
counterparties to post margn to us as market prices 1 the underlymg hedged items change Due to the fair value position of our hedge contracts we posted margin
of $119 million and $925 rmullion as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 | respectively

Our accounts receivable are generated largely from the sale of passenger airhine tickets and cargo transportation services, the majority of which are processed
through major credit card compames We also have receivables from the sale of miteage credits under our SkyMiles Program to participating airlines and non-
airtine businesses such as credit card companies, hotels and car rental agencies The credit nsk associated with our recenvables 18 minimal
Self-Insurance Risk

We self-msure a portion of our losses from clauns related to workers’ compensation, environmental issues, property damage, medical insurance for employees

and general liability Losses are accrued based on an estimate of the aggregate liabality for claims mncurred, using independent actuarial reviews based on standard
industry practices and our historical expenence
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NOTE S INTANGIBLE ASSEILS
Indefinste-Lived Intangible Assets

Carrying Value at December 31,

{mn mullons) 2015 2014

International routes and slots $ 2,563 § 2,287
Delta tradename 850 850
rSkyTcarn-rcl.'sucd assets 661 661
Domestic slots 622 622
Total 3 4,696 § 4420

International Routes and Sfots Our international routes and slots pnmanly relate to Pacific route authonties and stots at Tokyo-Narita and London-Heathrow
aiports Dunng the December 2015 quarter, we acquired six London-Heathrow slot pairs for $276 million we previouslv leased from Auwr France-KLM

Domesiic Slots Our domestic slots relate to our slots at New York-LaGuardia and Washington-Reagan National airports

Changes to our operations could result in an tmpairment charge or a change from indefinite-lived to definite-lived 1n the period mn which the changes oceur or
are projected to occur

Definite-Lived Intangible Assets

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014
Gross Gross

Carrying Accumulated Carrywg Accumulated
{in mlhons) Value Amortzation Value Amortzation
Marketing agreements 3 730 $ (658) $ 730 $ (648)
Contracts 193 (100} 193 (92)
Other 53 {53) 53 {33)
Total 3 976 § 811y § 976 $ (793)

Amaortization expense was $18 mullion , $55 million and $70 mullion for the years ended December 31 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively We estimate that
we will incur approximately $17 million of amortization expense annually through 2020
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NOTE 6 LONG-TERM DEBT

The following table summanzes our long-term debt

Matunty Interest Rate(s} Per Annum at December 31,

(10 mitlions) Dates December 31, 2015 2015 2014
Pacific Facilies (1}

Pacific Termn Loan B-1 October 2018 325% variable ¢ 1,067 § 1,078

Pacific Term Loan B-2 % Apnt 2016 267% varable @ 388 392

Pacific Revolving Credut Facility 2017 10 2018 undrawn vanable & — —
2015 Credit Facilitgs (¥

Term Loan Facility 2 August 2022 325% vanable & 499 —

Revolving Credit Facility August 2020 undrawn vartable ¢4 — -—
2011 Credit Faciliues

Term Loan Facility n/a n/a n/a — 1,327

Revolving Credit Facility n/a n/a nfa -— —_
Financing arrangements secured by atrcraft

Certificates 2016 w0 2027 363% to 9 75% 3264 3,226

Notes & 2016 to 2027 083% to 6 76% 2,564 2,988
Other financings G4 2016 w0 2031 224% to 875% 316 458
Other revolving credit facilines 016 o 2017 undrawn vanabie ¥ — —
Total secured and unsecured debt 8,098 9,469
Unamortized discount and debt 1ssue cost net T (152) {206)
Total debt 7.946 9,263
Less current matuntics {1415) (1,075)
Total long-term debt 6,531 $ 8,188

1
@
(L)
Lo}

5)

Guaranteed by substantially all of our domestic subsidianes {the "Guarantors”)

Borrowings must be repaid annually in an amount equal to t% per year of the original princepal amount {patd 1n equal quarterly instaliments), with the balance due on the final matunty date

Due in nstaliments

Interest rate equal to LIBOR (generally subject to a floor) or another index rate, in each case plus a speaified margin Additienally, certain arcraft and other financings are compnsed of

vanable rate debt
Primanly includes loans secured by certain accounts recervable and real estate

2015 Debt Refinancing Transaction

In connection with the retirement and termmation of the outstanding loans under cur exisung Semor Secured Credit Facihines ("2011 Credit Facilines™), n the
September 2015 quarter we issued new debt consisting of the new Semor Secured Credit Faciliies (2015 Credit Facilities”), described below, and the 2015-1 pass
through certisficates ("2015-1 EETC")

2015 Credu Facilittes

During 20135, we entered mto the 2015 Credit Facihities to borrow up to 32 0 bithon  The 2015 Credit Facilities consist of a $1 5 bithon first-lien revolving
credt facility {the “Revolving Credit Facility’) and a $500 mullion first-lien term loan facility (the * Term Loan Facility ') These transactions comncided with the
retirement of $1 3 bulion from the 2011 Term Loan Factlity and $1 2 billion from the 2011 Revolving Credit Facility
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2015-1 EETC

The details of the 2015-1 EETC which 1s secured by 15 aircraft, are shown m the table below

{tn milhons) Total Principal Fuised Interest Rate Issuance Date Final Matuntv Date
2015-1 Class AA Certificates 5 313 3625% August 2015 July 2027
2015-1 Class A Ceruificates 69 3875% August 2015 July 2027
2013-1 Class B Certificates 118 4250% August 2015 July 2023
Total b 500

Key Financial Covenants

2013 Credit Facthitres Our obhigations under the 2015 Credit Facilities are secured by hens on certain of our and the Guarantors’ assets, including accounts
recevable, aircrafl spare engines non-Pacific international routes, domestic slots and certamn mvestment property These assets also secure $187 millton of certam
fuel hedging obligations on a parr passu basis {1 ¢ , on equal prionty) with the Revolving Credit Facility and the Term Loan Faciity The 2015 Crednt Faciliues
include affirmative, negative and financial covenants that may restrict our ability to among other things, make investments, sell or otherwise dispose of assets if
not mn comphance with the collateral coverage ratio tests, pay dividends or repurchase stock These covenants require us to maintamn

Mimnimum unrestncted ligudity
Unrestricted cash, permutted investments and undrawn revolving credit facilies 32 0 ulhon
Minimum collateral coverage ratio (! 1601

M Defined as the ratio of {a) certain of the collateral that meet specified elimbihity standards to (b} the sum of the aggregate outstanding obligations under the 20115 Credit Facilines and certain
other oblhigations

Under the 2015 Credit Facilities, 1f the Mimimum Collateral Coverage Ratio 15 not mamntamed, we must either provide additional collateral to secure our
obligations, or we must reduce the secured obligations under the facihties by an amount necessary to mamtain compliance with the collateral coverage ratio The
2015 Credit Facilities contain events of default customary for ssmilar financings, ncluding cross-defaults to other matenal indebtedness and certain change of
control events Upon the occurrence of an event of default, the outstanding obligations under the 2015 Credit Facilities may be accelerated and become due and
payable immediately

Pacific Facilines Our oblhigations under the Pacific Facilities are secured by a first lien on our Pacific route authorities and certain related assets The Pacific
Facihities include affimative negative and financial covenants that could restrict our ability to among other things make 1nvestments, selt or otherwise dispose of
collateral if we are not in comphance with the collateral coverage ratio tesis described below pay dividends or repurchase stock

Mimimum fixed charge coverage ratio (U 1201
Minimum unrestnicted liquidity

Unrestricted cash, permitted investments and undrawn revolving credit facilities $2 0 biliton
Minimum collateral coverage ratio @ 1601

‘0 Defined as the ratto of (a} earnings before mterest taxes, depreciation, amortization and aircraft rent and other adjustments to net income to (b) the sum of gross cash mnterest expense
(including the terest portion of our capitalized Jease obligations) and cash aircraft rent expense for the 12-month penod ending as of the last day of each Rscal quarter
@ Defined a3 the ratio of () certain of the collateral that meet specified elimbility standards 1o {b) the suin of the aggregate outstanding obligations and certain other obligations

We were 1n compliance with the covenants on our financing agreements at December 31 2015
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Avalabiity Under Revolving Credit Factlities
The table below shows availabality under revolving credit facilies, all of which were undrawn, as of December 31, 2015

(mm milhons)

Revolving Credit Factlity s 1,500
Pacific Revolving Credit Facility 450
Other revolving credit facilines 257
Total availability under revolving credrt facilities $ 2207
Future Maturities

The following table summarizes scheduled matunties of our debt for the years succeeding December 31, 2015

Amortization of
Debt Dhscount and Debt

{in millions) Total Debt Issue Cost, net

2016 $ 1,442 $ (40)

2017 869 (39)

2018 2,061 (35)

2019 1,189 (22}

2020 456 (4}

Thereafter 2081 {12}

Total $ 8,098 $ {152} $ 7,946

Fair Value of Debt

Market risk associated with our fixed- and variable-rate long-term debt relates to the potential reduction in fair value and negative impact to future eamnings,
respectively from an increase in interest rates The far value of debt, shown below 15 based pnmanly on reported market values recently completed market
transactions and estimates based on interest rates, maturities, credit risk and underlying collateral Long-term debt 1s principally classified as Level 2 within the fair
value hierarchy

December 31,
{1n millions) 20158 2014
Totat debt at par value $ 8,098 § 9,469
Unamortized discount and debt 1ssue cost, net (152) (206)
Net carrying amount b 7946 § 9263
Fair value $ 8400 § 9.800

NOTE 7 LEASE OBLIGATIONS

We lease awrcraft, awrport termminals, maintenance facilittes, ticket offices and other property and equipment from thard parties Rental expense for operating
leases, which 15 recorded on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease term, totaled $1 2 billion for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 and $1 |
billion for the year ended December 31, 2013  Amounts due under capital leases are recorded as habilities while assets acquired under capital leases are recorded
as property and equpment Amortization of assets recorded under capital leases 1s included 1n depreciation and amortization expense Our airport termunal leases
melude contingent tents, which vary based upon facility usage, enplanements, aircraft weight and other factors Many of our aircraft facility and equipment leases
include rental escalation clauses and/or renewal options Our leases do not include restdual value guarantees and we are not the pnmary beneficiary i or have other
forms of vanable interest with the lessor of the leased assets As a result, we have not consolidated any of the entities that lease to us
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The following tables summarnize our mmimum rental commutments under capntal leases and noncancelable operating leases (including certaun aircraft flown by
regional carniers) with mitial or remaining terms 1n excess of one year for the years succeeding December 31 2015

Capital Leases
{11 oullions) Total
2016 $ 183
2017 114
2018 56
2019 41
2020 29
Thereafter 39
Total mimmum lease payments 462
Less amount of lease payments representing mterest {79}
Present value of future minimum capital lease payments 383
Less current obligations under capital leases (148}
Long-term caprtal lease obligations 3 235
Operanng Leases

Contract Carner
(1in milhons) Delta Leasﬂc’ Payments All’:r:)?nl;:a m“ Total
2016 b 1258 § 325 % 1,583
2017 1105 335 1,440
2018 993 314 1,307
2019 899 259 1,158
2020 814 239 1,053
Thereafter 5839 381 6,220
Total mummum lease paymenis 3 10,908 § 1,853 § 12,761

™ Includes payments accounted for as construction obhgations
@ Represents the mimimum lease obligations under our contract camer agreements with Compass Airlines LLC Expresslet Arrlmes, Inc  Golet Aurlines, LLC, Shuttle Amenca Corporation
{ Shuttle Amenca ) and SkyWest Arlines Inc

JFK Construction Obligation

In 2015, we completed our redevelopment project at New York-JFK's Terminal 4 to facilitate convement connections for our passengers and improve
coordination with our SkyTeam alliance partners Terminal 4 15 operated by JFK [nternational Asr Termunal LLC (“IAT ) a private party under uis lease with the
Port Authority of New York and New Jersey (“Port Authonity™) In December 2010, we entered into a 33-year agreement with IAT (“Sublease™} to sublease space
m Terminal 4 Also, in 2010, the Port Authority 1ssued approximately $800 rmillion principal amount of special project bonds to fund the majonty of the project

We managed the project and bore the construction risk including cost overruns We recorded an asset for project cosis (e g , design, permutting, labor and other
general construction costs), regardtess of funding source, and a constriction obligation equal to project costs funded by partics other than us OQur rental payments
reduce the construction obligation and result in the recording of interest expense, calculated using the effective mterest method As of December 31 2015, we have
recorded $748 million as a fixed asset and a related construction obligation, respectively

We have an equity-method mvestment i the entity which owns IAT our sublessor at Terminal 4 The Sublease requues us to pay certmn fixed management
fees We determined the investment 1s a vanable interest entity and assessed whether we have a controlling financial interest in [AT Our nights under the Sublease,
with respect to management of Termunal 4, are consistent with rights granted to an anchor tenant under a standard airport lease  Accordingly, we do not consolidate
the entity in which we have an investment i our Consohdated Financial Statements
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NOTE 8 AMERICAN EXPRESS RELATIONSHIP

General Qur agreements with Amencan Express provide for joint marketing, grant certam benefits to Delta-Amenican Express Cardholders and Amencan
Express Membership Rewards Program participants and allow Amencan Express to market using our customer database Cardholders eamn muleage credits for
making purchases using co-branded cards, may check their first bag for free, are granted access to Delta Sky Club lounges and recesve other benefits while
traveling on Delta

During the December 2014 quarter, we amended our agreements with Amencan Express resulting tn a modification of the terms of these agreements The
multi-year extended agreements became effective January 1, 2015 Previously, during 2013, we amended our agreements with American Express, which modified
the products and services provided under the agreements The amendments changed certain nuleage award redemptions and access to Sky Clubs, among other
things For a descripuon of how these amendments changed our accounting, see Note 1 under Frequent Flyer Program

Annual Sale of Unresmicted SkyMiles In December 2011, we amended our Amencan Express agreements to sell to Amencan Express $675 million of
unrestricted SkyMiles 1n each of the four years ending December 31, 2014 The December 2011 amendment also extended the peried over which Cardholders
could check therr first bag for free on Delia flights The SkyMules purchased pursuant to the December 2011 amendment could have been used immediately by
Amencan Express The usage of these SkyMiles was not restricted 1n any way These annual purchases of SkyMiles were recorded as deferred revenue within
cwrent iabilines The portion of each purchase of SkyMules related to mileage credits redeemable for future travel was classified within frequent flyer deferred
revenue and the portion related to the marketing component was classifted within other accrued hiabiliies The December 2011 amendment did not change the
number of miles that we expected Amencan Express to purchase from us over the four-year period 1t only impacted the timing of those purchases

Fuel Card Obligation 'We have a purchasing card with American Express for the purpose of buymg jet fuel and crude ol The card currently cames a
maxtmum credit himit of $612 mitlion and must be paid monthly At December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014 , we had 3221 miliion and $561 milhion,
respectively, outstanding on this purchasing card which was classified as a fuel card obligation within other accrued liabilities

NOTE9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We sponsor defined benefit and defined contribution penston plans healthcare plans and disability and survivorship plans for ehgible employees and retirees
and their ehgible family members

Defined Benefir Pension Plans We sponsor defined benefit pension plans for eligible emplovees and retirees These plans are closed to new entrants and frozen
for future benefit accruals The Pension Protection Act of 2006 allows commercial airlines to elect alternative funding rules (' Alternauve Funding Rules™) for
defined benefit plans that are frozen Delta elected the Altenative Funding Rules under which the unfunded hability for 2 frozen defined benefit plan mav be
amortized over a fixed 17-year period and 15 calculated using an 8 85% discount rate We estimate our funding under these plans will total at least $1 0 billion 1n
2016, including $500 million of contributions above the miumum funding requirements

Defined Contribution Pension Plans Delia sponsors several defined contributton plans These plans generally cover different employee groups and employer
contributions vary by plan The cost associated with our defined contnibution pension plans 1s shown in the Net Penodic Cost table below

Postretirement Healthcare Plans We sponsor healthcare plans that provide benefits to eligible retirees and their dependents who are under age 65 We have
generally elunimated company-paid post age 65 healthcare coverage, except for (1) subsidies available to a lumited group of retirees and their dependents and (2) a
group of retirees who retired prior to 1987 Benefits under these plans are funded from current assets and employee contnibutions

Postemployment Plans We provide certan other welfare benefits to eligible former or inactive employees after employment but before retirement, primanly as

part of the disability and sunvivorship plans Substantially all employees are eligible for benefits under these plans n the event of death and/or disability
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Benefit Obligations, Fair Value of Plan Assets and Funded Status

Pension Benefits

Other Postrettrement and
Postemploy ment Benefits

December 31, December 31,

(in millaons) 2015 014 2015 2014
Benefit obligation at begmnmg of pertod $ 21,856 % 19,060 3,487 §% 3,205
Service cost — — 62 52
[nterest cost 884 928 141 155
Kctuana] (gain) loss (L,061) 2,923 (88) 338
Benefits paid, including lump sums and anntuties (1,059) (1,055) (302) (307
Participant contributions — — 36 44
Settlements (&) — — —
Benefit obligation at end of pertod 1 $ 20,611 § 21,856 333 % 3,487
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period $ 2355 % 8,937 982 $ 1,043
Actual (Joss) gain on plan assets (132) 556 (25) 57
Employer contnbutions 1,219 917 210 160
Participant contributions - — 36 44
Benefits pard, including lump sums and annuities (1,059) (1,055) (319) (322}
Settlements ) — — —
Fair value of plan assets at end ot penod 3 9374 3% 9,355 884 § 982
Funded status at end of period 3 (11,237) § (12,501) (2,452) 8 (2,505)

1 At the end of each year presented our accumulated benefit obligations for our pension plans are equal to the benefit ebligations shown above

During 2015, net actuanal gains decreased our benefit obligation by $1 1 billion  This decrease ts primarily due to the increase v discount rates from 2014 to
2015 These gamns are recorded m AOCI and reflected in the table below During 2014 | net actuanal losses increased our benefit obligation by $3 3 bilion  The
increase in benefit obligation 1s pnimanly due to the decrease in discount rates from 2013 to 2014 and changes in life expectancy assumptions These losses are
recorded in AQCI and reflected 1n the table below For additional information about hfe expectancy assumplions, see “‘Life Expectancy” below

A net actuanal loss of $231 mullion will be amortized from AOCI into net peniedic benefit cost n 2016 Amounts are generally amortized from AOC! over the

expected future lifetime of plan participants

Balance Sheet Position

Pension Benefits

Other Postreterement and
Postemploy ment Benefits

December 31, December 31,

(in milhions) 2015 2014 2015 2014
Current habilizes 5 2N s 28) (139 % {139)
Noncurrent hablities (1,210 (12,473 (2,313) {2,366}
Total liallines $ (1,237 § (12,501) 2452) 3 (2,505)
Net actuanal loss $ (8124) § (8 409) 438) $ {465)
Prior service credit — — 109 135
Total accumulated other comprehensive loss, pre-tax $ 8,124) § (8 409) (349) § (330)
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Net Pertodic Cost
(ther Postretirement and
Pension Benefits Postemploy ment Benefits
Y ear Ended December 31, Y ear Ended December 31,
(10 millions) 2015 2014 2013 2015 2014 213
Service cost 3 -~ 3 — 5 -— $ 62 § 52 % 49
Interest cost 384 928 861 141 155 143
Expected retum on plan assets 879) (829) (734) (81) (34) (84)
Amortization of prior service credit — — -— (26) (26} (26}
Recogmzed net actuanal foss 232 t34 221 24 4 25
Settlements 3 - 6 — —_— —
Net penodic cost S 240 § 231§ 354 S 120 $ 101 § 107
Defined contribution plan costs 592 551 490 —_ — _
Total cost 3 832 % 784 § 844 $ 120 § 101 3 107
Assumptions

We used the following actuarial assumptions to detertmine our benefit obligations and our net penodic cost for the penods presented

December 31,
Benefit Obligations "% 1015 2014
Weighted average discount rate 4 57% 4 14%
Y ear Ended December 31,
Net Perodic Cost @ 2015 2014 2013
Weighted average discount rate - pension benefit 413% 4 99% 4 10%
Weighted average discount rate - other postretirement benefit ©? 4 13% 4 38% 4 00%
Weighted average discount rate - other postemployment benefit 413% 500% 4 13%
Weighted average expected long-term rate of retum on plan assets 8 94% 8 94% 894%
Assumed healthcare cost trend rate ¢ 700% 7 00% 700%

M Qur 2015 and 2014 benefit obligations are measured using a mortality table projected to 2022

@ Future compensaton levels do not impact our frozen defined benefit pension plans or other postretirement plans and impact only a small portion of our other postemployment hiabhity
@ Our assumptions reflect vanous remeasurements of certain portions of our obligations and represent the weighted average of the assumptions used for cach measurement date

@ Assumed healthcare cost trend rate at December 31, 2015 15 assumed to declme gradually to 5 00% by 2024 and remain level thercafter

Healthcare Cost Trend Rate Assumed healthcare cost trend rates have an effect on the amounts reported for the other postretirement benefit plans A 1%
change n the healthcare cost trend rate used 1n measuring the accumutated plan benefit obligation for these plans, which provide benefits to eligible retirees and
their dependents who are under age 65 , at December 31, 2015 , would have the followng effects

(10 mlhions) 1% Increase 1% Decrease
Increase (decrease) mn total service and interest cost $ 15 (1}
Increase (decrease) in the accumulated plan benefit obligation 12 (25)
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Expected Long-Term Rate of Return Our expected long-term rate of retumn on plan assets 1s based primarily on plan-specific investment studies using historical
market return and volatlity data Modest excess retum expectations ‘ersus some public market indices are tncorporated into the retum projections based on the
actively managed structure of the investment programs and their records of achieving such retums istorically We also expect to receive a premium for investing
n less hquid private markets We review our rate of return on plan assets assumpttons annually Our annual investment performance for one particular vear does
not, by itself, sigmificantly influence our evaluation The investment strategy for our defined benefit pension plan assets 15 to earn a long-term return that meets or
exceeds our annealized return target while taking an acceptable level of risk and matntaining sufficient liqudity to pay current benefits and other cash obligations
of the plan This 1s achieved by imvesting n a globally diversified mix of pubhc and private equity fixed income, real assets, hedge funds and other assets and
mstruments Our expected long-term rate of return on assets for net penodic pension benefit cost for the year ended December 31, 2015 was 9%

Life Expectancy We have histoncally utihized the Society of Actuanes' {"SOA") published mortality data in developing a best estimate of life expectancy
During 2014, the SOA published updated mortaltty tables for (J § plans and an updated improvement scale, which both reflect improved longevity Based on an
evaluation of these new tables and our perspective of future longewvity, we updated the mortality assumptions in 2014 for purposes of measuning pension and other
postretirement and postempioyment benefit obligations The improvement in ife expectancy increases our benefit obligations and future expense as benefit
payments are paid over an extended penod of ime In 2015 we reviewed the mortality assumptions and concluded that the assumptions used in 2014 continue to
represent our best esimate of long-term Life expectancy We will continue to review our assumptions on an annual basis

Benefit Payments
Benefit payments in the table below are based on the same assumptions used to measure the related benefit obligations Actual benefit payments may vary
sigmificantly from these estimates Benefits eamed under our pension plans and certain postemployment benefit plans are expected to be paid from fonded benefit

plan trusts, while our other postretirement benefits are funded from current assets

The following table summanzes, the benefit payments that are scheduled to be paid wn the years ending December 31

Other Postretirement and

{1» outhons) Pension Benefits Postemployment Benefits
2016 3 1,154 § 286
2017 1,158 281
2018 1,180 271
2019 1199 267
2020 1,219 268
2021-2025 6,343 1,335
Plan Assets

We have adopted and implemented investment policies for our defined benefit pension plans that incorporate strategic asset allocation mixes intended to best
meet the plans long-term obhigattons while maintaining an appropriate level of sk and liquidity These asset portfolios employ a diversified rmix of investments,
which are reviewed penodically Active management strategies are utilized where feasible in an effort to realize investment retums 1n excess of market
mndices Derivatives in the plans are pnmanly used to manage risk and gain asset class exposure while sull maintaining hquidity As part of these strategies, the
plans are required to hold cash collateral associated wath certan denivauves Our investment strategies target a mix of 40 - 50% growth-seeking assets 20 - 30%
Income-generating assets and 25 - 30% nisk-diversifying assets Rusk diversifying assets include hedged mandates implementing long-short, market neutral and
relative value strategies that invest pnmanly m publicly-traded equity, fixed income, foreign currency and commodity securnities and derivatives and are used to
improve the impact of active management on the plans
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Benefit Plan Assets Measured at Fatr Value on a Recurring Basts

Benefit Plan Assets Benefit plan assets relate 1o our defined benefit pension plans and certain of our postemployment benefit plans that are funded through
trusts The following table shows our benefit plan assets by asset class These mvestments are presented net of the related benefit obligation 1n pension
postretrement and related benefits on the Consolidated Balance Sheets See Note 2 for a description of the levels within the farr value hierarchy and associated
valuation techniques used to measure fair value

December 31, 2015 December 31, 2014 Valution

{0 mifhons} Level | Level 2 Level 3 Totzl Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Techmque
Equities and equity-related mstruments $ 2067 §$ 50 % 10t § 2218 § 699 S 148 § — § 2185 (a)
Fixed mncome and fixed income-related
instruments

Sovereign fixed income 8 78 — 86 — — - — (a)(b)

Credi-related fixed income — 761 97 858 — 470 124 594 (a)(b)

Other fixed income 8 143 23 174 18 617 — 635 (a)(b)
Prnivate equity — — 1,030 1,030 — — 1,213 1,213 (a)(b)
Real assets — — 635 635 — — 663 663 (a)(b)
Hedge funds — 19 2,971 2,990 31 — 2214 2,245 (a)(b)
Cash equivalents — 1700 — 1 700 4 2428 —_ 2432 (a)
Other — 2 337 139 — — 384 384 (a)(b}
Total benefit plan assets $§ 2083 % 2753 % 5194 3 10,030 $§ 752 % 5001 § 4398 $ 10351

Equities and Equity-Related Instruments Investments include common stock, commungled funds mvested in commeon stock and equity -related mstruments
Common stock 15 valued at the closmg price reported on the active market on which the individual securities are traded Commungled funds are valued using the net
asset value divaded by the number of shares outstanding, which 15 based on quoted market prices of the underlying assets owned by the fund Equity-related
mstruments include mvestments tn secunties traded on exchanges, including listed futures and options, which are valued at the last reported sale prices on the last
business day of the year or, 1if not available, the last reporied bid prices Over-the-counter securities are valued at the bid prices or the average of the bid and ask
prices on the last business day of the year from pubhshed sources or 1f not available, from other sources considered rehable generally broker quotes

Fixed Income and Fixed Income-Related Instruments 1nvestments include corporate bonds, government bonds, collateralized mortgage obligations and other
asset-backed secunties These investments are generally valued at the bid price or the average of the bid and ask pnice Prices are based on pricing models, quoted
prices of securttics with sitmlar characteristics or broker quotes Fixed mcome-related instruments wnclude investments in securities traded on exchanges including
listed futures and options, which are valued at the last reported sale prices on the last business dav of the year or, if not available, the last reported bid prices Over-
the-counter securities are valued at the bid pnices or the average of the bid and ask prices on the last business day of the year from published sources or, :f not
avaliable from other sources considered rehiable, generally broker quoles

Prvate Equity and Real Assets Real assets include real estate, energy, umberland and agricuiture The valuation of private equity and real assets requires
sigmificant judgment due to the absence of quoted marhet prices as well as the inhierent lach ot luidity and the long-term nature of these assets Investments are
valued based on valuation models where one or more of the significant inputs into the model cannot be observed and which require the development of
assumplions We also assess the potential for adjustment to the fair value of these investments due to the lag in the availabihity of data [n these cases, we solicit
preliminary valuation updates from the investment managers and use that information and corroborating data from publtc markets to determine any needed
adjustments to esumate fair value

Hedge Funds Our hedge fund tnvestments are pnmarily made through shares of hmited partnerships or similar structures for which a liquid secondary market
does not ¢xist Hedge funds are primaniy considered Level 3 assets Hedge funds are ty pically valued monthly by third-party administrators that have been
appointed by the funds’ general partners

Cash Equivalents ‘These investments primanly consist of high-qualny, short-term obligations that are a part of institutional money market mutual funds The
funds' market-based net asset value per share 1s calculated using current market quotations or an appropnate substitute that reflects current market condhitions
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Other Pnmanly globally-diversified, nsk-managed commingled funds consisting mainly of equuty, fixed income and commodity exposures

Chunges in Level 3 The following table shows the changes 1n our benefit plan assets classified in Level 3

(10 millions) Private Equity Real Estate Hedge Funds Fized Income Total
Balance at January |, 2014 $ 1,366 § 688 $ 552 % 59 % — 3 2,665
Actual return on plan assets

Related to assets still held at the reporting date {116} (39) 167 (17) 9) (14)

Related 1o assets sold dunng the penod 107 37 ks 1 — 183
Purchases sales and settlements, net (144) 23 1,457 81 393 1,764
Balance at December 31 2014 1213 663 2214 124 384 4,598
Actual return on plan asseis

Retated to assets still held at the reporting date (148) (50) 22 (22) 39) 237

Retated to assets sold duning the penod 247 69 i3 9 1 359
Purchases, sales and sertlements, net (282) 47) 702 9 92 474
Balance at December 31, 2015 $ 1030 § 635 % 2971 $ 120 § 438 $ 5,194
Other !

We also sponsor defined benefit pension plans for eligible employees in certain toreign countries Thesc plans did not have a matenal impact on our

Consolidated Financial Statements in any peniod presented

Profit Sharing Program

Qur broad-based emplovee profit sharing program provides that, for each year in which we have an annual pre-tax profit, as defined by the terms of the
program, we will pay a specified portion ef that profit to employees In determuning the amount of profit sharing, the program defines profit as pre-tax profit
adyusted for profit sharing and certain other tems For years pnor to 2016, our profit sharing program paid 10% to employees for the first $2 5 billton of annual
profit and 20% of annual profit above $2 5 billion For the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 , we recorded expenses of $1 5 tllion, $1 1 billion

and $506 million under the profit shanng program respectively

During the September 2015 quarter, we announced certain changes to employee compensaton Begimng with 2016 pre-tax profit {to be paid out 1n 2017), the
profit shaning formula will be adjusted to pay 10% of annual pre-tax profit (as defined by the terms of the program) and, 1f we exceed our prior-year results the
program will pay 20% of the year-over-year increase i pre-tax profit to eligible empleyees The profit shanng program for pilots remains unchanged and will

contmnue in 2016 under its terms
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NOTE 10 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Aircraft Purchase and Lease Commitments
At December 31,2015  future aircraft purchase commitments totaled approximately $13 6 billion and mcluded 70 B-737-900ER, 45 A321-200, 25 A330-
900neo, 25 A350-900, 19 E190-100, 18 B-787-8 and six A330-300 arcraft We have obtamned, but are under no obligation to use, long-term financing

commutments for a substantial pertion of the purchase price of all of these awcraft except for the 18 B-787-8 arcraft. Our purchase commitment for the 18 B-787-8
arcraft provides for centain aircrafi substitution nghts, including for our current orders of B-737-900ER awurcrafl

{in milhons} Total

2016 $ 2,140
2017 2,500
2018 2,510
2019 1,500
2020 1,960
Thereafter 3.010
Total $ 13,560

In addition, we have agreements with Southwest Airlines and The Boemng Company to lease one additional B-717-200 awrcraft, which will be delivered durning
the March 2016 quarter and completes the 88 B-717-200 arrcraft we agreed to lease

Contract Carrier Agreements
We have contract carrier agreements with regional carriers expiring from 2016 wo 2024

Capacity Purchase Agreements Most of our contract carners operate for us under capacity purchase agreements Under these agreements the contract carners
operate some or all of their atrcraft using our flight designator codes and we control the scheduling pricing, reservations, ticketing and seat mventories of those
arrcraft and retain the revenues associated with those flights We pay those arrlines an amount, as defined in the applicable agreement, which 1s based on a
determination of their cost of operating those flights and other factors intended to approximate market rates for those services

The followng table shows our minimum fixed obligations under our existing capacity purchase agreements with thurd-party regional carners The obligations
set forth in the table contemplate minimum levels of flying by the contract carriers under the respective agreements and also reflect assumptions regarding certain
costs associated with the munimum levels of flying such as the cost of fuel labor, maintenance nsurance, catering property tax and landing fees Accordingly, our
actual payments under these agreements could differ materially from the mimimum fixed obhigations set forth in the table below

(in milhons) Amount

2016 b 2,160
2017 2,270
2018 2110
2019 1,960
2020 1,650
Thereafter 2,170
Total $ 12,320

) These amounts exclude contract carmner payments accounted for as operating leases of aircraft, which are descnibed in Note 7 The contingencies descnibed below under * Contingencies
Related to Termination of Shuttle America Agreements * are also excluded from this table

Revenue Proration Agreement As of December 31, 2015 , a portron of our contract carrier agreement with ShyWest Awrhines, Inc 1s structured as a revenue
proration agreement This revenue proration agreement establishes a fixed dollar or percentage division of revenues for tickets sold to passengers traveling on
connecting flight itneraries

84




Table of Contents
Contingencres Related to Termination of Shuttle America Agreements

We have two capacity purchase agreements with Shuttle Amernica, one that relates to its operation of Embraer 145s and one that relates {o its operation of
Embraer 1707175 aircraft The Embraer 145 aircraft were operated by Chautauqua Arrlines at December 31, 2014 and assigned with our consent to Shuttle America
n January 2015 By providing required advance notice, we may terminate the Embraer 145 agreement andfor the Embraer 170/175 agreement without cause at any
time If we terminate either of the agreements without cause, Shuttle Amenca has the nght to {1} assign to us certam leased aircrafi that the awkhine operates for us,
provided we are able to continue the leases on the same terms the airline had prior to the assignment and {2) require us to purchase or lease certain of the arcraft
the arrline owns and operates for us at the ume of the termnation 1f we are required to purchase aircraft owned by Shuttle Amenica the purchase price would be
equal to the amount necessary to {1} reimburse Shuttle America for the equuty 1t provided to purchase the aircraft and (2} repay in full any debt outstanding at such
time that 1s not being assumed mn connection with such purchase If we are required to lease awrcraft owned by Shuttle Amenca, the lease would have (1) arate
equal to the arrcraft-related debt payments of Shuttle Amenica as 1f 90% of the arcraft was financed by Shuttle Amenca and (2} other specified terms and
conditions Because these contingencies depend on our termmation of the agreements without cause prior to thewr expiration dates no obligation exists unless such
termination occurs

We estimate that the total fair values, determined as of December 31, 2015 , of the awrcraft Shuttle Amenca could assign to us or require that we purchase 1f we
tertminate without cause our contract carmer agreements are approximately $90 million with respect to the Embraer 145 aircraft and $184 milhon with respect 1o the
Embraer 170/175 aircraft The actual amount we may be required to pay in these circumstances may be matenially different from these estimates 1f Shuttle
America exercises this nght, we must also pay Shuttte Amenca 10% mterest (compounded monthly} on the equity it provided when 1t purchased the aircraft

Venezuelan Currency Devaluation

Duning the December 2015 quarter we devalued the unrestricted cash held in Venezuela based upon the prevailing market exchange rate of 200 bolivars per
U § dollar as we will not be able to repatnate those funds at the previous onginal exchange rate As a result of the devaluation, we recorded a $72 mullion charge
m miscellaneous, net within non-operating expense, related to sales in 2013 and 2014 As of December 31, 2015, the remaining balance of Venezuelan belivars
recorded 1n unrestricted cash on cur Consolidated Balance Sheet is de mimimis We now only accept U S dollars as payment for tickets on Venezuela flights

Legal Connngencies

We are involved in vanous legal proceedings related to employment practices, environmental 1ssues, antitrust matters and other matters concerning our
business We record liabilities for losses from legal proceedings when we determine that 1t 1s probable that the outcome in a legal proceeding will be unfavorable
and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated Although the outcome of the legal proceedings in which we are involved cannot be predicted with certainty
management believes that the resolution of current matters will not have a matenal adverse effect on our Consolidated Financial Statements

Credit Card Processing Agreements

Our VISA/MasterCard and Amernican Express credit card processing agreements provide that no cash reserve ("Reserve") 1s required, and no withholding of
payment related to receivables collected will oceur, except in certamn circumstances, including when we do not maintain a required level of hiquidity as outhined in
the merchant processing agreements In circumstances in which the credit card processor can establish a Reserve or withhold payments, the amount of the Reserve
or payments that may be withheld would be equal to the potential hability of the credit card processor for tickets purchased with VISA/MasterCard or Amencan
Express credit cards, as apphicable, that had not yet been used tor travel We did not have a Reserve or an amount withheld as of Deceniber 31, 2015 and 2014
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Other Contingencies
General Indemnificatians

We are the lessee under many commercial real estate leases It 1s commeon 1n these transactions for s, as the lessee, to agree to mdemnify the lessor and the
lessor's related parties for tort, environmental and other habiliues that anse out of or relate to our use or occupancy of the leased premises This type of indemnity
would typically make us responsible to ndemmnified parties for liabihttes ansing out of the conduct of, among others, contractors licensees and invitees at, or m
connection with, the use or occupancy of the leased premises This mdemmty often extends to related habihties ansing from the negligence of the indemnified
parties, but usually excludes any habilities caused by either their sole or gross negligence or their willful misconduct

Our arrcraft and other equipment {ease and financing agreements typically contamn provistons requiring us, as the lessee or obligor, to indemmify the other
parties to those agreements, including certain of those parties' related persons, aganst virtually any liabihities that might anise from the use or operation of the
arcraft or other equipment

We believe that our msurance would cover most of our exposure to habilities and related indemnivies associated with the commercial real estate leases and
aircraft and other eqmpment lease and financing agreements described above While our insurance does not typically cover environmental abilities, we have
certamn insurance policies in place as required by applicable environmental laws

Certain of our aurcrafi and other financing transactions mclude provisions that requnre us to make payments to preserve an expected economic retum to the
lenders 1f that economic return 1s diminished due to certam changes i law or regulations In certam of these financing transacttons, we also bear the nsk of certain
changes in tax laws that would subject payments to non-U § lenders to wathholding taxes

We cannot reasonably estimate our potential future payments under the indemnities and related provisions described above because we cannot predict (1) when
and under what crrcumstances these provisions may be tnggered and {2) the amount that would be payable if the provisions were triggered because the amounts
would be based on facts and circumstances existing at such ume

Employees Under Collective Bargaining Agreements

At December 31, 2015 , we had approximately 83,000 full-time equivalent employees Approximately 18% of these employees were represented by vnions
The following table shows our domestic airline employee groups that are represented by umons

Approximate dumber of Date on which Collective

Active Employees Bargaimng Agreement Becomes
Employee Group Represented Union Amendable
Deita Palots 12 0BG ALPA December 31 2015
Delta Flight Superintendents (Dispatchers) 400 PAFCA March 31 2018
Endeavor Air Pilots 1,360 ALPA January |, 2020
Endeavor Air Flight Attendants 895 AFA December 31, 2018
Endeavor Air Dhspatchers 50 DISTWU December 31, 2018

Y We are in discusstons with representatives of the Delta Pilots tegarding terms of an amended collective bargaining agreement

In addstton, 209 refinery employees of Monroe are represented by the United Steel Workers under an agreement that expires on February 28, 2019 This
agreement 1s governed by the National Labor Relations Act, which generally allows etther party to engage 1 self help upon the expiration of the agreement

Other
We have certain contracts for goods and services that require us to pay a penalty, acquire mventory specific to us or purchase contract-specific equipment as

defined by each respective contract, 1f we terminate the contract without cause prior to its expiration date Because these obhigations are contingent on our
terminatien of the contract without cause prior to its expiration date no obligation would exist unless such a tenmination occurs
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NOTE 11 INCOME TAMES
Income Tax (Provision} Benefit
Our income tax (provision} benefit consisted of the following

Y ear Ended December 31,

{in mithans) 2018 2014 2013
Current tax (provision) benefit
Federal $ 23) % 21 % 24
State and local {25) %) 3
International (2) (11} 1
Deferred tax (provision) benefit
Federal (2.409) (424) 7197
State and local (172) 10 794
Income tax {provision) benefit $ 2,631) $ “13) § 8,013

The following table presents the principal reasons for the difference between the effective tax rate and the U S federal statutory mcome tax rate

Y ¢ar Ended December 31,

20158 2014 2013
U S federal statutery tncome tax rate 3I50% 350% 350%
State taxes, net of federal benefit 18 20 30
Decrease in valuation allowance (02) 24) (367 5)
Income tax allocation _— —_ 127
Other 02 39 04)
Effective income tax rate 368% 385% (317 2)%

Deferred Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and habihiues for financial reporting and
mcome tax purposes The followng table shows sigmficant components of our deferred tax assets and habilities

December 31,
{in mithons) 2015 2014
Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss carry forwards 3 3,838 3 4,782
Pension, postretirement and other benefits 5,444 6,033
Fuel denvatives MTM adjustments 282 777
AMT credut carryforward 379 357
Deferred revenue 1522 1,824
Other 1047 659
Valuation allowance (56) (46)
Total deferred tax assets $ 12456 § 14,386
Deferred tax habthties
Depreciation § 5490 § 4,663
Intangible assets 1,681 1,684
Other 329 444
Total deferred tax habilities h Y 7,500 § 6,791
Net deferred tax assets 3 4956 § 7,595
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At December 31, 2015 , we had $379 million of federal altemative mimimum tax credit carry forwards which do not expire, and $9 $ bullion of federal pre-tax
net operating loss carryforwards, which wili not begen to expire unhi 2024

Valuation Allowance

We peniodically assess whether 11 1s more likely than not that we will generate sufficient taxable tcome to realize our deferred income tax assets We establish
valuation allowances if 1t 15 not Likely we will realize our deferred income tax assets In making this determination we consider all available positive and negative
evidence and make certain assumptions We consider, among other things, projected future taxable income, scheduled reversals of deferred tax habihties, the
overall business environment, our listonical financial results and tax planning strategies We recorded a full valuation allowance i 2004 due to our cumulative loss
position at that ime, compounded by the negative industry-wide business trends and outlook

At December 31, 2013 we released substantially all of the valuation allowance aganst our net deferred tax assets, resulting 1n an $8 3 billion benefit in our
provisien for income taxes During 2014 and 2015, we continued our trend of sustained profitability Afler considering all available positive and negative evidence,
we released additronal valuation allowances related to net operating losses and capital loss carryovers in each of those years As a result, at December 31, 2014 and
2015, we retained valuation allowances of $46 million and $56 mullion , respectively, pnmanly related to state net operating losses, state credits and unrealized
losses on investments which have lumited expiration perods

The following table shows the balance of our valuation allowance and the associated activity

(1 mulhions) 2015 2014 2013
Valuation allowance at beginming of period S 46 § 177 § 10963
Income 1ax provision — )] (975)
'Other comprehensive income tax benefit (proviston) 24 3) (1.186)
Expirations (4) (91) —_
Release of valuation allowance (10) (28) (8310
Other — — (315)
Valuation allowance at end of period S 56 § 46 3 177

Income Tax Allocation

We consider all income sources, including other comprehensive income, n detenmiming the amount of tax benefit allocated to continmng operations At the end
of 2013, we released our tax valuation aliowance, as discussed above, and settted all of our fuel denvatives designated as accounting hedges As aresult, an income
tax benefit of $1 9 illion related to our valuation allowance release and an ncome tax expense of $321 million related to settlement of our fuel denvative was
recogmzed in our Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 Income tax expense of $1 9 llion remains i AOCI primartly
related to pension obligations This tax expense will not be recogmzed in net income unul the penston obligations are fully extingmshed

Uncertamn Tax Positions
The amount of, and changes to, our uncertan tax positions were not material in any of the y ears presented The amount of unrecogmzed tax benefits at
December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 was $32 mulion $40 mullion and $37 nullion  respectively We accrue mterest and penatties related to unrecogmized tax

benefits mn interest expense and operaung expense, respectively Interest and penalues are not matertal 1n any penod presented

We are currently under audit by the IRS for the 2015, 2014 and 2013 tax years
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NOTE 12 EQUETY AND EQUITY COMPENSATION
Egunty

We are authorized to 1ssue 2 0 billion shares of caputal stock, of which vp to 1 5 billion may be shares of common stock par value $0 0001 per share, and up to
500 muliion may be shares of preferred stock

Preferred Stock We may issue preferred stock m one or more series The Board of Directors 1s authonized (1) to fix the deseniptions, powers (including voting
powers), preferences, rights, quahifications, limitations and restrictions with respect to any series of preferred stock and (2) to specify the number of shares of any
senes of preferred stock We have not 1ssued any preferred stock

Treasury Stoch We gencrally withheld shares of Delta common stock to cover employees' portion of required tax withholdings when employee equity awards
are 1s5ued or vest These shares are valued at cost, which equals the market pnice of the common stock on the date of 1ssuance or vesting The weighted average
cost of shares held in treasury was $17 70 and $15 82 as of December 31 2015 and 2014 , respectively

Egquity-Based Compensation

Our broad-based equity and cash compensation plan provides for grants of restricted stock, stock options, performance awards, including cash meentive awards
and other equity-based awards (the "2007 Plan") Shares of common stock 1ssued under the 2007 Plan may be made available from authonized, but unissued
common stock or common stock we acquire [T any shares of our commeon stock are covered by an award that 1s canceled forfeited or otherwise terminates without
dehivery of shares (including shares surrendered or withheld for payment of the exercise pnce of an award or taxes related to an award), such shares will agamn be
avaulable for 1ssuance under the 2007 Plan The 2007 Plan authonzes the 1ssuance of up to 157 million shares of common stock As of December 31 2015 , there
were 27 milhion shares available for future grants

We make long-term incentive awards annually to ehigible employees under the 2007 Plan Generally awards vest over time, subject to the employee's continued
employment Equity compensahion expense for these awards 1s recognized 1n salanes and related costs over the employee's requisite service penod (generally, the
vesting period of the award) and totaled $76 million , $81 million and $90 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 , respecuvely We
record expense on a straight-lme basis for awards with installment vesting As of December 31 2015 unrecognized costs related to unvested shares and stock
oplions totaled $61 mulion We expect substanually all unvested awards to vest

Resiricted Stock  Restricted stock 15 common stock that may not be sold or otherwise transferred for a period of time and 1s subject to forfeature 1n certain
circumstances The fair value of resmicted stock awards 1s based on the closing pnce of the common stock on the grant date As of December 31, 2015 | there were
2 5 million unvested restricted stock awards

Stock Oprions Stoch options are granted with an exercise price equal to the closing price of Delta common sioch on the grant date and generallv have a 10-year
term We determine the fair value of stock options at the grant date using an option prncing model As of December 31, 2015, there were 5 3 million outstanding
stock option awards with a weighted average exercise price of $15 05 , and 4 6 million were exercisable

Performance Shares Performance shares are long-term mcentive opportumities, which are payable 1n common stock and/or cash, and are generally contmgent
upoen our achieving certain financial goals

Orher There was no tax benefit recogmized i equity 1n 2015 2014 or 2013 related to equity-based compensation as our excess tax benefits have not reduced
taxes payable Therefore, we will not recognize an mcome tax benefit related to equity compensation untl we exhaust our net operating losses
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NOTE 13 ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

The following table shows the components of accurmnulated other comprehensive loss

Pension and
Cther Benefits Dermnative

(tn milbons) Leabnlities @ Contracts Investments Total
Balance at January 1, 2013 $ 8307) % (263) § {7 $ (8.577)
Changes 1n value (net of tax effect of $0) 2,760 296 (19) 3,037
Reclassification into eamings (net of tax effect of $321) P 224 186 — 410
Balance at December 31, 2013 (5,323) 219 (26) {5,130)
Changes 1n value (net of tax effect of $1,276) {2,267) 83 10 (2,174)
Reclassification 1nto earnings {net of tax effect of $4) 73 (80) — N
Balance at December 31, 2014 (7,517 222 (16) {(7.311)
Changes m value {net of tax effect of $41) 10 43 (45) 8
Reclassification nto earmings {net of tax effect of $16) ™ 153 (125) — 28
Balance at December 31, 2015 $ (7,354) § 140 3 61y § (7,275)

M Amounts reclassified from AOCI for penston and other benefits are recorded in satanes and related costs in the Consolidated Statements of Operations Amounts reclassified from AOCIH for

denvative contracts destgnated as foreign currency cash flow hedges and interest rate cash flow hedges are recorded n passenger revenue and interest expense net, respechively, in the
Consohdated Statements of Operations

Includes $1 9 billion of defetred income tax expense, primarily related o pension obligations that wall not be recognized i net income until the pension obhgations are fully extinguished
Included $321 mullion of deferred income tax expense that remained i AOCT unil December 2013 when all amounts in AQCI that related to denvatrve contracts designated as fuel cash
flow hedges were recogmzed 10 the Consolidated Statement of Cperations

[F33
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NOTE 14 SEGMENTS AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information 1s available that is evaluated regularly by the chief
operating decision maker, or decision making group, and 15 used 1n resource allocation and performnance assessments Our chief operating decision maker 1s
considered to be our executive leadership team Our executive leadership team regularly reviews discrete information for our two operating segments, which are
determined by the products and services provided our airline segment and our refinery segment

Airitne Segment

Our airhine segment 15 managed as a single business umit that provides scheduled air transportation for passengers and cargo throughout the U § and around the
world and other ancillary airline services This allows us to benefit from an mntegrated revenue pricing and route network Our flight equipment forms one fleet,
which 15 deployed through a single route scheduling system When making resource atlocation decisions our chief operating decision maker evaluates flight
profitability data, which considers awrcraft type and route cconomics, but gives no weight to the financial impact of the resource allocation decision on an individual
carmier basis ‘Our objective i makuing resource allocation decisions 15 to optimize our consoludated financtal results

Refinery Segment

In June 2012 , our wholly-owned subsidiartes Monroe Energy, LLC, and MIPC, LLC (collecuvely “Monroe™) acquired the Tramner ou refinery and related
assets located near Philadelphia, Pennsy lvania for $180 mallion as part of our strategy to mitigate the cost of the refining margin reflected i the price of jet fuel
The acquisition mcluded pipelines and termunal assets that allow the refinery te supply jet fuel to our arrline operations throughout the Northeastern U S |, including
our New York hubs at LaGuardia and JFK Monroe received a $30 mullion grant from the Commonwealth of Pennsylvama

We accounted for the refinery acquisiuion as a business combination The refinery, pipelutes and termunal assets acquired were recorded at $130 million in

property and equipment, net based on their respective fair values on the closing date of the transaction
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Our refinery segment operates for the benefit of the airline segment by providing jet fuel to the airline segment from 1ts own production and through jet fuel
obtained through agreements with third parties The refinery's productton consists of jet fuel as well as non-jet fuel products We use several counterparties to
exchange the non-jet fuel products produced by the refinery for jet fuel consumed tn our airhine operations The gross fair value of the products exchanged under
these agreements during the years ended December 31, 2015 2014 and 2013 was $3 1 billion  $5 1 tilhion and $5 4 lilhon  respecuvely

Segmeni Reporting
Segment results are prepared based on our wntermnal accounting methods described below, with reconciliations to consolidated amounts 1 accordance with

GAAP Our segments are not designed to measure operatng income or loss directly related to the products and services inctuded 1 each segment on a stand-alone
basis

Intersegment

(1 millions) Asrhine Refinery Sales/Other Consolidated
) ear Laded December 31, 2015
Operating revenue b 40,398 § 4,741 h) 40 704

Sales to arhne segment $ (990)

Exchanged products (3,108)

Sales of refined products to thurd parties (337 @
Operaung ncome @ 7,512 290 7802
Interest expense, net 431 — 481
Depreciation and amortization 1,805 30 1,835
Total assets end of period 51785 1,349 53,134
Capital expenditures 2,853 92 2,945
Year Ended December 31, 2014
Operating revenue 3 40217 § 6,959 b 40,362

Sales to arrline segment $ (1313) O

Exchanged products {5,104y @

Sales of refined products to third parties (39 @
Operating income 2,110 96 2,206
Interest expense, net 650 —_ 650
Deprecianon and amortization 1,745 26 1,771
Total assets, end of period 52,896 1,109 54,005
Capital expenditures 2,184 65 2,249
Year Ended December 31, 2013
Operating revenue 3 37,773 0§ 7,003 b 37,773

Sales to awrline segment h (1,156) M

Exchanged products (5.352) @

Sales of refined products to third parties (495) @
Operating income (loss) ¥ 3,516 (116) 3400
{nterest expense net 852 _ 852
Depreciation and amortization 1,641 17 1658
Total assets, end of peniod 50,932 1172 52,104
Capital expenditures 2,516 52 2 568

" Represents transfers, valued on a market price basis, from the refinery 1o the airhine segment for use in arrline operations We determine market pnce by reference to the market mdex for the
pamary delivery location, which 1s New York Harbor, for set fuel from the refinery

2 Represents value of products delivered under our exchange agreements, as discussed above, determined on a market price basts

O Represents sales of refined products to third parties These sales were at or near cost accordingly, the margin on these sales 15 de minimis

) Includes the impact of pnicing amangements between the airhine and refinery segments with respect to the refinery s inventory price nisk
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Geagraphic Information

Operating revenue for the airline segment 1s recognized m a specific geographic region based on the origm, flight path and destination of each flight segment
The majority of the revenues of the refinery, consisting of fuel sales to the airline, have been ehmunated in the Consolidated Financial Statements The remamimg
operating revenue for the refinery segment 1s inciuded 1n the domestic region

Cur operating revenue by geographic region (as defined by the DOT) 1s summanzed mn the followmng table

Y ear Ended December 31,

{in mllions) 2015 2014 2013

Domestic $ 27884 § 26898 § 24 857
Atlantic 6,503 6,757 6,446
Pacific 3,503 3048 4,086
Latin Amenca 2,812 2,759 2384
Total b 40,704 § 40,362 3 37,773

Our tangible assets consist primarily of flight equipment, which 1s mobile across geographic markets Accordingly, assets are not allocated to specific
geographic regions

NOTE 15 RESTRUCTURING AND OTHER

The following table shows amounts recorded 1 restructuring and other on our Consolidated Statements of Operations

Year Ended December 31,

{1n millions) 2015 2014 2013

Fleet and other s 35 % 758 % 402
Severance and related costs — o7 —
Settlements -— (113) _
Total restructuring and other 3 35 8 716 3 402

Fleer and Other 'We continue to restructure our domesuc fleet by replacing a portion of our 50-seat regional fleet with more efficient and customer preferred
CRIJ-900 and B-717-200 atrcraft and replacing older, less cast effective B-757-200 aircraft with B-737-900ER awrcraft The restructuning charges recorded during
2015 include remauung lease payments and lease return costs for permanently grounded arcraft In previous years, the restructuring charges also included
impairments, the acceleration of aircrafl depreciation and related equipment disposals

During 2014, we decided 1o retire our fleet of 16 B-747-400 aircraft over the next three years As part of the accelerated retirement, we recorded an imparrment
charge for the owned and capital leased arrcraft This impairment charge was calculated using Level 3 fair value inputs based primanly upon recent market
transactions and existing market condiions  Also, we recorded a lease restructuring charge for the three B-747-400 aircraft under operating leases that were retrred
dunng 2014

Severance and Related Costs During 2015, we announced a voluntary retirement program for ehigible U S employees and an involuntary menit restructuring
initrative We recogmzed a $51 million charge in salaries and refated costs 1n our Consolidated Statement of Operations in connection with these programs During
2014, we announced a voluntary retirement program for ehigible U S employees We recorded a $71 million charge 1n restructuring and other m our Consolidated
Statement of Operattons 1n connection with this program and other programs related to our Pacific siralegy

Settlements During 2014, we settled outstanding litigation resulting in a fav orable settlement of $67 mullion and recerved an unrelated msurance settlement of
$46 mulhon
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The following table shows the balances and activity for restructuring charges

Severance and Related Costs Lease Restruchanng
{in milhons) 2018 2014 m3 2015 2014 2013
Liability at beginning of peniod b 42 3 — 3 49 8 462 § 168 § 77
Adduenal costs and expenses 51 71 -— 41 349 114
Payments 41) (29) (46) (86} (55) (18)
Other — — {3) (2) — (5)
Liabihity at end of perrod $ 52 % 42 3% — 3 415 § 462 8 168

NOTE 16 EARNINGS PER SHARE

We calculate basic earnings per share by dividing the net income by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding  excluding restricted shares
We calculate diluted earmings per share by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common shares cutstanding plus the dilutive effect of
cutstanding share-based awards, including stock options and restricted stock awards Antidilutive common stock equivalents excluded from the diluted earnings per
share calculation are not matenial The following table shows our computation of basic and diluted earmings per share

Y ear Ended December 31,

{:n aullwons, except per share data) 2015 2014 2013

Net imcome 3 4,526 § 659 § 10,540
Basic weighted average shares outstanding 797 836 849
Dalutive effect of share-based awards 7 9 9
Diluted weighted average shares outstanding 304 845 858
Basic carnings per share $ 568 § 079 8 1241
Drluted eamings per share $ 563§ 078 % 12 29
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NOTE 17 QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following table summarizes our unandited results of operations on a quarterly basis The quarterly earnings (loss) per share amounts for a year will not add
to the camings per share for that year due 10 the weighting of shares used n calculatng per share data

Three Months Ended,
{1n mullions, except per share data) March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2018
Operaling revenue 3 9,388 % 10,707 $ 11,107 3 9.502
Operating income 1,398 2474 2,213 1.717
Net income 746 1,485 1,315 980
Basic earnings per share b 091 3 185 % 167 § 126
Diluted carnings per share 5 690 3 183 § 165 § 125
2014
Operating revenue $ 8516 $ 10621 § 11178 3 9647
Operating income (loss) 620 1,579 835 {328)
Net income (loss) 213 301 357 {712)
Basic earmings (loss) per share b 025 % 095 § 043 § (0 86)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share 3 025 % 094 § 042 % (0 86)
Speaial ltems

Three Months Ended,
(. mnlbons) March 31 Juize 30 September 30 December 31
2015
MTM adjustments and settlements b4 589 § 720 % (99) § 91
Restructuning and other {10) (2% —_ —
Virgin Atlantic MTM adjustments 13 31 {13 (&)
Total income {loss) 3 392§ 726 3 (112} § 86
2054
MTM adjustments and setttements 3 34) % 1 3 347 § (1,966)
Restructuning and other (49) 30 {570) (67)
L.oss on extinguishment of debt (18) (1 (134} ()]
Virgin Atlantic MTM adjustments (8) —_ (7 (119
Total loss 3 (109 % (140 $ (1,058} $ (215N
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ITEM 9 CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None

ITEM 3A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, mcluding our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, performed an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, which
have been designed to permit us to record, process, summarize and report within time pertods specified by the SEC's rules and forms, infoermation required 10 be
disclosed Our management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the controls and procedures were effective as of
December 31, 2015 to ensure that matenal information was accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chuef Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropnate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure

Changes 1n Internal Control

During the three months ended December 31, 2015 we did not make any changes 1n our internal contro! aver financial reporting that have materially aftected
or are reasonably Iikely to matenally affect, our internal control over financial reporting

Management's Annual Report on Internal Contrel Over Finanaal Reporting

Management 1s responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal contrel over financial reporting, as such term 15 defined 1n Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934 Our internal control over financial reporting 15 designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
rehability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted tn the
United States of America

Because of its tnherent limitations, mtemnal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatemnents Projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future pertods are subject to the nisk that controls may become madequate because of changes m conditions or that the degree of complhiance with
the policies may deteriorate

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our intemnal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 using the critena i1ssued by
the Commuttee of Sponsoring Organwzations of the Treadway Commission ("COSO"} in the 2013 Internal Control-Integrated Framework Based on that evaluaton,
management belteves that our mtemal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 20135

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 has been audited by Emst & Young LLP, an independent registered

public accounting firm, which also auduted our Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 Emst & Young LLP's report on our
internal control over financial reporting 1s set forth below
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board of Dhrectors and Stockholders of
Delta Aar Lines, Inc

We have audited Delta Air Lines, Inc s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 , based on critena established in Intemal Control-
Integrated Framework 1ssued by the Commuttee of Sponsonng Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO cntenia) Delta Awr Lmes,
Inc 's management 1s responsible for maintaining effective miernal contro! over financial reportng, and for 1ts assessment of the effectiveness of internal control
over financial reporuing mcluded in the accompanying Management's Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility 15 1o express
an opinion on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit 1 accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reascnable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was mamtained m all matenal respects
Our audit mcluded obtawning an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessimg the nisk that a matenial weakness exists, testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed nsk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessarv in the
circumstances We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opimion

A company's internal control over finaneial reporting 15 a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the rehiability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles A company's mternal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the mamtenance of records that 1n reasonable detal, accurately and farrly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company, (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as pecessarv to permut preparation of
financial statements m accordance with generally acoepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are beng made only m
accordance with authonzations of management and directors of the company and (3} provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a matenal effect on the financral statements

Because of 11s inherent hmutattons, mnternal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become nadequate because of changes m conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may detertorate

In our opunon, Delte Air Lines, Inc mamtained, in all matenal respects, effective internal control over financial reperting as of December 31, 2015 , based on
the COSO cntena

We also have audited, i accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of
Delta Air Lines, Inc as of December 31, 2015 and 2014  and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), cash flows and
stochholders' equity (deficit) for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015 and our report dated February 5, 2016 expressed an unqualified
opmnion thereon

Allanta, Georgia /s/ Emst & Young LLP
February 5 2016

96




T onten
[TEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None

PART 111

iITEM 10 DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE OF THE REGISTRANT

Information required by this item 1s set forth under the headings Governance Matters,”  Proposal 1 - Electton of Directors - Certain informatien About
Nominees™ and “Other Matters - Section 16 Beneficial Ownership Reporting Comphance” 1n our Proxy Statement to be filed with the Commuission related to our
2016 Annual Mecung of Stockholders ( Proxy Statement’ ) and 1s incorporated by reference Pursuant to instruction 3 to paragraph (b) of ltem 401 of Regulation
5-K, certain information regarding executive officers 15 contamned i Part 1 of this Form 10-K

1TEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required by this item 15 set forth under the headings “Governance Matiers - Compensation Commutiee Interlocks and Insider Participation,”
“Executive Compensation” and “Director Compensation™ 1n our Proxy Statement and 15 mcorporated by reference

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSRHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Secunties Authonzed for Issuance Under Equuity Compensation Plans

The followmg table provides mnformanon about the number of shares of common stock that may be 1ssued under Delta's equity compensation plans as of
December 31, 2015

{c) No of Secunities Remaning
(a) No of Securities to  (b) Weighted-Average Available for Future Issuvance

be Issued Upon Exercise Excrcise Price of Under Equity Compensation

of Qutstanding Options, Outstanding Options,  Plans (Excluding Secunties
Plan Category Warrants and Rights  Warrants and Rights @  Reflected in Column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by securtties holders 6,559,843 § 1209 26 839417
Equity compensation plans not approved by secunties holders -— - -
Total 6559843 § 12 09 26839417

" Includes a maximum of | 293 023 shares of common stock that may be 1ssued upon the achievement of certain performance conditions under outstanding performance share awards as of
December 31, 2015

2 Includes performance share awards which do not have exercise prices The weighted average exercise price of opttons 15 $15 05

5 Reflects shares remaiming available for 1ssuance under Delta's 2007 Performance Compensation Plan [f any shares of our common stock are covered by an award under the 2007 Plan that 15
canceled, forfeited or otherwise terminates without delivery of shares (including shares surrendered or withheld for payment of the exercise price of an award ar taxes refated to an award)
then such shares will again be avaslable for 1ssuance under the 2007 Plan except for (1) any shares tendered in payment of an option (u1) shares withheld to satisfy any 1ax withholding
obligation with respect to the exercise of an option or stock appreciation nght ("SAR”™), or (11} shares covered by a stock-settled SAR or other awards that were not 155ued upon the
settlement of the award Because 2,489 492 shares of restricied stock remain unvested and subject to forfeiture these shares could again be available for 1ssuance

Other information required by this 1tem 15 set forth under the heading “Bencficial Ownership of Securities” i our Proxy Statement and 1s incorporated by
reference

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Information required by thus item 1s set forth under the headings Governance Matters,” “Executive Compensation - Post-Employment Compensation - Other

Benefits - Pre-Existing Medical Benefits Agreement wiath Northwest” and “Proposal 1 - Election of Directors” in our Proxy Statement and 1s mcorporated by
reference
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ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by thus item 1s set forth under the heading ‘Proposal 3 - Ratification of the Appomntment of [ndependent Auditors™ in our Proxy Statement
and 1s incorporated by reference

PART IV
ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) (1) The following s an index of the financial statermnents required by this item that are included 1n this Form 10-K

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consclidated Balance Sheets— December 31 2015 and 2014

Consclidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013

Consclidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31§, 2015, 2014 and 2013
Consohdated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31 2015, 2014 and 2013

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity {Deficit) for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013
Notes to the Consolidated Fmancial Statements

{2) The schedule required by this item s included 1n Notes [1 and 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statements All other financial statement schedules are not
required or are mnapplicable and therefore have been omitted

{3} The exhibits required by this ttem are hsted it the Exhubit Index to this Form 10-K The management coniracts and compensatory plans or arrangements
required 1o be filed as an exhibit to this Form 10-K are hsted as Exiibits 10 10(a) through 10 26 1n the Exhibit Index

98




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Sectron 13 or 15(d) of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has dulv caused this report to be signed on 1ts behalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authonzed on the 5th dav of February 2016

DELTA AIR LINES, {NC

By /s/Richard H Anderson
Richard H Anderson
Chief Executive Officer
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Secunties Exchange Act of 1934, thus report has been signed below on the Sth day of February 2016 by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated

Signature Tutle
/s/ Richard H Anderson Chief Executnve Officer and Director
Richard H Anderson {Principal Executive Officer)
e/ Paul A Jacobson Execuuve Vice President and Chuef Financial Officer
Paul A Jacobson (Principal Financial Officer)

s/ Craig M Meynard
Craig M Meynard

Vice President and Chief Accounting Officer {Principal Accounting Officer)

/sf Edward H Basuan
Edward H Bastian

President and Director

/s Francis § Blake

Director
Francis § Blake
s/ Roy J Bostock
fs/ Ray ostor Dhrector
Rov J Bostock
fs/ John § Brinzo
Director
John 5 Brinzo
/s Daniel A Carp Charman of the Board
Daniel A Carp
s/ David G DeWalt
Drrector
David G DeWalt
/s/ Thomas E Donilon
Drrector
Thomas E Domilen
fs/ Willhlam H Easter [II
Director
Willham H Easter Il
fs/ Michey P Foret
e ore Drrector
Mickey P Foret
/sf Shirley C Frankhin
Director
Sharley C Franklin
fs/ David R Goode
Director
David R Goode
/s/ George N Mattson
Director
George N Mattson
h
fs/ Douglas R Ralpl Director
Pouglas R Ralph
fs/ Sergio A L Rual Director
Sergio A L Rual
fsf Kathy N Waller Director
Kathy N Waller
fs/ Kenneth B Woodrow
Director

Kenneth B Woodrow
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Note to Exhtbirs  Any representations and warranties of a party set forth i any agreement (including all exhibits and schedules thereto) filed with this Annual
Report on Form 10-K have been made solely for the benefit of the other party to the agreement Some of those representations and warranties were made only as of
the date of the agreement or such other date as specified 1 the agreement, may be subject to a contractual standard of matenality different from what may be
viewed as matenal 1o stockholders, or may have been used for the purpose of allocating risk between the parties rather than establishing matters as facts Such
agreements are included with this filing anly to provide investors with informantion regarding the terms of the agreements and not to provide investors with any
other factual or disclosure information regarding the registrant or 1ts business

3 I(a) Delta's Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (Filed as Exhibit 3 1 to Delta’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on Apnl 30, 2007) *

31(b) Amendment to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (Filed as Exhibit 3 1 to Delta's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on June 27,
2014) *

32 Delta's By-Laws (Filed as Exhibu 3 1 to Delta's Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on June 27, 2014) *

Delta 1s not filing any instruments evidencing any mdebtedness because the total amount of securities authorized under any single such instrument does not
exceed (0% of the iotal assets of Delta and us subsidiaries on a consolidated basis Copies of such instruments will be furnisted to the Securiires and Exchange
Comnmussion upon request

101 Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of August 24, 2015, among Delta Aiwr Lines, Inc, as Borrower, the subsidiaries of the Borrower named as
Guaranters each of the several Lenders from time to time party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N A , as administrative agent for the Lenders Barclays
Bank PLC, Bank of Amertca, N A, Wells Fargo Bank, N A and U § Bank National Association as Co-Syndication Agents, BBVA Compass and Fifth
Third Bank, as Ce-Documentation Agents, J P Morgan Securiues LLC, Barclays Bank PLC, Mem!l Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, BNP
Paribas Secunties Corp . Citigroup Global Markets Inc , BBVA Compass, Credit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, Credit Suisse AG, Cayman
[slands Branch, Deutsche Bank Secunties Inc . Fifth Third Bank, Goldman Sachs Lending Partners LLC, Morgan Stantey Senior Funding, Inc , Wells
Fargo Secunmes, LLC, Natrus, New York Branch, U § Bank National Association and UBS Secunities LLC, as Revolving Faciity Joint Lead Arrangers
and Revelving Pacility Joint Bookrunners and Barclays Bank PLC, J P Morgan Secunties LLLC Memll Lynch, Pierce Fenner & Smuth [ncorporated,
BNP Paribas Securiues Corp , Citigroup Gicbal Markets Inc BBVA Compass, Credit Agncole Corporate and Investment Bank, Credit Swisse AG,
Cayman Islands Branch, Deutsche Bank Securities [nc , Fifth Third Bank, Goldman Sachs Lending Partners LLC, Wells Fargo Securities, LLC and U S
Bank National Association as Term Loan Joint Lead Arrangers and Term Loan Joint Bookrunners (Filed as Exhibit 10 1 to Delta's Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter cnded September 30, 2015) *

102 Credit and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of October 18 2012, among Delta Air Lines, inc, as Borrower, the subsidianies of the Borrower named as
Guarantors, each of the several Lenders party thereto, Barclays Bank PLC, as admuustrative agent, Wilmimgton Trust, National Association, as Collateral
Trustee, Deutsche Bank Securities Inc and UBS Secunties LLC, as Co-Syndication Agents, Merril] Lynch, Pietce, Fenner & Smuth Incorporated and
Citigroup Global Markets [nc, as co-documentation agents, Barclays Bank PLC, Memll Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Srmuth Incorporated, Citigroup Global
Markets Inc , Deutsche Bank Securities Inc  and UBS Securities LLC, as joint lead arrangers and Barclays Bank PLC, BNP Panbas Secunues Corp,
Mernil Lynch, Prerce Fenner & Smith Incorporated, Citigroup Global Markets Inc, Credit Swmisse Secunties (USA) LLC, Deutsche Bank Securittes Inc
Goldman Sachs Bank USA, J P Morgan Secunties LLC, Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc and UBS Secunties LLC, as yoint bookrunners {(Filed as
Exhibit 10 2 to Delta's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012) *

103 Transaction Framework Agreement among Delta, Delta Master Executive Council, Northwest Master Executive Council and Air Line Prlots Association
International dated as of June 26, 2008 (Filed as Extubit 10 to Delta's Quarterly Repon on Form 10-Q fer the quarter ended June 30, 2008) *

104 Letter Agreement, dated Apnl 14 2008, by and among Delta Air Lines, Inc , the Master Executive Council of Delta, and Awr Line Pilots Association,
International dated April 14, 2008 (Filed as Exhibit 10 2 to Delta's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2008) *
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105 Anchor Tenant Agreement dated as of December 9, 2010 between JFK Internanonal Air Terminal LLC and Delta Air Lines, Inc (Filed as Exhitat 104 to 1
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EXHIBIT 10.6(b) !

Confidential Treatment Requested Confidential portions of this document have been redacted and have been separately filed with

P A 2022

the Commussion

SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT NO 17
to
PURCHASE AGREEMENT NUMBER 2022
between
THE BOEING COMPANY
and

DELTA AIR LINES, INC

Relating to Boeing Model 737NG Aircraft

SA-17 Page 1 !




Supplemental Agreement No 17
to
Purchase Agreement No 2022
between
The Boeing Company
and

Delta Air Lines, Inc

This Supplemental Agreement No 17 { Supplemental Agreement ) dated as of December 16, 2015 amends Purchase
Agreement No 2022 dated as of October 21, 1997 ( Purchase Agreement ) between The Boeing Company ( Boeing )
and Delta Arr Lines, Inc ( Customer ) relating to the purchase and sale of Model 737NG arcraft The Purchase
Agreement incorporates the terms and conditions of the Aircraft General Terms Agreement dated as of October 21,
1997 between the parties, identified as AGTA-DAL { AGTA )

PURPOSE

Incremental Purchase Boeing agrees to sell and Customer agrees to purchase twenty (20} model 737-932ER aircraft
( Incremental Aircraft ) The parties further agree to the addition of ten (10) put options as described in DAL-PA-02022-
LA-1501328, and to cancel all remaining Model 737 options descrbed in DAL-PA-02022-LA-1105858 Unless otherwise
indicated, Incremental Aircraft, and any exercised Put Option Aircraft, become Aircraft, 737-800ER Awrcraft or Firm
Aurcraft, as the context requires, for the purposes of this Purchase Agreement

P A 2022 SA-17 Page 2
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IT IS AGREED

1

10

The Table of Contents of the Purchase Agreement 15 deleted and replaced by the attached Jable of Contents |
which reflects the amendments made to the Purchase Agreement by this Supplemental Agreement and is
identified with a “SA-17" legend to reflect the changes made by this Supplemental Agreement

Tables 1Q1R2, 1Q2R2 and 1Q3R2 entitted Awcraft Delivery, Description, Prnice and Advance Paymenis are
deleted and replaced by the attached Tables 1Q1R3, 1Q2R3, 1Q3R3 (collectively, Table 1Q ) which incorporate
the twenty (20} Incremental Aircraft

Exhibit AS pertaining to the Arrcraft configuration 1s added to descnbe the configuration of the Incremental Aircraft

As a matter of record, Letter Agreement 6-1162-RLL-2234R8 entitled “ Special Matlers " was revised and
superseded by Letter Agreement 6-1162-RLL-2234RS independently of a Purchase Agreement Supplemental
Agreement Letter Agreement 6-1162-RLL-2234R& Is superseded and replaced by the attached Letter Agreement
6-1162-RLL-2234R10 [**]

Letter Agreement DAL-PA-02022-LA-1104472 entitled * Revisions to Arcraft General Terms Agreement AGTA-
DAL dated October 21, 1997 (AGTA) Terms " 1s revised and superseded by Letter Agreement DAL-PA-2022-LA-
1104472R1 to reflect the incorporation of the twenty (20) 737-932ER Incremental Arrcraft

Letter Agreement DAL-PA-02022-LA-1104482 entitled [***] 1s revised and superseded by Letter Agreement DAL-
PA-2022-LA-1104482R1 to reflect the incorporation of the twenty (20) Incremental Aircraft

Letter Agreement DAL-PA-02022-LA-1105848 entitled [***] 1s revised and superseded by Letter Agreement DAL-
PA-2022-LA-1105848R1 to reflect the incorporation of the twenty (20) Incremental Aircraft

Letter Agreement DAL-PA-02022-LA-1104487 entitled [***} 1s revised and superseded by Letter Agreement DAL-
PA-2022-LA-1104487R1 to reflect the incorporation of the twenty (20) Incremental Aircraft

Letter Agreement DAL-PA-02022-LA-1105858 entitled * Option Aircraft " 1s revised and superseded by Letter
Agreement DAL-PA-2022-LA-1105858R1 to reflect the cancellation of all remaining model 737 options

Letter Agreement DAL-PA-02022-LA-1105843R2 entitled [***] 1s revised and superseded by Letter Agreement
DAL-PA-2022-LA-1105843R3 to reflect the incorporation of the twenty {20} incremental Aircraft

PA 2022 SA-17Page3
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11 Letter Agreement DAL-PA-2022-LA-1105850R1 entitted [***] 1s revised and superseded by Letter Agreement
DAL-PA-2022-LA-1105850R2 to reflect the incorporation of the twenty (20) Incremental Aircraft

12 Letter Agreement DAL-PA-02022-LA-1501328 entitled “ Put Option Aurcraft " 1s added to reflect Customer's
agreement to purchase, at Boeing's option, up to ten (10) Put Option Arrcraft on terms and conditions set forth in
such Letter Agreement

Confidenttal Treatment

The information contained herein represents confidential business infermation and has value precisely because it
1s not available generally or to other parties  Each party will limit the disclosure of its contents to its employees with a
need to know the contents for purposes of helping it perform its obligations under the Purchase Agreement and who
understand they are not to disclose its contents to any other person or entity without the prior wnitten consent of the
other party Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may disclose this Letter Agreement (1) for the purpose of
regulatory requirements, including without hmitation registrations and filings pursuant thereto, or as otherwise required
by law, provided that the disclosing party makes commercially reasonable efforts to notify the non-disclosing party in
advance of such disclosure and considers in good farth all imitations on such disclosure requested by the non-disclosing
party, (i) for the purpose of disclosure to its auditors and its legal advisors on a need to know basis who themselves
agree not to further disclose such information, and () to the extent such information 1s publicly avallable other than as a
result of the disclosure by or on behalf of such party

Except as amended as set forth above, the Purchase Agreement remains in full force and effect

DELTA AIR LINES, INC THE BOEING COMPANY

By /s/ Gregory A May
By {s/ Will Witherspoon
Gregory A May
Will Witherspoon

Its SVP — Supply Chain Management
Its Attorney mFact

PA 2022 SA-17Page4
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Table 1Q[***] To
Purchase Agreement No PA-02022
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Payments

Arrframe Model/MTOW 737-900ER [***] [**+] [***]
Engine Model/T krust CFM56-7B27/BIF {***] Detall Specification [¥%*] [***]

Airframe Price Base

**% [***] Y ¢ar/Escalation Formula [***] [***]

Airframe Price Escalation
Airframe Price [***)  [***] Forecast [***] [***)

Engine Price Base
Optional Features [***1 [***] Year/Esecalation Formula [***] [***]
Sub-Total of Awrframe and Features [***] [***]
Engine Price (Per Aircraft) [***] ***]
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE) [***] [***] Auframe Escalaion Data,
Buyer Furnished Equipment (BFE) Estimate [***] [***] Base Year Index (ECI) [**+]
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Esumate [***] [***] Base Year Index (CPI) [**+]
[*‘.] [t"]

Escalation Estimate [***] (Amts Due/Mos Pnor to Delivery} I
Escalation

Delivery Number of Factor Adv Payment Base [***] [***] [***] [***) [***] [***]
Date Aarcraft (Arrframe) Price Per A/P [***] [***] [***] [***] [***]
[tt.] [4*'] [*‘*l [7 [t‘t] ["*] [‘t*] [‘t!] [“t] [‘t"]
[“i] [‘*t] [ttt] {_ [tit] [*t*] [.t#] [it‘] [‘.‘l ["l“]
[i#‘] [***] [#‘t] r {ttt] [*i*] [tt*] [*“] l'i*] [lt‘]
[i*t] l‘*‘l [*‘*} L V [tl*l [*‘*] [‘ti] [iti] [t‘t] [tli#]
[***] [***] [***] [:_ ’ [***] [**+] [***] [***] [***] [***]
["K] [‘*K] [!('I [ ) B [*l‘] [*‘*] ['t*] [‘.#] [“‘] [t“]
[**t] [‘*‘] ["‘} r I*‘#] [*t*] [U.‘] [*‘*] l'*‘] [tlt]
[#**] [U*#] [‘t‘] r [tlt] [t‘t] [#tt] [#4*] [#tt] [t#t]
[*+%] [(*+4] free) o [¢+9] [***] [*$¥] [***] [***]  [***]
[‘#t] [iti] [*i‘] ['i*] {t‘*] [‘**] [*.*] l‘##] [‘ti]
[‘it] [tlt] [tl'i] [ttt] {*‘*I [*‘l*] [“*] [Clt] [i“]
[*‘lﬁ] ["t] [tl#] [*‘*] [t‘*] [t#*] [Qtt] [‘t.] [t“]
[tt‘] [*‘t} [#'*] [!“!] {3‘*] [¥¥¥] [*‘*] [“i&] [**"]
[*t‘] [tt‘] [‘l‘] [*'*] [tt*] [.t‘] [“*] [‘it] [tt#]
[*i‘] {ti‘] [“*] [*t‘] [‘!ﬂl [‘!*] I##l] [#lt] [t‘*]
[*#‘J Ii‘t] [8.*] [*1!] [tt*] [itt] Ittt] [*‘*] [###]
[ttﬁ] It#ﬁ] ["*] [*ﬁ#] [ttt] [ttt] [tt‘] [#'l] [ttt]
[**‘] Iti.] [“*] [“Q] [‘*‘] {it‘] [‘i‘l [tit} [t‘*]
[*t.] I!l‘] l‘.#! [#"#] [‘**] [‘#‘] [“‘] [*l-] [“t]
[#!‘] [Ott] It‘*] [1‘*] [ttt] [i*‘] [‘t‘} [*t‘] l“!]
[t‘i] I‘t*] [t*#] [t!*] [*tt] [‘t.] ['1!} [tt‘] ["*]
[.*‘] [ili] [*ti] [‘.*] [*“] E‘*‘] [“‘] [*"] [“‘]
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Table 1Q[***] To

Purchase Agreement No. PA-02022
Airrcraft Dehvery, Description, Price and Advance Payments

Escalation Estumate

Escalation
Deltvery Number of Factor Adv Payment Base
Date Aircraft (Airframe) Price Per A/P

[“i] [“#] [‘#l] ’
[***] [***] [***]
[“i] [l!t] [l#t]
[ttt] [t*t] [“*]
[***] [***] [***]
{**4] [***] [***]
I‘*‘] [tttl [t‘#]
[ttt] [#O‘I [ata]
[*#44] [(***1 [**#]
[#“] [!t‘] [*t#]
[t"] [‘t‘] {*‘*]
[*#t] [tt!] {*‘i]
***) [***] ***1
{att] [‘;4] [tt#]
[tt!] [!#l] [*‘*]
[tlt] [ttt] [*t*]
[‘*’] [0*.] [#*‘]
[*tl] {t*‘] ["‘]
[‘t‘] [*t*] [1!‘]
[t‘*] {*ti'l [*t*]
[‘t*] It.*] [tt‘]
[ci#] [#4*] [tta]

[s:*]

[***]

[*"]
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Airframe Model/MTOW
Engine Model/Thrust

Asrframe Price

Opuonal Features

Sub-Total of Awrframe and Features
Engine Price (Per Aircraft}

737-900ER
CFM356-7B27/BIF

Aarcraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE)
Buyer Furmshed Equipment (BFE) Estimate
Seller Purchased Equepment (SPE) Estimate
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Escalation

Delivery Number of Factor
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[‘**] [.“] [ttt]
[*tt] {t.‘] [tt*]
[‘tt] {tt*] {‘t*]
[ltt] [tlt] [t*#]
[aust] [uu] [-Hur]
{‘t#] [Ci#] [NQ*]
{.*F] [‘t*] [***]
{“tt] [‘i*] [#**]
{ttt] [‘i#] [tt*]
[*“] [tl*] [***]
[‘t*] [#i*] [*t#]
[ttt] [*l‘] [#tﬁ]
[t‘t] [*‘*] [1.*]
[*l‘} [l“*] [1‘.4]
[t-'} [l“*] [v‘t]
[t.t} [“*] [#‘*l
[t*t} [#"] [*'*}
[ttt} [ant] [snut}
[ttt] [t:n] [tﬂ-]

[***] Confidential portion omitted and filed separately with the Commussion Pursuant to a Request for Confidential Treatment

[#ti]
[!‘!1

[*ti]
[Qtl]

I‘##]
[‘tt]
[ttt]
[i#t]
[ttt]

[l‘!]

[mn]

DAL-PA-02022 61160-1F TXT / 80754-1F TXT SA-17
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Detall Specification [**#] [***]
Airframe Price Base
Year/Escalation Formula [***] [***]
Aurframe Price Escalation
Forecast [***] [***]
Engine Price Base Year/Escalation
Formula [**%] [***]
Aurframe Escalation Data,
Base Year Index (ECH) [***]
Base Year Index (CPI) [***]

Escalation Estimate [***] (Amts Due/Mos Prnior to Delivery) | ‘

Adv Payment Base
Price Per A/P
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Aircraft Dehvery, Description, Price and Advance Payments

Table 1Q[***] To
Purchase Agreement No. PA-02022

Escalation Estimate

[***] (Amts Due/Mos Prior to Delivery)

Escalation
Delivery Number of Factor Adv Pavment Base

Date Aarrcraft {Aurframe) Price Per A/P
["t] [*‘*] [t‘*] {*‘*]
[?**] ["*] [“*] I“']
[t.*] [t.t] [**‘] {‘t‘]
{“*] ['.‘] [*‘t] [“']
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[*+*]
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Atrframe Model/MTOW 737-900ER
Engine Model/Thrust CFM56-7B27/BIF

Awframe Price

Optional Features

Sub-Total of Airframe and Features
Engmne Price (Per Awrcraft)

Aarcraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE)

Buyer Furmsshed Equipment (BFE) Estimate

Seller Purchased Equpment (SPE) Estimate

[l#t]

Escalauon
Delivery Number of Factor

Date Aurcraft (Aurframe)
{‘¥$] [l“l‘] ['1']
[‘*‘] [*l‘t] [t*t]
{‘tt] [t‘t] It**]
[ust] [tn:] [us]
[‘ti] lttt} [t*#]
[‘t#] l#!t] [‘tt]
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[t#t] [U“*} [t**]
[ttt] [tnm} [*‘*]
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[“*] [t*‘] [.*#]
[t#i] [ttt] [t‘*]
[t‘l] [ti‘] [tit]
[t‘t] 1**.] [t‘#]
[l’tt} [tti] [t‘*j
['.'I [O‘t] [ti‘%]
[iil] {tt*] [tt*]
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[***)
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["!]
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Airceraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Payments

[*#*l

[O i#]

***]
[***]
[***]
[**%]
{***]

[*‘t]

[***] Confidential portton omitted and filed separately with the Commussion Pursuant to a Request for Confidential Treatment

DAL-PA-02022 61166-1F TXT / 80755-1F TXT SA-17

Bowing Proprietary

[(***] ]
Detail Specification [***] [***]
Airframe Price Base
Year/Escalation Formula [***] [*9%]
Atrframe Price Escalation
Forecast [***] [***]
Engine Price Base
Year/Escalation Formula [***] [***]
Aurframe Escalation Data,
Base Year Index (ECI) ***]
Base Year Index (CPI) [***]
Escalation
Estimate [***] (Amts Due/Mos Prior 1o Delivery)
Adv Payment
Baﬁe [‘t*] [t*'] [ltl] [*it] [it‘] [t*t]
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["*.] [t’t] [tt‘] [!tt] [t‘t] [*‘*] [‘*i]
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Escalation
Delivery Number of Factor
Date Arrcraft (Awframe)
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Table 1Q|***] To

Purchase Agreement No PA-02022
Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Payments

Adv Payment Base
Price Per A/P
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Exhibit A6
Aarcrafl Configuration for 737-932ER Incremental Awrcrefi
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EXHIBIT 10 7(b)

Confidential Treatment Requested. Confidential portions of this document have been redacted and have been separately filed with
the Commssion

6-1162-RLL-2234R10

Delta Air Lines, Inc
Harisfield Atlanta International Airport
Atlanta, Georgia 30320

Subject Special Matters

Reference  Purchase Agreement Nos 2022 and 2026 (the Purchase Agreement) between The Boeing Company
(Boeing) and Delta Air Lines, Inc (Customer) relating to 737-632/-732/-832/-932ER, 777-232IGW and
777-232LR aircraft (the Aircraft)

This Letter Agreement revises and supersedes Letter Agreement 6-1162-RLL-2234R9 and amends and
supplements the Purchase Agreement. Language that has been added or revised since the prior version of this
Letter Agreement is shown in bold font. All terms used but not defined in this Letter Agreement have the same
meaning as in the AGTA and the Purchase Agreements

A Model 737-632/-732/-832/-932ER Aurcraft (P A 2022)
1 [***]

{**t]
{***]

"
2 [

**]

(Nl

[**4

3 Intentionally Omitted
4 "

[+*]

5 Intentionally Omitted

6 Intentionally Omitted
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Speciat Matters  SA-17 LA Page 1
BOEING PROPRIELTARY
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Iii*]
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It**]
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[***]
[tii]

[***1
12 [***]

[***]
[***]
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3 [
-
-
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-
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-
6
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[***]
[iii]

17

[ii*]
[***]

[***]

18 [™]
(]

E Model 777-232IGW Arrcraft (P A 2026)
"]

1 [***]

[t*t]
[***]

[***]
2 ()

[***]
[***]

[***]
3 !i**]

[***]
[***}

[iii]
4 [ttt]
{***]
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5 [***]

[**]
[*]
(]
6 [
[**]
[**]
7 ™
[
8 [
4]

F Model 777-232LR Arrcraft (P A 2026)
1 [
]

2 ]
]
3 [
[**]
4 [
[**]
5 [*]
]

{***]
Confidential Treatment  The information contained herein represents confidential business information and has
value precisely because it 1s not avarlable generally or to other

6-1162-RLL-2234R10
Special Matters SA-17 LA Page 4
BOEING PROPRIETARY
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parties Each party will imit the disclosure of its contents to its employees with a need to know the contents for
purposes of helping it perform its cbligations under the Purchase Agreement and who understand they are not to
disclose its contents to any other person or entity without the prnior wntten consent of the other party
Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may disclose this Letter Agreement (1) for the purpose of regulatory
requirements, including without imitation registrations and filings pursuant thereto, or as otherwise required by
law, provided that the disclosing party makes commercially reasonable efforts to notify the non-disclosing party in
advance of such disclosure and considers in good faith all imitations on such disclosure requested by the non-
disclosing party, {) for the purpose of disclosure to its auditors and its fegal advisors on a need to know basis
who themselves agree not to further disclose such information, and (1) to the extent such information 1s publicly
avallable other than as a result of the disclosure by or on behalf of such party

Very truly yours,
THE BOEING COMPANY

By /s/Will Witherspoon

Its Attorney in Fact

ACCEFTED AND AGREED TO

Date December 16, 2015

DELTA AIR LINES, INC

By _/s/ Gregory A, May

Its _SVP- Supply Chain Management

6-1162-RLL-2234R10
Special Matters SA-17 LA Page 5
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DAL-PA-02022-L A-1104482R1

Delta Air Lines, Inc
PO Box 20706
Atlanta GA 30320-6001

Subject  [***]

Reference Purchase Agreement No PA-02022 ( Purchase Agreement ) between The Boeing Company { Boeing )
and Delta Air Lines, Inc ( Customer ) relating to Model 737-800ER aircraft with Winglets ( Aircraft )

This letter agreement ( Letter Agreement } revises and supersedes DAL-PA-02022-LA-1104482 and amends and
supplements the Purchase Agreement All terms used but not defined in this Letter Agreement shall have the same
meaning as In the Purchase Agreement

The parties hereto agree as follows with respect to Covered Aircraft (as defined below) performance retention

1 [t*i]
1 1 [&*t]
-1 2 [***]
1 3 [***]
2 [t*i]
2 1 [***]
2 2 [*1’*]
3 [**i]
3 1 [***]
3 2 [*1’*]
3 3 [*i’i]
3 4 [**t]
4

(]
5 [
-
6 [
-
610
62 [*]

6 3 [*’Q*]
6 4 [***]

DAL-PA-2022-LA-1104482R 1
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6 5 [*it}

[***]
651(
652[*
6 5 3 [*t*]

65 4[]
7 [Q“*l
[***]
7 1 [***]
7 1 1 I***]
7 2 [***I
7 3 [i*i]
a [***]

[™*]
9 [

[***]
10 Assignment

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Purchase Agreement, the rnights and obligations described in this
Letter Agreement are provided to Customer in consideration of Customer's becoming the operator of the Aircraft and
cannot be assigned in whole or in part

11 Confidential Treatment.

The information contained herein represents confidential business information and has value precisely because it
1s not avallable generally or to other parties Each party will imit the disclosure of its contents to its employees with a
need to know the contents for purposes of helping it perform its obligations under the Purchase Agreement and who
understand they are not to disclose its contents to any other person or entity without the prior written consent of the
other party Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may disclose this Letter Agreement (1) for the purpose of
regulatory requirements, including without limitation registrations and filngs pursuant thereto, or as otherwise required
by law, provided that the disclosing party makes commercially reasconable efforts to notify the non-disclosing party in
advance of such disclosure and considers in good faith all imitations on such disclosure requested by the non-disclosing
party, (1) for the purpose of disclosure to its auditors and its legal advisors on a need to know basis who themselves
agree not to further disclose such information, and () to the extent such information 1s pubhicly availlable other than as a
result of the disclosure by or on behalf of such party
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Very truly yours,

THE BOEING COMPANY

By fs/ Will Witherspoon

Will Witherspoon
Its Attomey-In-Fact

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this

Date December 16, 2015

Delta Air Lines, In¢

By s/ Gregory A May

Its SVP - Supply Chan Management

DAL-PA-2022-LA-1104482R1
[**] SA-17 LA Page 3

|***] Confidential portion onutted and tiled separately with the Commusston Pursuant to a2 Request for Confidential Treatment

BOEING PROPRIETARY




Attachment A
Delivery Schedule for Covered Aircraft

[t**]

DAL-PA-2022-LA-1104482R1
[**] SA-17 LA Page 4
BOEING PROPRIETARY

[***] Confidenttal portien omitted and fited separately with the Commussion Pursuant to a Request for Confidential Treatrment




Attachment B
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DAL-PA-02022-LA-1105848R1

Delta Air Lines, Inc
PO Box 20706
Atlanta GA 30320-6001

Subject Agreement for [***]

Reference Purchase Agreement No PA-02022 ( Purchase Agreement ) between The Boeing Company ( Boeing )
and Delta Air Lines, Inc ( Customer ) relating to Model 737-732/-832/-932 aircraft

This letter agreement ( Letter Agreement ) revises and supersedes DAL-PA-02022-LA-1105848 and amends
and supplements the Purchase Agreement All terms used but not defined in this Letter Agreement shall have the same
meaning as in the Purchase Agreement

[i*i]
1 [***]
[***]
2 [**i]
2 1 [***]
2 2 [*‘*1’]
221
2 2 2 [***]
2 2 3 [***]

224[
3 [***]
[***]
3 -1 [*i*]
311[0™
312
313
3 2 [***]
3 3 [*i*]
4 [i*t]

[***]
5 [***]

[***]
6 Assignment

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Purchase Agreement, the nghts and obligations described in this
Letter Agreement are provided to Customer in consideration

DAL-PA-2022-LA-1104482R1
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of Customer’'s becoming the operator of the Covered Aircraft and cannot be assigned in whole or, in part

7 Confidentiat Treatment

The information contained herein represents confidential business information and has value precisely because it
15 not available generally or to other parties Each party will imit the disclosure of its contents to its employees with a
need to know the contents for purposes of helping it perform its obligations under the Purchase Agreement and who
understand they are not to disclose its contents to any other person or entity without the prior wntten consent of the
other party Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may disclose this Letter Agreement (1) for the purpose of
regulatory requirements, including without imitation registrations and filings pursuant thereto, or as otherwise required
by law, provided that the disclosing party makes commercially reasonable efforts to notify the non-disclostng party in
advance of such disclosure and considers in good faith all limitations on such disclosure requested by the non-disclosing
party, (n) for the purpose of disclosure to its auditors and its legal advisors on a need to know basis who themselves
agree not to further disclose such information, and (1) to the extent such information ts publicly available other than as a
result of the disclosure by or on behalf of such party

DAL-PA-2022-LA-1104482R 1
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If the foregoing correctly sets forth your understanding of our agreement with
above, please indicate your acceptance and approval below

Very truly yours,

THE BOEING COMPANY

By /s/Whll Witherspoon
Will Witherspoon
Its Attomey-In-Fact

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this

Date December 16, 2015

DELTA AIR LINES, INC

By /sf Gregory A May

Its SVP - Supply Cham Management

DAL-PA-2022-LA-1104482R1
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DAL-PA-02022-LA-1104487R"1

Delta Air Lines, Inc
PO Box 20706
Atlanta GA 30320-6001

Subject ***]

Reference Purchase Agreement No PA-02022 ( Purchase Agreement ) between The Boeing Company ( Boeing )
and Delta Arr Lines, Inc { Customer ) relating to Model 737-900ER awrcraft ( Aircraft )

This letter agreement ( Letter Agreement ) amends and supplements the Purchase Agreement All terms used
but not defined in this Letter Agreement shall have the same meaning as in the Purchase Agreement

[t**]
[t**]

1 [ii*]
[i**]
2 [*i*]
[***]
W [
, o
2[1 } ek
2 2 ki
2 3 edek
2 4 Li 24
3 [t**]
[***]
4 [***]

4 1 ik
4 2 el
5 sS

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Purchase Agreement, the rnights and obligations descnbed in this
Lefter Agreement are provided to Customer in consideration of Custemer’s becoming the operator of the Aircraft and
cannot be assigned, in whole or in part, without the prior wrnitten consent of Boeing

DAL-PA-2022-LA-1104487R1
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6 Confidential Treatment

The information contained herein represents confidential business information and has value precisely because it
15 not avallable generally or to other parties Each party will imit the disclosure of its contents to its employees with a
need to know the contents for purposes of helping it perform its obligations under the Purchase Agreement and who
understand they are not to disclose its contents to any other person or entity without the prior written consent of the
other party Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may disclose this Letter Agreement (1) for the purpose of
regulatory requirements, including without imitation registrations and filings pursuant thereto, or as otherwise required
by law, provided that the disclosing party makes commercially reascnable effarts to notfy the non-disclosing party in
advance of such disclosure and considers in good faith all imitations on such disclosure requested by the non-disclosing
party, (u) for the purpose of disclosure to its audttors and its legal advisors on a need to know basis who themselves
agree not to further disclose such information, and (i) to the extent such information is publicly avaitable other than as a
result of the disclosure by or on behalf of such party

Very truly yours,

THE BOEING COMPANY

By s/ Will Witherspoon
Will Witherspoon
its Attomey-in-Fact

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this

Date December 16, 2015

DELTA AIR LINES, INC

By /s/ Gregory A May

Its SVP - Supply Chatn Mangement

DAL-PA-2022-LA-1104487R1
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DAL-PA-02022-LA-1105858R 1

Delta Air Lines, Inc
PO Box 20706
Atlanta GA 30320-6001

Subject Option Aircraft

Reference Purchase Agreement No PA-02022 ( Purchase Agreement ) between The Boeing Company { Boeing )
and Delta Air Lines, Inc { Customer ) relating to Mode! 737-900ER aircraft { Aircraft )

This Letter Agreement revises and supersedes Letter Agreement DAL-PA-02022-LLA-1105858 and amends
and supplements the Purchase Agreement. All terms used but not defined In this Letter Agreement shall have the
same meaning as in the Purchase Agreement

The onginal revision of this Letter Agreement set out the terms and conditions for Model 737-900ER options and
cancelled all options and rolling options for 737-600, -700, and -800 model aircraft

Upon execution of Supplemental Agreement No 17 to the Purchase Agreement, all 737-900ER options are
cancelled, so all terms, conditions, and the attachment to the onginal revision of this Letter Agreement are deleted The
provisions of Article 3 of Aircraft General Terms Agreement Number AGTA-DAL between Boeing and Customer dated
as of Cctober 21, 1987 (AGTA-DAL) related to options and rofiing options for 737-600, -700, -800, and -S00ER model
aircraft provided thereunder are deleted and of no further force or effect Concurrently with the execufion of
Suppliemental Agreement No 17 the parties agree to execute a letter agreement to conform the AGTA-DAL
documentation to reflect the amendments made by this Letter Agreement

1 Assignment

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Purchase Agreement, the nghts and cbligations descnbed in this
Letter Agreement are provided to Customer in consideration of Customer's becoming the operator of the Aircraft and
cannot be assigned in whole or In part

2 Confidental Treatment

The information contained herein represents confidential business information and has value precisely because it
15 not avallable generally or to other parties Each party will it the disclosure of its contents to its employees with a
need to know the contents for purposes of helping it perform its abligations under the Purchase Agreement and who
understand they are not to disclose its contents to any other person or entity without the prior written consent of the
other party Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may disclose this Letter Agreement (1) for the putrpose of
regulatory requirements, including without bmitation registrations and filings pursuant thereto, or as otherwise required
by law, provided that the disclosing party makes commercially reasonable efforts to notify the

DAL-PA-2022-l A-1105858R1
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non-disclosing party In advance of such disclosure and considers in good faith all hmitabons on such disclosure
requested by the non-disclosing party, (i) for the purpose of disclosure te its auditors and its legal advisors on a need to
know basis who themselves agree not to further disclose such information, and (i} to the extent such information 1s
publicly available other than as a result of the disclosure by or on behalf of such party

Very truly yours,

THE BOEING COMPANY

By fsf Will Whtherspoon
Will Witherspoon
Its Attorney-In-Fact

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this

Date December 16, 2015

Delta Air Lines, Inc

By /s/ Gregory A May

Its SVP - Supply Chain Management

DAL-PA-2022-LA-1105858R1
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DAL-PA-02022-LA-1105850 R2

Delta Air Lines, Inc
PO Box 20706
Atlanta GA 30320-6001

Subject [***]

Reference Purchase Agreement No 2022 { Purchase Agreement } between The Boeing Company { Boeing ) and
Delta Air Lines, Inc { Customer ) relating to Model 737-732/-832/-932ER aircraft { Aircraft )

This letter agreement ( Letter Agreement ) amends and supplements the Purchase Agreement and supersedes
and replaces, in its entirety, letter agreement DAL-PA-02022-L A-1105850R1, dated August 2, 2012, All terms used
but not defined in this Letter Agreement shall have the same meaning as in the Purchase Agreement

Definitions
[*'h*]
1 [***]
[t**]
1 1 [l’**]
1 2 [t**]
2 {***]
[***]
3 Assignment

This Letter Agreement 1s provided as an accommodation to Customer in consideration of Customer becoming the
operator of the Aircraft and cannot be assigned, in whole or in part, without the prior wnitten consent of Boeing

4 Confidential Treatment

The information contained herein represents confidenhal business informaticn and has value precisely because it
1s not available generally or to other parties Each party will imit the disclosure of its contents to its employees with a
need to know the contents for purposes of helping it perform its oblhigations under the Purchase Agreement and who
understand they are not to disclose its contents to any other person or entity without the prior written consent of the
other party Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may disclose this Letter Agreement (1) for the purpose of
regulatory requirements, including without lrmitation registrations and filngs pursuant thereto, or as otherwise required
by law, provided that the disclosing party makes commercially reasonable efforts to notify the non-disclosing party in
advance of such disclosure and considers in good faith all imitations on such disclosure requested by

Page 1
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the non-disclosing party, (i) for the purpose of disclesure to its auditors and its legal advisors on a need to know basis
who themselves agree not to further disclose such information, and {in) to the extent such information 1s publicly
avallable other than as a result of the disclosure by or on behalf of such party

Very truly yours,

THE BOEING COMPANY

By s/ Will Witherspoon

Its Attorney-In-Fact

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this

Date December 16, 2015

DELTA AIR LINES, INC

By /sf Gregory A May

Its SVP - Supply Chain Management

Page 2
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ATTACHMENT A
{iti]

{***]
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DAL-PA-02022-LA-1105843 R3

Delta Air Lines, Inc
PO Box 20706
Atlanta GA 30320-6001

Subject Il |

Reference Purchase Agreement No PA-02022 { Purchase Agreement ) between The Boeing Company ( Boeing )
and Delta Air Lines, Inc ( Customer ) relating to Model 737-S00ER awcraft ( Aircraft )

This letter agreement { Letter Agreement ) amends and supplements the Purchase Agreement All terms used
but not defined in this Letter Agreement shall have the same meaning as in the Purchase Agreement This Letter
Agreement has been revised to include the additional twenty (20) Incremental Aircraft identified in Supplemental
Agreement No. 17 (SA-17).

[***]

e
-
-
—
-
3 e

I***]

4  Confidential Treatme

The information contained herein represents confidential business information and has value precisely because it
1s not available generally or to other parties Each party will imit the disclosure of its contents to its employees with a
need to know the contents for purposes of helping it perform its obligations under the Purchase Agreement and who
understand they are not to disclose its contents to any other person or entity without the prior written consent of the
other party Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may disciose this Letter Agreement (1) for the purpose of
regulatory requirements, including without hmutation registrations and filings pursuant thereto, or as otherwise required
by law, provided that the disclosing party makes commercially reasonable efforts to notify the non-disclosing party in
advance of such disclosure and considers in good faith all imitations

DAL-PA-2022-L A-1105843R3
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on such disclosure requested by the non-disclosing party, (u) for the purpose of disclosure to its auditors and its legal
advisors on a need to know basis who themselves agree not to further disclose such information, and () to the extent
such information I1s publicly available other than as a result of the disclosure by or on behalf of such party

Very truly yours,

THE BOEING COMPANY

By /s/ Will Witherspoon

Its Attorney-in-Fact

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this

Date December 16, 2015

Delta Air Lines, Inc

By /s/ Gregory A May

its SVP - Supply Chain Management

DAL-PA-2022-LA-1105843R3
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Attachment A
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Attachment B
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DAL-PA-02022-LA-1501328

Delta Air Lines, Inc
PO Box 20706
Atlanta GA 30320-6001

Subject Put Option Aircraft

Reference  Purchase Agreement No PA-02022 { Purchase Agreement ) between The Boeing Company ( Boeing )
and Delta Air Lines, Inc { Customer } relating to Model 737-900ER aircraft { Aircraft )

This letter agreement ( Letter Agreement } amends and supplements the Purchase Agreement All terms used
but not defined In this Letter Agreement will have the same meaning as in the Purchase Agreement

Boeing may sell, and customer agrees to purchase up to ten (10) 737-800ER aircraft ( Put Option Aircraft ) for
dehvery from [***]

1 Obligation to Purchase Put Option Aircraft

Subject to the terms and conditions contained in this Letter Agreement, in addition to the Aircraft described 1n
Table 1Q to the Purchase Agreement as of the date of execution of this Letter Agreement, Boeing may sell and
Customer agrees to purchase up to ten (10} addibonal Model 737-900ER aircraft as Put Option Aircraft

2 Delivery

The Put Option Aircraft may be delivered in any month as hsted in Attachment [***] to this Letter Agreement (
Attachments ), [***]
3 g**]

1 ke

3 2 [***]

4 [***]
4 1 [***]
4 2 [*t*]
4 3 [!!*]
4 4 [*t*]
5 [t*i]
[*ti]
6 [***]
61 [*]

6 2 [***]
7 {*i*]
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[*i*]
8 Confidential Treatment

The information contained herein represents confidential business information and has value precisely because 1t
15 not available generally or to other parties Each party will hmit the disclosure of its contents to its employees with a
need to know the contents for purposes of helping it perform its obligatons under the Purchase Agreement and who
understand they are not to disclose its contenis to any other person or entity without the pnor written consent of the
other party Notwithstanding the foregoing, either party may disclose this Letter Agreement (1) for the purpose of
regulatory requirements, including without imitation registrations and filings pursuant thereto, or as otherwise required
by faw, provided that the disclosing party makes commercially reasonable efforts to notify the non-disclosing party in
advance of such disclosure and considers 1n good faith all imitations on such disclosure requested by the non-disclosing
party, (n) for the purpose of disclosure to its auditors and its legal advisors on a need to know basis who themselves
agree not to further disclose such information, and () to the extent such information 1s publicly available other than as a
result of the disclosure by or on behalf of such party
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Very truly yours,

THE BOEING COMPANY
By /s/ Will Watherspoon
Its Attomey-In-Fact

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this

Date December 16, 2015

DELTA AIR LINES, INC

By /s/ Gregory A May

Its SVP - Supply Chain Management
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Airframe Model/MTOW

Engine Model/Thrust

Arrframe Price

Optional Features **

Attachment [***] to DAL-PA-02022-L A-1501328

737-900ER
CFM56-7B27/BIF

Sub-Total of Awrframe and Features

Engine Price (Per Awreraft)

Aarcraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE)
Buyer Furmshed Equipment (BFE) Estimate,
Seller Purchased Equmipment (SPE) Estimate

[l#i]
Escalation
Delivery Number of Factor
Date Arrcraft (Arwrframe}
[ttl] [tﬂ*] [t‘*]
[tt‘l [tt*] [**‘]
[i‘t] [l"#] [‘I*]
[tti] [1“*] [4&#]
[***] f*** [***]
[*lllll] i**t] [‘tt]
[t't] [t‘#] [ttl]
[ttt] lttt] [‘ti]
[t‘t] Ittt] [1*!]
[t‘t] [tt*] [ttt]
[***1 [***] [***]
(tut] [utt] [!:u}
[t#t] [‘tt] [tt‘}
[ttt] [‘t-] [tt‘]
[t‘t] [it‘] [tit]
[‘tt] [!ti] [ttt]
[“*] [#t.] [#‘*]
[i#!] {‘t‘] lll‘.]
{#t‘]
[t*t]
{att]
[tit]

[t't]

[t‘#]

[!#t]

[***]
[***}
[***]
[***]

[ttt]

[*!0]

Detail Speaification

Airframe Price Base

Year/Escalation Formula
Airframe Price Escalation

Forecast

Engine Price Base

Year/Escalation Formula

irjram

“scalation Dat

Base Year Index (ECI)
Base Year Index (CP1)

Put Option Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Payments

[l‘l]

[#t#]

[***]

[«lti]

[tt!]

[‘G‘l

Adv Payment Base
Pnice Per A/P

Escalation Esumate [***] (Amis Due/Mos Prior to Delnvery}

[‘*‘]

[*‘*j

[Cl’}
[I"‘]
[***]
(']
[‘t‘]
[it*]
[***]
[t#‘]
[tt!l
[it‘]
[i‘!]
i“‘]
I"t]
4]
[‘t#]

l‘:ilk]

[t*t]

[‘1‘]
[t‘ltl
[‘. ‘!]
[Q“tl
[“t*]
[t.t]
[##*]
[tl#]
[*‘t!
[.‘*]
[‘t#]
[t‘t]
[t‘t]
[***]
[*i‘]
{t*‘]

{8-"]

{ttt]

[***]
[***]

[tt*]

[8‘*]

**°]
[**]
[**°]
[*1‘]
[**]
[**°]
[ill“}
[*‘*}
[*'t]
{*ﬁt]
[t’t]
[t**]
**)
[l*‘]
[l*t]
[‘*l]

[***} Confidential partion omitted and filed separately with the Commission Pursuant to a Request for Confidential Treatment

DAL-PA-02022 73636-1F TXT SA-17

Boeing Proprietary

[*“]
[*tt]
[*l*]
[*i*]
[t"‘]
[***]
[t!t]
[***]
[***]
"]
[tt‘]
[t*‘]
[!t‘]

[#**]

[t*t]

[***]
[l‘t!]
[***]

[!ttl

[t*#]

[t*‘]
{t!t]
Itt*]
[tl‘]
[vtu]

***]

[***)
{**]
[ttt]
[t#t]
[#ti]
[*til
[‘t‘!
[***]
[+
[***]
[‘U!]
[#‘t]
[#8*]

[*‘t]

[‘lt]

[**+*]
[***]
[l“tl
[*t‘]
[***]
[***]
[**+*]
[***]
[*t*]
[***]
[***]
l‘t‘]
[***]
[***]
[*t*]
[***]
[***]

[!t#]

[+°]

[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

[***]

[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***1

!&8‘]

[***]
[***]
['!*'ﬁ]
[***]

[‘#‘]

{‘i‘]

{.i i]




Airframe Model/MTOW
Engine Model/Thrust

Airframe Price

Optional Features **

Sub-Total of Airframe and Features
Engine Price (Per Aireraft)

Aftachment [***] to DAL-PA-02022-LA-1501328
Put Option Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Payments

737-900ER
CFM56-TB27/BIF

Arrcraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE)
Buyer Furmished Equipment (BFE) Estimate
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estmate

[t.#]
Escalation
Delvery Number of Factor
Date Aarcraft (Awrframe)
[t*t] [#it] {#lt]
[#C#] [ﬁlt*] [.tt]
[#‘1] [tt.] [C*#]
['l‘!] [l‘"] l“*]
["t] [?#*] ["#]
[i‘i] [t#t] [Oiﬁ]
[ii.] [‘tt] li#‘]
[‘t*] [tt'] I“‘]
[i‘i] [ltt] [tl*]
[‘Oi] [t“] l“‘]
[ttl] [*t#] [‘t*]
[.tl] [*#*] lt#*]
[‘l!‘] [ttl] [t.*]
[“i] ["l] [‘U*]
["!] [U.*] ["ﬂ]
[‘.‘] ["‘t] [‘0‘]
[lti} [‘tl] [“‘]
[t‘i] ['.t] [*‘*I
[‘t‘]
[“‘]
[t‘i}
[‘i‘]

[***] Confidential portion omitted and filed separately with the Comaussion Pursuant to a Request for Confidental Treatment,
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[**¥]

[llilt]

[t‘t]

[ttt]

[t‘i]
[ttt]
[*'t]
[*‘i]

[#t!]

[ltti]

Detail Specification

Airframe Price Base

Year/Escalation Formula

Arrframe Price Escalation

Forecast

Engine Price Base

Year/Escalahon Formula

Anrframe Escalation Data.

Base Year Index (ECI)

Base Year Index (CP1)

[Ql#]
[t‘rll]

[0! t]

[t‘!]

[t* t]

[‘t‘]
[ttt]

1

Adv Payment Base
Pnice Per A/P
[t‘t]
[***]
[t“]
[‘1‘]
[t*t]
[‘*t]
[***]
[##t]
[tit]
[***]

[h"]

|

T ooy

-
-
z

-

i***l
[***]
[**¥]
[***)
[***]
(***]

[‘4#]

Boeing Proprietary

Escalation Estimate |***] (Amts Due/Mos Prior to Delivery }

[¥¢+]

[***1
[*'hi]
[tl*]
[***
[***]
[***]
[##*]
[***]
[***]
[*l*]
[‘t#]
[***}
[***]
[*#‘]
[***]
[***]
[##‘]

[#*.]

[#tt]
[* t*]
[$ ’k*]
[*‘ .I
[*!‘]
[***]
***]

[t‘.]

{*!1]

(***]
(=]
{*t#]
(-]
[+
[t“}
[*‘l]
[**)
[tlil
[*lﬁ]
[*.‘}

[t‘ #]

[+*4]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]

[8“]
[Q*l]
[‘tt]
(*
[1"]
[**+]
"l
*]
")

[it!}

[‘ti]
[l‘.]
[#.‘]
[i“]
[***]
(*=*]
[#ti]
[i"]
***]
[***]
(=]
[i*t]
[t#t]
[+
[#tt]
[t!l]
[tii]

[#tt]
[#tt]

[tt.]

[* l't]
[t tt]
[tt*]
[ttt]
[t't]

[8 “]

[##t]

[tit]
[***]
[il i‘*]
[***]
[* t*]
[***)

**)
[* *t]
[t‘t]
[‘l‘lﬁl
[t ii]
[‘ “}

[tttl

[‘t']
[t“]
[tt‘]
[t*!]
7]
[tti]
[t*‘]
[it!]
[‘*‘]
[#**]
[t*t]
[k#‘]
[**‘]
[tt‘]
[***]
[tit]
[t‘#]
[t‘t]

["t]

{tlt]




Attachment [***] to DAL-PA-02022-LA-1501328
Put Option Aircraft Delivery, Description, Price and Advance Payments

Arrframe Model/MTOW 737-900ER [***]
Engine Model/Thrust CFMS56-7B27/BIF [***]
Airframe Price [***]
Optional Features ** [***]
Sub-Total of Arrframe and Features [***]
Engine Price (Per Aircraft) [***]
Aircraft Basic Price (Excluding BFE/SPE) [***]
Buyer Furmished Equipment (BFE) Estimate [***]
Seller Purchased Equipment (SPE) Estimate [***]
[#“] [‘t#]
Escalation
Delivery Number of Factor
Date Aarcraft (Arrframe)
[tl‘] [*‘t] [l‘t]
[tl‘} [lkilk] [iltt]
[t‘t] [t‘t] [l#t]
[t#‘} [t‘t] [‘Ct]
[*ti} [t.t] [i**]
[it‘] [.Ot] [#Ot]
[nus] [#lt] [l‘*]
[t‘lﬂ] [*'t] [’l'#]
[t.*] [t‘t] {ttt]
[*“] [tit] [t‘t]
[**‘} iti*] [#lllk]
[tlt] [t‘t] [l‘t]
[tl‘] [t.t] [ttt]
[t!*] [*‘#l [l*t]
[ttt] [tnz] [tst]
[#.‘] [O‘#] [#‘t]
[“‘] [“#] [l‘#]
[tl‘l [t‘t] Ei‘t]
[t‘t]
[t‘t]
[‘l‘l
£+l

[**¥]

{i#t]

[Qtt]
[‘t#]
[4‘*]

[4‘!]

[4#‘]

Detall Specification

Airframe Price Base
Year/Escalaton Formula

Airframe Price Escalation
Forecast

Engine Price Base
Year/Escalation Formula.

Aurframe Escalation a
Base Year Index (ECI)
Base Year Index (CP1)

[***]
[***]

[tt#]

{1‘#]

{rer)

[***)

{l!t]

Escalation
Estimate

Adv Payment
Base

Price Per A/P
[* *#]
[* ‘i]
[*+*]
[* **]
[**+]
[:unt]
[unr]
[***]
[‘ #‘]
[*++]
[***]
[**+]
[‘ #‘}
[‘ #O}
[*++]
[tanl
[* *t}

[ttt]

[***] (Amts Due/Mos Prior to Delivery)

[***] [**¥]

[***]
[**%] [***]
1“*] [*3*]
{!**] [t#t]
[***] [***]
l"#‘] [tt‘]
[***} [***]
[***] [***]
lill‘] [‘8#]
[**#*] [***]
[***] [***]
[t#‘] [*‘t]
[tt‘] [**t]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[‘tt] [*#Q]
[***] [***]
[***] [***]
[***} [***]
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[‘tt]
[ttll]

[itt]

[tttl

[***]
[***]
[t‘t]
[***
[t**]
[*++)

[ltt]
[‘*#]
[‘i*]
[##t]
[ttt]

[#‘ lt]
[11 t]
[‘*.]
[t“]

E#t‘]

[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[*tt]
[t‘*}
[***]
[***1
[‘ﬁ't]
[***]
[***]
[***)

[t*.]

[ttt}
[tt t]
[t tt]

[tﬂ!]

[***]
[**+*]
["*]
[***
[+*°]
['i‘]
[***]
[***]
[ﬂ‘t]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***]
[***}
[***]
[***]

[tt*]
[‘t*]
[t##]

[ltll#l

[t* #]
[t' !]
[t!ti
[tt*]
["*]

[#“]

[***
[#‘ *]
[***]
[**%]
[***1
[1!1 ‘]
[***]
[***]
[***]
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EXHIBIT 10.8{c)

Confidential Treatment Requested. Confidential portions of this document have been redacted and have been
separately filed with the Commission.

DAL-PA-02022-L A-1104472R1

Delta Air Lines, Inc
PO Box 20706
Atlanta GA 30320-6001

Subject Rewvisions to Aircraft General Terms Agreement AGTA-DAL dated October 21, 1997 ( AGTA ) Terms

Reference Purchase Agreement Nos 2022, 2023, 2024, 2025 and 2026 {the Purchase Agreements ) between The
Boeing Company ( Boeing ) and Delta Air Lines, Inc ( Customer ) relating to Model 737-632/-732/-832/-
832ER, 757-232, 767-332/332ER, 767-432, 777-232IGW/-232ER/-232LR arcraft ( Aircraft )

This letter agreement ( Letter Agreement ) revises and supersedes DAL-PA-02022-LA-1104472 and amends
and supplements the AGTA and the Purchase Agreements All terms used but not defined n this Letter Agreement shall
have the same meaning as 1n the applicable Purchase Agreement

The 737-800ER aircraft did not exist at the time the AGTA-DAL was signed Customer has ordered 737-832ER
arrcraft and Customer and Boeing now agree to incorporate the 737-800ER model aircraft into the terms and conditions
of the AGTA In addition, Customer has never purchased and has informed Boeing that it does not tntend to purchase
the 737-600 model aircraft and the parties have agreed that it should be removed from the agreement

IT IS AGREED

1 The 737-600 1s no longer offerable under this Purchase Agreement All references to the 737-800 are hereby
deleted and shall be deemed to be of no further effect

2 Article 1, Defintions, Subject Matter of Sale and Annual Fleet Plan Review 1s amended as follows

2 1 Aiframe Price 1s revised to delete the word “and” after the word *737-700" and add a comma and the word
“737-900ER” after the word “737-800" and now reads as follows

“ Airframe Price 1s defined as the pnce of the airframe for a model of Aircraft set forth in Table 1 to the applicable
Purchase Agreement (for models 737-700, 737-800, 737-900ER and 777-200LR, the Airframe Price includes the
Engine Price)”

2 2 Engine Price is revised to delete the word “and” after the word “737-700" and add a comma and the word
*737-800ER” after the word “737-800" and now reads as follows

“Engine Price 1s defined as the price set by the engine manufacturer for a specific engine model to be installed
on the model of Aircraft set forth in the Tables to the applicable Purchase Agreement (not applicable to models
737-700, 737-800, 737-900ER and 777-200LR) "

DAL-PA-02022-LA-1104472R1
AGTA Terms Revisions  SA-17 LA Page 1
BOEING PROPRIETARY
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2 3 Escalation Adwistment 1s revised to delete the word “and” after the word "737-700" and add the word "“737-
900ER” after the word "737-800" and now reads as follows

“Escalation Adjustment is defined as the price adjustment to the Airframe and Optional Features Prices (and
the Engine Price for models 737-700, 737-800, 737-900ER and 777-200LR) resulting from the calculation using
the economic price formula contained in Exhibit D to this AGTA "

2 4 Option Aircraft is revised to add a new sentence “Upon the execution of Supplemental Agreement 17 to
Purchase Agreement 2022, all remaining Options and Ophton Aircraft under Purchase Agreement 2022 are
cancelled” so that the paragraph now reads as follows

“Option Aurcraft 1s defined as those Option Aircraft listed in Table 2 to the applicable Purchase Agreement and
in Letter Agreement DAL-PA-02022-LA-1105858 For histoncal records the Option Aircraft were intially {a) 60
mode! 737-632/-732/-832 Aurcraft, (b} 20 model 757-232 Aurcraft, (c) 10 model 767-332/-332ER Aurcraft, (d) 24
model 767-432ER Aircraft, and (e) 10 model 777-232IGW Awrcraft Upon the execution of Supplemental
Agreement No 17 to Purchase Agreement 2022, all remaining Options and Option Arrcraft under Purchase
Agreement 2022 are cancelled ”

2 5 Purchase Aagreement 1s revised to add “/-932ER" after the word "737-632/-737/-832" and now reads as
follows

“Purchase Agreement means a purchase agreement for each of the model (a) 737-732/-832/-932ER, (b)
757-232, (c) 767-332ER/-332, (d) 767-432ER, and {e) 777-2321GW/-232LR Aurcraft

2 6 Rolling QOption Aircraft 1s revised to (1) replace the scrivener reference to “Firm Aircraft” with “Rolling Option
Aircraft”, and (1) add a new sentence “Upon the addition of the 737-900ER model aircraft to Purchase Agreement
2022, all remaining Rolling Options and Rolhing Ophion Aurcraft under Purchase Agreement 2022 are cancelled”
and now reads as follows

“Roiling Option Aircraft I1s defined as those Aircraft isted in Table 2 to the applicable Purchase Agreement and
are inbially (1) 280 model 737 Aircraft, (n) 80 model 757 Aircraft, {in) 19 model 767-300 Aircraft, and (iv) 25 model
767-400 Aircraft Upon the addition of the 737-900ER model aircraft to Purchase Agreement 2022, all remaiming
Rolling Options and Rolling Option Aircraft under Purchase Agreement 2022 are cancelled "

3 Article 4, [**]1s amended as follows
3 -1 [***]

]
3 2 [***]

[***]

DAL-PA-02022-LA-1104472R1
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3 3 [***}
[**!]

4  Article 5, [***] 1s amended as follows
4 1 [**t]

[***]
4 2 [***]

[***}
5  Assignment

Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Purchase Agreement, the nghts and obligations descnbed n this
Letter Agreement are provided to Customer in consideration of Customer's becoming the operator of the Aircraft and
cannot be assigned, in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of Boeing

6  Confidential Treatment

The information contained herein represents confidential business information and has value precisely because It 15 not
available generally or to other parties Each party will imit the disclosure of its contents to its employees with a need to
know the contents for purposes of helping it perform its obhigations under the Purchase Agreement and who understand
they are not to disclose its contents to any other person or entity without the prior wnitten consent of the other party
Notwithstanding the foregoing, ether party may disclose this Letter Agreement (1) for the purpose of regulatory
requirements, including without limitation registrations and filngs pursuant thereto, or as otherwise required by law,
provided that the disclosing party makes commercially reasonable efforts to notify the non-disclosing party in advance of
such disclosure and considers in good faith all hmitations on such disclosure requested by the non-disclesing party, (i)
for the purpose of disclosure to its auditors and its legal advisors on a need to know basis who themselves agree not to
further disclose such information, and (i) to the extent such information 1s publicly available other than as a result of the
disclosure by or on behalf of such party

DAL-PA-D2022-LA-1104472R1
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Very truly yours,

THE BOEING COMPANY

By s/ Will Witherspoon

Will Witherspoon
Its Attomney-In-Fact

ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO this

Date December 16, 2015

DELTA AIR LINES, INC

By /s/ Gregory A May

Gregory A May
Its SVP - Supply Chain Management

DAL-PA-02022-LA-1104472R1
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EXHIBIT 10.16

L INES, INC
2016 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PROGRAM

1. Purpose. The 2016 Long-Term Incentive Program (the “ 2016 LTIP ™) is a tong term incentive program sponsored by Delta Ar Lines,
Inc (“ Delta * or the “ Company ) that i1s ntended to closely (a) hnk pay and performance by providing management employees with a
compensation opportunity based on Delta achieving key business objectives and (b) align the interests of management employees with the
Company’s other employees and stakeholders

The 2016 LTIP 1s being adopted under the Delta Air Lines, Inc 2007 Performance Compensation Plan {* 2007 Performance Plan ) It s
subject to the terms of the 2007 Performance Plan and an individual’s 2016 LTIP Award Agreement (“ Award Agreement ™)

Capitahized terms that are used but not defined in the 2016 LTIP shall have the meaning ascribed to them m the 2007 Performance Plan For
purposes of the 2016 LTIP, the definitions of * Good Reason ” and * Retirement ” as set forth in the 2007 Performance Plan are hereby
replaced or modified under Section & below, and shall apply as set forth in Section & in heu of the defimtions of these terms n the 2007
Performance Plan or as modified, as applicable

2 Plan Admumstration {a) The Personnel & Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “ Committee ™) shall be
responsible for the general administration and interpretation of the 2016 LTIP and for carrying out its provisions The Commuttee shall have
such powers as may be necessary to discharge its duties hereunder, including, without imitation, the following powers and duties, but subject
to the terms of the 2016 LTIP

{1)  authonty to construe and interpret the terms of the 2016 LTIP, and to determine eligiblity, awards and the amount,
manner and tume of payment of any awards hereunder,

(n)  authonty to prescribe forms and procedures for purposes of the 2016 LTIP participation and distnbution of awards, and

(1) authority to adopt rules and regulations and to take such actions as it deems necessary or desirable for the proper
administration of the 2016 LTIP, which authonty may be delegated to the Company s Chief Human Resources Officer

(b)  Any rule or decision by the Comnuttee that 15 not inconsistent with the provisions of the 2016 LTIP shall be conclusive and
binding on all persons, and shall be given the maxtmum deference permitted by law

(¢} Notwithstanding anything contained in the 2007 Performance Plan to the contrary, the Commuttee shall not have the authonty to
increase or decrease the actual payout of any Performance Award {(as defined below) granted to any Participant pursuant to Section 4(b)
hereunder

3. Indwidual Award Agreements. Any person offered an Award under the 2016 LTIP will be required to sign an dividual Award
Agreement Execution by such person of his or her Award Agreement will be a prerequisite 1o the effectiveness of the Award under the 2016
LTIP and to the person’s becoming a Participant in the 2016 LTIP The terms and conditions of any Award Agreement, 1f contrary to the
terms of the 2016 LTIP, shall govern the nghts of the corresponding Participant

4, Awards

(a) Restricted Stock
()  Award Grant A Participant may receive Restricted Stock as specified n the Participant’s Award Agreement (the “
Restricted Stock ™)




(n) Grant Date The Grant Date of the Restricted Stock will be deternuned by the Commuttee 1n accordance with the
Company's Equity Award Grant Policy, as in effect from time to time, and set forth 1n a Participant’s Award Agreement

(1)  Restrichions Until the restrictions imposed by this Section 4(a) (the * Restrictions ) have lapsed pursuant to Section
4(a)(1v), (v) or (v1) below, a Participant will not be permitted to sell, exchange, assign transfer, or otherwise dispose of the Restnicted
Stock and the Restricted Stock will be subject to forfeiture as set forth below

(v} Lapse of Restrictions—Continued Emplovment  Subject to the terms of the 2007 Performance Plan and the 2016 LTIP,

the Restrnictions shall lapse and be of no further force or effect with respect to one-third of the Shares of Restricted Stock on each of
the following dates (A) February 1, 2017 (“ First RS Installment ™), (B) February 1, 2018 {“ Second RS Installment ™), and (C)
February 1 2019 (“ Third RS Installment ) !

{v) Lapje of Resirictions/Forfenure upon Termmation of Emplovment The Restricted Stock and the Restrictions set forth

in this Section 4(a) are subject to the following terms and conditions

(A) Without Cause or For Good Reason Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment by the Company
without Cause or by the Participant for Good Reason (including the Termination of Employment of the Participant if he or
she 1s employed by an Affilate at the time the Company sells or otherwise divests itself of such Affiliate), with respect to any
portion of the Restricted Stock subject to the Restrictions, subject to the Participant’s execution of a waiver and release of
claims 1n a form and manner satisfactory to the Company, the Restrictions shall immedsately lapse on the Pro Rata RS Portion
as of the date of such Termination of Employment Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment by the Company
without Cause or by the Participant for Good Reason, any Restricted Stock that remains subject to the Restrictions, other than
the Pro Rata RS Portion, shall be immediately forfeited

“ Pro Rata RS Portion " means, with respect to any portion of Restricted Stock that 1s subject to the Restrictions at
the time of a Participant’s Termination of Employment, the number of Shares with respect to which the Restrictions would
have lapsed on each future RS Installment multiphed by a fraction (1) the numerator of which 15 the number of calendar
months *from the Grant Date to the date of such Termination of Employment, rounded up for any parttal month and {11) the
denomnator of which 1s twelve (12) for the First RS Installment, twenty-four (24} for the Second RS [nstallment and thirty-
s1x (36) for the Third RS Installment ?

(B) Voluntary Resignation Upon a Participant’s Termimnation of Employment by reason of a voluntary resignaticn
(other than for Good Reason or Retirement), any portion of the Restricted Stock subject to the Restrichions shall be
immediately forfeited

1 The number of Shares subject to each RS Installment will be equal to the total number of Shares subject to the Restncted Siock Award divided by three, provided  that
1f thus formula results 1n anv fractional Share allocanion to any RS Installment, the number of Shares wath respect to wiich the Restricions lapse under the First RS
Installment and, if necessary, the Second RS Installment, will be mncreased so that only full Shares are covered by each RS Installment For example 1f a Restncted Stock
Award covers 1,000 Shares, the Restnctions wll lapse with respect to 334 Shares under the First RS Installment and 333 Shares under each of the Second and Third RS
Installtnents

2 For purposes of the 2016 LTIP, one calendar month 1s calculated from the date of measurement to the same or closest numencal date occurnng during the folfowing
moanth For example one calendar month from January 31 2016 will elapse as of February 29 2016 two months will elapse on March 31 2016 and soon

3 If thus formula results in any fractional Share, the Pro Rata RS Portion will be rounded up to the nearest whole Share




(C) Retirement Subject to Section 4(a)(v)(F) below, upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment by reason of
Retirement, with respect to any portion of the Restricted Stock subject to the Restrictions, subject to the Participant s
execution of a waiver and release of claims in a form and manner satisfactory to the Company, the Restrictions shall
immed:ately lapse on the Pro Rata RS Portion as of the date of such Termination of Employment Pro Rata RS Portion has the
meaning set forth in Section 4{a)(v)(A} above Upon a Participant s Termmation of Employment by reason of Retirement,
any Restricted Stock that remains subject to the Restrictions, other than the Pro Rata RS Portion, shall be immediately
forfeited

(D) Death or Disability Upon a Participant’s Termunation of Employment due to death or Disability, the
Restrictions shall immedsately tapse and be of no further force or effect as of the date of such Termunation of Employment

{E)  For Cause Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment by the Company for Cause, any portion of
the Restricted Stock subject to the Restrictions shall be immediately forfeited

{F)  Retrement-Eligible Participants Who Incur a Ternunanon of Employment for Qther Reasons If a Participant
who 15 ehigible for Retirement 15, or would be, terminated by the Company without Cause, such Particrpant shall be
considered to have been terminated by the Company without Cause for purposes of the 2016 LTIP rather than having retired,
but only 1f the Participant acknowledges that, absent Retirement, the Participant would have been terminated by the Company
without Cause If, however, the employment of a Participant who 1s ehgible for Retirement 1s terminated by the Company for
Cause, then regardless of whether the Participant 1s considered as a retiree for purposes of any other program, plan or policy
of the Company, for purposes of the 2016 LTIP, the Participant’s employment shall be considered to have been terminated by
the Company for Cause

(vi)  Change in Control. Notwithstanding the forgoing and subject to Section 5 below, upon a Participant’s Termination of
Employment by the Company without Cause or by the Participant for Good Reasor (including the Termmation of Employment of the
Participant if he or she 1s employed by an Affihate at the ime the Company sells or otherwise divests 1tself of such Affiliate) on or
after a Change 1n Control but prior to the second anniversary of such Change i Control, subject to the Participant’s execution of a
waiver and release of claims in a form and manner satisfactory to the Company, any Restrictions 1n effect shall immediately lapse on
the date of such Termunation of Employment and be of no further force or effect as of such date

{vit) Drudends In the event a cash dividend shall be paid with respect to Shares at a time the Restrictions on the Restricted
Stock have not lapsed, the Participant shall be eligible to receive the dividend upon the lapse of the Restrictions The Restrictions
shall apply to any such dividend

(b) Performance Awards.

(1) Award Grant A Participant may recerve a Performance Award for a specified target cash amount as set forth in the
Participant’s Award Agreement (a ** Performance Award ™)

{n) Grant Date The Grant Date of the Performance Award will be determined by the Commuttee and set forth in the
Participant’s Award Agreement

()} Pavour Criteria and Form of Pavmeni  Except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Section 4(b), payment, 1f any, of

a Performance Award wil} be based on the following factors as described and defined below (A) the Average Annual Operating
Income Margin during the Performance Period of the Company relative to the Composite Performance of the members of the Industry
Composite Group, (B) Customer Service Performance duning the Performance Period of the Company, and {C) Return on Invested
Caprtal during the Performance Period of the Company




The payout, if any, of a Performance Award will be made (A) in Shares, calculated based on the Conversion Formula (as defined
below), to each Participant who 15 employed by the Company as an executive vice president or more senior officer (* Executive
Officer Participant ") at the ume of such payout and (B} in cash 1n all other circumstances

(v) Defimtions

(A)

(N

(2)

()

4

(5)

(B)

(1)

In General

“ Composite Performance ” means, for purposes of determining the total Average Annual Operating Income
Margin of the Industry Composite Group, the result obtamed by treating the members of the Industry
Composite Group 2s 1f they were one combned entity

The * Conversion Formula ” will apply to convert from cash to Shares the payout, (f any, of a Performance
Award to a person who 1s an Executive Officer Participant at the ume of such payout First, the cash amount
of the payout is calculated 1n the same manner as 1f the payout 15 being made 1n cash Next, the cash amount
18 converted into a number of Shares based on the following formula A — B, where

A = the amount of the payout for the Performance Award if it 18 paid 1n cash, and

B = the closing price of a Share on the New York Stock Exchange on the later of (1) the date that the
Committee approves the payouts, if any, of the Performance Awards to the Executive Officer Participants
following the Commuittee’s determination of the achievement of the payout critenia described in Section 4(b)
(1) and (2) the third business day followmg the date on which the Company publicly announces its annuai
financial results 1f this date 1s scheduled n the same month that the Committee approves such payouts, 1f any

“ GAAP " means accounting principles generally accepted wn the United States of America

“ Industry Composite Group ” means Alaska Air Group, Inc, Amenican Airlines Group, Inc, JetBlue
Awways Corporation, Southwest Airlines Co , and United Continental Holdings, Inc

“ Performance Period ™ means the perniod begimning on January 1, 2016 and ending on and mcluding
December 31, 2018

Average Annual Operating Income Margin

The “ Average Annual Operating Income Margin ” for Delta and each member of the Industry Composite
Group shall be calculated by using the subject company’s Operating income and Total Operating Revenue for
the applicable periods and the following formula (A — B }, where

A = Operating Income for 2016, 2017, and 2018, and

B = Total Operating Revenue for 2016, 2017, and 2018




(DY

(2)

(3)

(©

(h

“ Operating Income " means, subject to Section 4(b)(v)}{B} below, the subject company’s censclidated
operating income for the applicable periods based on sts statements of operations contamned in reports on
Forms 10-Q and 10-K filed with the Secunties and Exchange Commussion (* SEC ) prepared in accordance
with GAAP, but excluding (1) items presented 1n the hine item “restructuring and other items™ or such sinular
line item, (1) mark-to-market adjustments for fue!l hedges recorded n periods other than the settlement
peniod, and (1) other special, unusual, or nonrecurring 1tems which are disclosed in publicly avaitable filngs
with the SEC

“ Total Operating Revenue ” means, subject to Section 4(b)(v)(B) below, the subject company’s total
operating revenue for the applicable periods based on its regularly prepared and publicly available statements
of operations prepared in accordance with GAAP, provided , with respect 1o Delta, Total Operating Revenue
shall exclude the portion of revenue associated with refinery sales to third parties net of exchange

Customer Service Performance

The “ Customer Service Performance " for Delta shall be measured based on the percentage pomnt
improvement 1n Delta’s average monthly Net Promoter Score (¥ NPS ”) from the 2015 calendar year to the
average monthly NPS over the Performance Period, with (A) Delta’s NPS performance attributable to
domestic travel accounting for 60% of the measure and {n} Delta’s NPS performance attnibutable to
mternational travel accounting for 40% of the measure The cnteria and methodology used to determine
Delta’s NPS 15 described 1n a document titled, ““Net Promoter’ Measuring Customer Satisfaction at Delta,”
which was previously reviewed by the Committee Company management will periodically repott to the
Company’s Board of Directors regarding Delta’s NPS

Return on Invested Caputal

{1)The “ Return on Invested Capital ™ for Delta shall be calculated by using Delta’s Average Adjusted Total

Operating Income and Average Invested Capital for the applicable periods and the
following formula (A / B), where

A = Average Adjusted Total Operating income for 2016, 2017 and 2018, and

B = Average Invested Capital for 2016, 2017 and 2018

(2)* Average Adjusted Total Operating Income " means, subject to Section 4(b){v}(B) below, Delta’s average

consolidated operating income for the applicable periods based on its regularly prepared
and publicly available statements of operations prepared in accordance with GAAP, but
excluding {1) 1tems present n the line item “restructuring and other 1tems™ or such similar
line 1item, (1) mark-to-market adjustments for fuel hedges recorded in periods other than
the settlement period, (i) other special, unusual, or nonrecurrtng items which are
disclosed in publicly available filhngs with the SEC, and (:v) impled nterest tn awrcrafl
rent expense, and amortized pension expense related to gamns/losses that impact
accumulated other comprehensive income (** AOCI ™)

(3)° Average Invested Capital” means, subject to Section 4(b)}v){B} below, Delta’s total mnvested capital

determuned based on the average of thirteen calendar quarters




measured from the last calendar quarter preceding the Performance Period, using the following formula,
(A+B), where

A = Adjusted Book Value of Equity, and
B = Adjusted Net Debt

(4 “Adjusted Book Value of Equity” for Delta shall be calculated quarterly based on its regularly prepared
internal financial statements (1) with an imtial starting vatue for the quarter ending December 31, 2015 (the *
Initial Value ) equal to the book value of equity determined in accordance with GAAP as of December 31,
2013, but excluding the impact of gains or losses as of December 31, 2015 associated with (1) the cumulative
pension and other post-employment retirement benefits net balance recorded 1n AOCI, (2) the derivative
contracts and associated items net balance recorded in AOCI, and (3) the deferred tax asset valuation
allowance balance and (1) using the following formula for each subsequent quarter thereafter, (A+B+C),
where

A = The Imitial Value,

B = The cumulative amount starting as of January 1, 2016 and ending as of the last day of the
applicable calendar quarter of the Company’s pre-tax income determined in accordance with GAAP, but (1)
excluding (1) ttems present in the line 1tem “restructuring and other items™ or such simitar line item, (2)
mark-to-market adjustments for fuel hedges recorded 1n per1ods other than the settlement period, and (3) other
special, unusual, or nonrecurning items which are disclosed in publicly avarlable filings with the SEC and (1)
including expenses due to amortization of post-employment benefit losses in AOCI that have occurred during
the Performance Penod, and

C = n the event that the Company pays a dividend or 1ssues or repurchases addittonal Commeon Stock
for cash during the Performance Period (but excluding the exercise of any employee stock option for cash or
any other 1ssuance of Common Stock to employees), (1) the gross cash proceeds of the equuty 1ssuance or (11)
the gross ¢ash payments for the equity repurchase or dividends, before adjustment for any applhcable fees or
charges associated therewith

(5) “Adjusted Net Debt” for Delta shall be calculated quarterly based on its regularly prepared internal financial
statements using the following formula (A+B-C}, subject to Section 4(b}(v)(B), where

A = Total gross long term debt and capital leases (including current maturities) that reflect Delta’s
actual obligations to lenders or lessors, including any adjustments from the book value to reflect premiums or
discounts that may be ameortizing,

B = Annual aircraft rent expense multiplied by seven, and

C = Unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short-term 1nvestments

(v) FYesung
(A) General Subject to the terms of the 2007 Performance Plan, the 2016 LTIP, and all other conditions included

in any applicable Award Agreement, the Performance Award shall vest, as described 1n this Section 4(b)(v), as of the end of
the Performance Period to the extent that the




Company’s actual performance results meet or exceed Threshold level with respect 1o Average Annual Operating Income
Margin, Customer Service Performance and/or Return on Invested Capital, as applicable and as described below For
purposes of Average Annual Operating Income Margin, the Company’s performance 15 compared against the Composite
Performance of the Industry Composite Group

(B) Commuttee's Authority In determining the Average Annual Operating Income Margin for Delta and each
member of the Industry Composite Group and the Return on Invested Capital for Delta, the Committee shall make such
adjustments wtth respect to any subject company as 1s necessary to ensure the results are comparable, including, without
hmutatron, differences in accounting policies, practices, guidelines, reclassifications or restatements (for example, fuel
hedging, purchase accounting adjustments associated with mergers, acquisitions or divestures, or fresh start accounting as a
result of emergence from bankruptcy} Without limiting the generality of the forgoing, the Commuttee shall (1) make such
determinations based on financial data filed by the subject company with the U § Department of Transportation or otherwise
and (i) exclude from any calculation any item of gain, loss, or expense to be special or unusual m nature or infrequent in
occurrence

(C}  Impact of Certain Events A company shall be automanically removed from the Industry Compostte Group n
the event that any of the following occur during or with respect to the Performance Pertod (1) such company ceases to
maintain ot does not timely prepare publicly available statements of operations prepared in accordance with GAAP, (1) such
company 1s not the surviving entity in any merger, consohidation, or other non-bankruptcy reorganization {or survives cnly as
a subsidiary of an entity other than a previously wholly owned subsidiary of such company), (1u) such company sells, leases,
or exchanges all or substantially all of 1ts assets to any other person or entity (other than a previously wholly owned
subsidiary of such company), (1v) such company 1s dissolved and hiquidated, or (v} more than 20% of such company's
revenues (determined on a consolidated basis based on the regularly prepared and publicly available statements of operations
of such company prepared 1 accordance with GAAP) for any fiscal year of such company are attributable to the operation of
businesses other than such company’s airline business and such company does not provide publicly available statements of
operations with respect to 1ts airline business that are separate from the statements of operations provided with respect to its
other businesses

(D) Transactsons Benveen Awrlines To the extent reasonably practicable, in the event of a merger, consolidation, or
similar transaction during the Performance Period between Delta and any other airline, including a member of the Industry
Composite Group, or between any member of the Industry Composite Group and any other airline, including another member
of the Industry Composite Group (an “ Awrhine Merger ™), Average Annval Operating Income Margin for any such company
involved 1n an Airhne Merger will be calculated on a combined basis as 1f the Airline Merger had occurred on January 1,
2016, removing the effects of purchase accounting-related adjustments Furthermore, to the extent reasonably practicable, in
the event of an acqusition or divestiture, or similar transaction during the Performance Penod between Delta and any
regional carrier or between any member of the Industry Composite Group and any regional carrier (a “ Regional Carrier
Transaction "), Average Annual Operating Income Margin and, as apphicable, Return on invested Capital for any such
company involved 1n a Reglonal Carrier Transaction will be calculated to remove the impact of any reclassifications of costs
from (or to) such company’s presentation of contract carrter expense to (or from) the other expense hne items on the
statement of operations (determined based on the regularly prepared and publicly available statements of operations of such
company prepared in accordance with GAAP)




(E)  Vesting/Performance Measures The payment, if any, a Participant will recetve in connection with the vesting
of the Performance Award will be based on the following

Target Maximum
Threshold o "
(50% of Target) {100% of Target) (200% of Target)

ﬁl‘;enl‘:'lie‘fi\nm:;  Operating Composite Performance 0 3% points above | 5% pounts above 50%

Harg P Compaosite Performance Composite Performance ®
Customer Service
Performance—Domestic +0% points +2 4% points +3 7% ponts or higher 15%
Customer Service
Performance— o o o o
International +2 0% potnts +4 3% pomts +5 7% ponts or mgher 10%
Return on Invested Capatal 16 0% 18 0% 20 0% or higher 25%

Any portien of a Performance Award that does not vest at the end of the Performance Period will immediately lapse and
become void Payouts based on the above performance measures will be straight-line interpolated when actual performance
results falt above Threshold and below Target or above Target and below Maximum

(v1) Timing of Payment The payout, 1f any, of any Performance Award that vests under Section 4(b)(v) will be made as
soon after the end of the Performance Period as the payment amount can be finally determined, but in no event later than March 15,
2019, unless 1t 15 admimstratively impracticable to do se, and such impracticability was not foreseeable at the end of 2018, m which
case such payment shall be made as soon as administratively practicable after March 15, 2019

{vi) ceelerated Vesting/Forfeiture i erpunaio Employm The Performance Awards are subject to the
following terms and conditions

(A) Without Cause or For Good Reason Upon a Participant’s Termmation of Employment by the Company
without Cause or by the Participant for Good Reason (including the Terrination of Employment of the Partictpant 1f he or
she 1s employed by an Affiliate at the time the Company sells or otherwise divests itself of such Affiliate), subject to the
Participant’s execution of a waiver and release of claims 1n a form and manner satisfactory to the Company, the Participant’s
target Performance Award will be recalculated and will be the result of the following formula (the * Adjusted Performance
Award "} S x (T — 36) where,

8§ = the portion of the Participant’s target Performance Award as of the Grant Date, and

T = the number of calendar months from January 1, 20i6 to the date of such Termimation of Employment (rounded up
for any partial month)




Thereafier, the Participant will be eligible to receive a payment, if any, n cash based on the Adjusted Performance Award
which will vest and become payable under Section 4(b)(v) in the same manner and to the same extent as 1f the Participant’s
employment had continued

(B)  Voluntary Resignation Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment by reason of a voluntary resignation
(other than for Good Reason or Retirement) prior to the end of the workday on December 31, 2018, the Participant will
immedsately forfeit any unpaid portion of the Performance Award as of the date of such Termination of Employment In the
event a Participant incurs a Termination of Employment by reason of a voluntary resignation (other than for Good Reasen or
Retirement) on or after January 1, 2019, subject to the Participant’s execution of a waiver and release of claims n a form and
manner satisfactory to the Company, the Participant will remain ehgible for any unpaid Performance Award, which award
will vest and become payable under Sectien 4{b)(v) in the same manner and to the same extent as If the Participant’s
employment had continved

(C)  Renrement Subject to Section 4(b)(vi)(F) below, upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment due to
Retirement, subject to the Participant’s execution of a waiver and release of claims in a form and manner satisfactery to the
Company, the Participant’s target Performance Award will be recalculated 1n accordance with the formula set forth 1n Section
4(b)(vi)(A) above Thereafier, the Participant will be eligible to receive a payment, 1f any, in cash based on the Adjusted
Performance Award which will vest and become payable under Sectton 4{b){v) in the same manner and to the same extent as
if the Participant’s employment had continued

(D) Death or Disabtliry Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment due to death or Disability, the
Participant’s Performance Award will immediately become vested at the target level and such amount will be paid 1n cash as
soot as practicable thereafter to the Participant or the Participant’s estate, as applicable

(E) For Cause Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment by the Company for Cause, the Participant will
immedhately forfeit any unpaid portion of the Performance Award as of the date of such Termination of Employment

(F)  Retwement-Eligible Participants 1Who Incur a Termination of Employment for Gther Reasons 1f a Participant who 15
ehgible for Retirement 1s, or would be, terminated by the Company without Cause, such Participant shall be considered to
have been terminated by the Company without Cause for purposes of the 2016 LTIP rather than having retired, but only 1f the
Participant acknowledges that, absent Retirement, the Participant would have been terminated by the Company without
Cause If, however, the employment of a Participant who 15 eligible for Retirement 1s terminated by the Company for Cause,
then regardless of whether the Participant 1s considered as a retiree for purposes of any other program, plan or policy of the
Company, for purposes of the 2016 LTIP, the Part:cipant’s employment shali be considered to have been terminated by the
Company for Cause

(vi)  Change in Control Notwithstanding the forgoing and subject to Section 5 below, upon a Participant’s Termunation
of Employment by the Company without Cause or by the Participant for Good Reason (including the Termination of Employment of
the Participant if he or she 1s employed by an Affiliate at the ime the Company sells or otherwise divests itself of such Affiliate) on
or after a Change in Control but prior to the second anmiversary of such Change in Control, subject to the Participant’s execution of a
warver and release of claims 1n a form and manner satisfactory to the Company, the Participant’s outstand:ng Performance Award
shall immediately become vested at the target level and such amount will be paid in cash to the Participant as soon as practicable
With respect to any Participant who incurs a Termination of Employment by the Company without Cause or who resigns for Good
Reason prior to a Change 1n Control, 1f a Change in Control occurs thereafter during the Performance Period, such Participant’s
Adjusted Performance Award, will immediately become vested and be paid in cash to the Participant as soon as practicable




(¢) Restricted Stock Umits

) Award Grant A Participant may receive Restricted Stock Units as specified in the Participant’s Award Agreement
(the [ RSU ’7)

() Grant Date  The Grant Date of the RSUs will be determuned in accordance with the Company’s Equity Award Grant
Policy, as 1n effect from time to time, and set forth in the Participant s Award Agreement

() Rusk of Forfeitire. Until an RSU becomes vested, a Participant will not be permitted to sell, exchange, assign, transfer
or otherwise dispose of the RSU and the RSU wll be subject to ferfeiture as set forth below

(v)  Fesnng Subject to the terms of 2007 Performance Plan and the 2016 LTIP, the RSUs wili vest with respect to one-
third of the RSUs on each of the following dates (A) February 1, 2017 (“ First RSU Installment ™), (B) February 1, 2018 (* Second
RSU Installment ) and (C) February 1, 2019 (* Third RSU Installment ™) *

As soon as practicable after any RSUs become vested, the Company shall pay to Participant in cash a lump sum amount equal
to the number of RSUs vesting multiphied by the closing price of a Share of Common Stock on the New York Stock Exchange on the
vesting date or, 1f the Common Stock was not traded on the New York Stock Exchange on the vesting date, the last date prior to the
vesting date that the Common Stock was traded on the New York Stock Exchange

(v}  dccelergted Vesung, Forfeirure The RSUs and the vesting provisions set forth in this Section 4(c) are subject to the
following terms and conditions

(A) Without Cause or For Good Reason Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment by the Company
without Cause or by the Participant for Good Reason (including the Termination of Employment of the Participant 1f he or
she 1s employed by an Affiliate at the time the Company sells or otherwise divests itself of such Affiliate), subject to the
Participant’s execution of a waiver and release of claims in a form and manner satisfactory to the Company, a number of
RSUs equal to the Pro Rata RSU Portion will become immediately vested as of the date of such Termination of Employment
Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment by the Company without Cause or by the Participant for Good Reasen, any
unvested RSUs, other than the Pro Rata RSU Portion, shall be immediately forfeited

4 The number of RSUs subject to each RSU Installment will be equal to the total number of RSUs divided by three provided  that if this formula results in any fractional RSU allocation to
any RSU Installment, the number of RSUs 1n the First RSU Installment and 1f necessary the Second RSU Installment wall be increased so that only full RSUs are covered by each RSU
Installment For example, if an RSU Award covers 1 003 RSUs the RSU witll vest with respect to 334 RSUs under the Fust RSU Installment and 333 R5Us under each of the Second and
Thurd RSU Instaltments




“ Pro Rata RSU Portion " means, with respect to any RSU Installment that 1s not vested at the time of a
Participant’s Termination of Employment, the number of RSUs covered by such RSU Installment multiplied by a fraction (1)
the numerator of which 1s the number of calendar months ° from the Grant Date to the date of such Termination of
Employment, rounded up for any partial month and (1) the denomunator of which 1s twelve {12) for the First RSU Installment,
twenty-four (24) for the Second RSU Installment and thirty-six (36) for the Third RSU Instailment ©

(B) Voluntary Resignation Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment by reason of a voluntary resignation
(other than for Good Reason or Retirement), any unvested portion of the RSUs shall be immediately forfeited

(C) Reurement Subject to Section (4){c)(v)(F) below, upon a Participant’s Termiation of Employment by reason
of Retirement, with respect to any RSU Installment that 1s not then vested, subject to the Participant’s execution of a warver
and release of claims 1n a form and manner satisfactory to the Company, a number of RSUs equal to the Pro Rata RSU
Portion will become immediately vested as of the date of such Termnation of Employment Pro Rata RSU Portion has the
meaning set forth in Section 4(c)(v)(A) above Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment by reason of Retirement,
any unvested RSUs, other than the Pro Rata RSU Portion, shall be immediately forfeited

(DY  Death or Disability Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment due to death or Disability, all unvested
RSUs will immediately vest as of the date of such Termmation of Employment

(E} For Cause Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment by the Company for Cause, any unvested portion
of the RSUs shall be immediately forfeited

(FY  Retwement-Eligible Participants Who Incur a Termunanon of Emplovment for Other Reasons 1f a Participant
who 15 ehigible for Retirement, s, or would be, terminated by the Company without Cause, such participant shall be
considered to have been terminated by the Company without Cause for purposes of this Agreement rather than having retired,
but only if the Participant acknowledges, that absent Retirement, the Participant would have been terminated by the Company
without Cause If, however, the employment of a Participant who 15 eligible for Retirement 1s terminated by the Company for
Cause, then regardless of whether the Participant 1s considered a retiree for purposes of any other program, plan or policy of
the Company, for purposes of this Agreement, the Participant’s employment shall be considered to have been termmated by
the Company for Cause

(v1)  Change in Control Notwithstanding the foregoimg and subject to Section 5 below, upon a Participant’s Termunation of
Employment by the Company without Cause or by the Participant for Good Reason (including the Termination of Employment of the
Participant 1f he or she 15 employed by an Affiliate at the time the Company sells or otherwise divests itself of such Affiliate) on or
after a Change in Control, but pricr to the second anniversary of such Change in Control, subject to the Participant’s execution of a
waiver and release of claims in a form and manner satisfactory to the Company, any unvested portion of the RSUs will immediately
vest as of the date of such Termmation of Employment

5 For purposes of the 2016 LTIP, one calendar month 1s calcutated from the date of measurement 1o the same or closest numencal date occurnng duning the following month For example, one
catendar month from fanuary 31, 2016 will elapse as of February 29, 2016, two months will elapse on March 21, 2016, and 50 on

& If this formula results in any fractional RSUs, the Pre Rata RSU Portron wall be rounded up to the nearest whole R5U
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(vit)  Dividend Equivalents  In the event a cash dividend shall be paid with respect to Shares at a ime the RSUs have not
vested, the Participant shall be eligible to receive, upon the vesting of the RSUs, a cash payment equal to the amount of the cash
dividend per Share multiplied by the number of RSUs held by the Participant The vesting provisions under Section 4(c)1v) above
shall apply to any such dividend equivalent

{(d) Stock Option

(1)  Award Gramt A Participant may recerve a Non-Qualified Stock Option covering the number of Shares as specified in
the Participant’s Award Agreement (the * Option ™)

()  Grant Date The Grant Date of the Option will be determined by the Cormomittee in accordance with the Company’s
Equity Award Grant Policy, as in effect from time to time, and set forth 1n a Participant’s Award Agreement

(m}  Exercise Price The exercise price of the Option 1s the closing price of a Share on the New York Stock Exchange on
the Grant Date

() Exercise Period/Performance Measures Subject to the terms of the 2007 Performance Plan and the 2016 LTIP, an
Option shall

{A) vest and become exercisable upon the achievement of erther of the following two performance measures 1n the
proportion and on the dates (each an “ Option Installment Vesting Date *) set forth below

(N If there 15 a payout under the Company’s broad-based employee profit sharing program for ground and fhight
attendant employees (the “ Profit Sharing Program ™) for 2016, the Option shali vest and become
exercisable with respect to one-third of the Shares on each of the following dates (1) February 1, 2017 (the *
First Option {nstallment ), (11} February 1, 2018 (the * Second Option Installment ”) and (11I) February 1,
2019 (the * Third Option Installment ™), or

(2) If there 1s no payout under the Profit Sharing Program for 2016, but there 15 a payout under the Profit Sharing
Program for 2017, the Option shall vest and become exercisable with respect to (1) the First and Second
Option Installments on February 1, 2018 and (II) the Third Option Installment on February 1, 2019, and

(B) be exercisable through and mcluding the day immediately preceding the tenth anniversary of the Grant Date
(the * Expiration Date ™)

In the event there 1s no Profit Sharing Program payout for either 2016 or 2017, the Option shall be immediately forfeited {regardless
of whether there 1s a Profit Sharing Program payout for 2018)

ge xe cand Lxercise Period : a ent The exercisability of the Option and
the exercise period set forth in Section 4(d)}av) are subject to the following terms and conditions

{A) Wuhout Cause or For Good Reason Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment by the Company
without Cause or by the Participant for Good Reason {including the Termination of Employment of the Participant if he or
she 1s employed by an Affiliate at the time the Company sells or otherwise divests itself of such Affiliate), subject to the
Participant’s execution of a warver and release of claims in a form and manner satisfactory to the Company, the Pro Rata
Option Portion of any Option Installment that 1s not exercisable at the time of such
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Termination of Employment {1) will vest and become exercisable, 1f applicable, under Section 4(d)(1v) above in the same
manner and to the same extent as 1f the Participant’s employment had continued and (2) the entire then exercisable portion of
the Option, as applicable, shall be exercisable during the period (I} beginning on the applicable Option Installment Vesting
Date and (I1) ending on the earlier of (x) the later of the thuird anmiversary of (1) such Termination of Employment or (1) the
applicable Option Installment Vesting Date or (y) the Expiratton Date Upon a Participant’s Tenmunation of Employment by
the Company without Cause or by the Participant for Good Reason, any portion of the Option that is not exercisable at the
time of such Termnation of Employment, other than the Pro Rata Option Portion, shall be immedately forfeited

“ Pro Rata Option Portton ' means, with respect to any Option Instailment that 15 not exercisable at the time of a
Participant’s Termination of Employment, the aumber of Shares covered by such Optton Installment multiplied by a fraction
(1) the numerator of which 1s the number of calendar months from the Grant Date to the date of such Termnation of
Employment, rounded up for any partial month and (1) the denomnator of which 1s twelve (12) for the Furst Option
Installment, twenty—four (24) for the Second Option Instaliment, and thirty-six (36) for the Third Option Installment ’

(B) Voluntary Resignatton Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment by reason of a voluntary resignation
(other than for Good Reason or Retirement) (1} any portion of the Option that 15 not exercisable at the time of such
Termination of Employment shall be immedhately forfeited and (2) any portion of the Option that 15 exercisable at the time of
such Termination of Employment shall remain exercisable untsl the earlier of (I) 90 days after such Termination of
Employment or (II} the Expiration Date

(C) Retrrement Subject to Section 4(d)(v)F) below, upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment by reason of
Retirement, subject to the Participant’s execution of a warver and release of claums n a form and manner satisfactory to the
Company, the Pro Rata Option Portion of any Option [nstallment that 1s not exercisable at the time of such Termunation of
Employment (1) will vest and become exercisable, 1f applicable, under Section 4(d)(1v) above in the same manner and to the
same extent as 1f the Participant’s employment had continued and (2} the entire then exercisable portion of the Option shall be
exercisable during the period (1) beginming on the applicable Option Installment Vesting Date and (1I) ending on the earher
of (x) the later of the third anmiversary of (1) such Termination of Employment or () the applicable Option Installment
Vesting Date or {y) the Expiration Date Pro Rata Option Portion has the meaning set forth in Section 2(a) above Upon the
Partictpant’s Termination of Employment by reason of Retirement, any portion of the Option that 1s not exercisable at the
time of such termination, other than the Pro Rata Option Portion, shall be immediately forfeited

(D)  Death or Disability Upon a Participant’s Terrmnation of Employment due to death or Disabihty, any Option
Installment that 1s not exercisable at the ime of such Termunation of Employment shall vest and become exercisable and the
then exercisable portion of the Option shall be exercisable during the peniad (1) beginning on the date of such Termination of
Employment and (2) ending on the earlier of {I) the third anniversary of such Termination of Employment or (11) the
Expiration Date

7 If thus formula results in anv fractional Share the Pro Rata Option Portion wall be rounded up to the nearest whole Share
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(E) For Cause Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment by the Company for Cause, any unexercised
portion of the Option shall be immediately forferted, including any portion that was then exercisable

(F)  Retirement-Eligible Participants Who Incur a Ternunation of Employment for Other Reasons If a Participant
who 15 eligible for Retirement is, or would be, terminated by the Company without Cause, such Participant shall be
considered to have been termmated by the Company without Cause for purposes of the Agreement rather than having retired,
but only 1f the Participant acknowledges that, absent Retirement, the Participant would have been terminated by the Company
without Cause If, however, the employment of a Participant who 15 eligible for Retirement 1s terminated by the Company for
Cause, then regardless of whether the Participant 1s considered as a retiree for purposes of any other program, plan or pelicy
of the Company, for purposes of the Agreement, the Participant’s employment shall be constdered to have been terminated by
the Company for Cause

(G) Change in Control Notwithstanding the foregoing and subject to Section 5 below, upon a Participant’s
Termination of Employment by the Company without Cause or by the Participant for Good Reason (including the
Ternmunation of Employment of the Participant 1f he or she 1s employed by an Affiliate at the ime the Company sells or
otherwise divests itself of such Affihate) on or after a Change 1n Control but prior to the second anmiversary of such Change
in Control, subject to the Participant’s execution of a waiver and release of claims n a form and manner satisfactory to the
Company, any Option Installment that 1s not exercisable at the tume of such Termination of Employment shall vest and
become exercisable, and the entire then exercisable portion of the Option shall be exercisable during the period (1) beginning
on the date of such Termination of Employment and (2) ending on the earher of {1) the third anniversary of such Termination
of Employment or ([I) the Expiration Date
5 Potential Reduction 1n Payments Due to Excise Tax. [n the event that a Participant becomes entitled to benefits under the 2016 LTIP,
then such benefits, together with any payment or consideration 1n the nature of value or compensation to or for the Participant’s benefit under
any other agreement with or plan of Delta, shall be subject to reduction as set forth in Section 4(e) of the 2009 Delta Air Lines, Inc Officer
and Director Severance Plan, which relates to the excise tax under Section 4999 of the Code

6. Definitions. For purposes of the 2016 LTIP, the following definitions are hereby modified as set forth below and will apply in lieu of the
definstions set forth in the 2007 Performance Plan or as modified, as applicable

(a) For purposes of the 2016 LTIP, “ Good Reason” shall have the meaning set forth in the 2007 Performance Plan except
the following will be 1gnored for purposes of determiming whether a Participant has suffered a reduction that constitutes Good Reason under
the 2016 LTIP (1) any long-term award made to a Partictpant under the 2007 Performance Plan, (1} any other equity-based awards or other
Incentive compensation awards made to a Participant by Delta (or any Affihate or former Affiliate), and (1) any retention payment or special
travel benefits provided to a Participant as a result of hus or her imitial employment with Delta or any Affiliate

(b) For purposes of the 2016 LTIP, “ Retirement ” means a Termination of Employment (other than for Cause or death) either (1)
on or after a Paricipant’s 62 ™ birthday provided that such Participant has completed at least 5 years® service since ks or her most recent hire
date with the Company (or an Affiltate or former Affiliate) or (u} on or after a Particspant’s 52 * birthday provided that such Participant has
completed at least 10 years' service since his or her most recent hire date with the Company {or an Affiliate or former Affiliate)

7. Clawback. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 1n the 2016 LTIP and subject to further amendment of this Section 7 to the extent
required to be in compliance with any applicable law or regulations or Delta’s internal clawback policy, as 1t may be amended from tume to
time, 1f the Commutiee determnes that a vice president or more
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senior officer Participant has engaged in fraud or misconduct that caused, 1n whole or 1n part, the need for a required restatement of Delta’s
financial statements filed with the SEC, the Committee will review all incentive compensation awarded to or earned by the Participant,
incluching, without limitation, any Award under the 2016 LTIP, with respect to fiscal periods matenally affected by the restatement and may
recover from the Participant all such incentive compensation to the extent that the Committee deems appropriate after taking into account the
relevant facts and circumstances Any recoupment hereunder may be 1n addition to any other remedies that may be available to Delta under
applicable law, including, disciphnary action up to and mcluding termination of employment

8. Section 409A of the Code. To the extent required to be in comphance with Section 409A of the Code, and the regulations promulgated
thereunder (together, “ Section 409A ™}, notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan, (a) any payment or benefit to which a Participant 1s
eligible under the 2016 LTIP, including a Participant who 1s a “specified employee” as defined 1n Section 409A, shall be adjusted or delayed
and (b) any term of the 2016 LTIP may be adjusted, 1n such manner as to comply with Section 409A and maintasn the intent of the 2016 LTIP
to the maximum extent possible More specifically, to the extent any payment provided to a Participant under the 2016 LTIP constitutes non
excepted deferred compensation under Section 409A and the Participant 1s at the time of his termination of employment considered to be a
“specified employee” pursuant to the Company’s pohicy for determining such employees, the payment of any such non excepted amount and
the provision of such non excepted benefits will be delayed for six months following the Participant’s separation from service
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Delta shall not have any Lability to any Participant or any other person 1f any payment 15 determined to
constitute “nonqualtfied deferred compensation” within the meaning of Section 409A and does not satisfy the addihional conditions applicable
to nonqualified deferred compensation under Section 409A
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EXHIBIT 10.18

DELTA AIR LINES, {NC,
2016 MANAG I IVE PLAN

1. Purpose The 2016 Management Incentive Plan (the “ MIP ™) 1s an annual incentive program sponsored by Delta Air Lines, Inc (* Delta
 or the * Company ) that 1s intended to closely (a) link pay and performance by providing management employees with a compensation
opportunity based on Delta achieving key business plan goals mn 2016 and (b) ahgn the interests of management employees with the
Company’s other employees and stakcholders The MIP 15 being adopted under, and 15 subject to the terms of, the Delta Air Lines, Inc 2007
Performance Compensation Plan (the ° 2007 Plan ") Capitalized terms that are used but not defined in the MIP shall have the meaning
ascribed to them 1n the 2007 Plan

2.  Plan Admmmstration. (a) The Personnel & Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the  Committee '} shall be responsible
for the general administration and interpretation of the MIP and for carrying out its provisions The Commuttee shall have such powers as may
be necessary to discharge its duties hereunder, including, without hmitation, the following powers and duties, but subject to the terms of the
MIP

(1)  authonty to construe and interpret the terms of the MIP, and to determine ehgibility, awards and the amount, manner
and time of payment of any awards hereunder,

(1) authonty to prescribe forms and procedures for purposes of MIP participation and distribution of awards,

(i} authority to adopt rules and regulations and to take such actions as 1t deems necessary or desirable for the proper
admimistration of the MIP, which authonty may be delegated to the Company’s Chief Human Resources Officer, and

(v} authority at any time prior to a Change in Control to elimuinate or reduce the actual payout to any Participant in the MIP

{b)  Any rule or decision by the Commuittee that 1s not inconsistent with the provisions of the MIP shall be conclusive and binding
on all persons, and shall be given the maximum deference permitted by law

(c} Notwithstanding anything contained 1n the 2007 Plan to the contrary, the Commuttee shall not have the authonty to increase the
actual payout to any Participant in the MIP

3. Ehgbility. All Delta employees worldwide who are officers, managing directors (grade 13), directors {grade 12), general managers
(grade 11), grade 10 or grade 8 (other than employees who participate in a sales incentive plan or other major functional incentive plan, as
may be m effect from time to time) are eligible to participate in the MIP (“ Participants ™}

4. MIP Awards.

{a) General The MIP award (the “ MIP Award ™) each Participant receives, :f any, will be based on (1) the Participant’s Target MIP
Award, as defined below, {n) the level of achievement within each applicable performance measure, and (11) the occurrence of a payout for
2016 under the Company’s broad-based employee profit sharing program for ground and flight attendant employees (the “ Profit Sharing
Program ), as described below Certain additional requirements will apply to any Participant who 1s employed by the Company as an
executive vice president or more seruor officer of the Company (“ Executive Officer Participant ™), as discussed in Section 7(b) below

{b) Performance Measures The performance measures used will be one or more of financial (“ Financial Performance ™),
operational (* Operational Performance ), revenue {“ Revenue Performaace ), leadership effectiveness (* Leadership Effectiveness
Performance ") and individual performance (* Individual Performance ) Achievement under each performance measure may range from
below threshold, at which there 15 no payout, to the maximum performance level, at which the payout will be greater than the target levet,
subject to Section 4(c) below




(¢) Interaction with Profit Sharing Program and Indvidual Perfor mance Measw e If there 1s no payout under the Profit Sharing
Program for 2016, (1) no amount will be paid with respect to Financial Performance to any Participant regardless of whether Delta meets or
exceeds that performance measure and (11} for general manager level (grade 11) Participants and above, the actual MIP Award, 1f any, will not
exceed such Participant’s Target MIP Award (as defined below) In addstion, if a Participant’s performance under the Individual Performance
Measure (applicable to Participants who are not officers) s not satisfactory, no amount will be pad with respect to Financial Performance,
Operational Performance and/or Revenue Performance to such Participant regardless of whether Delta meets or exceeds those performance
measures

(d) Target MIP Awards The Target MIP Award for each Participant will be expressed as a percentage of the Participant’s Annual
Base Salary (the * Target MIP Award ") as determined by the Committee and will be communicated to Participants i such manner as the
Committee deems appropriate Subject to Section 8 below, “ Annual Base Salary” means the Participant’s 2016 annual base salary as in
effect on December 31, 2016

5. Weighting of Performance Measures. Subject to Section 8 below, a percentage of each Participant’s Target MIP Award 1s allocated to
one or more of Financial Performance, Operational Performance, Revenue Performance, Leadership Effectiveness Performance and/or
Individual Performance based on the Participant’s employment level, as follows

Performunce Measures and Weightings
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CEO 50% 25% 25% 0% 0%
President 50% 25% 25% 0% 0%
EVP 0% 25% 25% 0% 0%
CIO and SVP — Supply 50% 25% 25% 0% 0%
Chatn Management
SVP 50% 25% 15% 10% 0%
VP 50% 25% 15% 10% 0%
Managng Director 35% 15% 10% 0% 40%
(Grade 13}
Dhrector (Grade 12) 35% 15% 10% 0% 40%
General Manager 25% 15% 10% 0% 50%
{Grade 11)
Grade 10 0% 0% 0% 0% 100%
Grade 8 0% 0% 0% 0% 100%

6. The Performance Measures—Threshold, Target and Maximum Payout Levels. The Target MIP Award, and the amounts paid m
connection with target levels of Financial, Operational, Revenue, Leadership Effectiveness and Individual Performance, are based on the
achievement of the target performance level with respect to each applicable performance measure {except that Financial Performance also
requires a payout under the Profit Shanng Program for 2016) A Participant’s actual MiP Award may be greater or less than the target amount
based on whether performance under one or more of the performance measures applicable to the Parhicipant exceeds or 1s below target
performance, subject to Section 4(c) above This 1s explained in more detail below




(a) Financial Performance Measures The Financial Performance measures for 2016 are based on Delta’s Pre-Tax Income, as
defined below The following table describes the performance ranges and award payout levels for 2016 Financial Performance, subject to
Section 4{c) above

"Threshold Maximum

Y% of e: Financial Performance Measure

Pard 50% 100% 200%
Required 2016 Pre-Tax $6,220 Million $7,454 Milhion $8,078 Mithion
Income

Payouts will be straight-line interpolated when Pre-Tax Income results fall above Threshold and below Target or above Target and below
Maximum

“Pre-Tax Income” will be the amount of Pre-Tax Income, 1f any, determuned under the Profit Sharing Program for 2016 '

(b  Operanonal Performance Measures The Operational Performance measures for 2016 are based on both Delta and Delta Connection
operational perfermance, with (1) Delta’s operational performance accounting for 75% of the measure and (1) Delta Connection performance
accounting for 25% of the measure Delta’s Operational Performance 1s based on the number of times during 2016 that Delta meets or
exceeds 1ts monthly goals under the broad-based employee shared rewards program (the “ Shared Rewards Program ") Delta Connection’s
Operational Performance 1s based on the number of times during 2016 that the Delta Connection carrters meet or exceed their monthly
operational goals for (x) completton factor and (y) on-time performance (the  Delta Connection Goals ") The Delta Connection Goals and
the methodology for determiming whether these goals are met are described in Exhabit A hereto The following table describes the
performance ranges and award payout levels for 2016 Operational Performance, subject to Section 4(c) above

“Below Threshold i Targe 1 Maximum
% of Target Payout for this Performance Measure (75% Weighting) |0% 37 50% 75% 150%
Number of monthly Shared Rewards Program geals actually met 15 of less 16 3 26 or more
during 2016
Delta Coanection Goals
% of Target Pavout for this Performance Measure (25% Weightung) |0% 12 50% 25% 50%
Number of Delta Connection Goals acteally met during 2016 8 orless 9 14 19 or more

Payouts based on the Shared Rewards Program and Delta Connection Goals wilt be straight-hine interpolated when actual performance results
fall above Threshold and below Target or above Target and below Maximum

1 The Profit Shanng Program for 2016 defines ‘Pre-Tax Income *as follows for any calendar year, the Company's consolidated pre-tax income calculated in accordance with Generally
Accepted Accounting Principtes i the Uneted States (“ GAAP ') and as reported in the Company’s public secunittes filings, but excluding (a) all asset write downs related to long term
assets, (b) gans or losses wath respect to special, unusual of nonrecurmng items, and {¢} expense accrued with respect to any employee profit shanng plan, program or similar arrangement,
meluding, without hmautation, the Profit Shaning Program and the Delta Air Lines, Inc Annuat Profit Shanag Plan




{c)  Revenue Performance Measures The Revenue Performance measures for 2016 will be measured based on the comparison of
Delta’s TRASM for the 2016 calendar year over the 2015 calendar year relative to the Industry Group Average TRASM for the 2016 calendar
year over the 2015 calendar year The following table describes the performance ranges and award payout levels for 2016 Revenue
Performance, subject to Section 4(c) above

“Threshold Target Maximum

50% 100%

200%
2015 TRASM plus 1 (% ponts or
more

% of Target Revenie Performance Measire Paid

Delta’s 2016 TRASM over 2015 TRASM relative to Industry Group
Anerage TRASM for the same period

2015 TRASM nunus | 0% pomts [2015 TRASM

Payouts based on Revenue Performance will be straight-line interpolated when actuai performance results fall above Threshold and below
Target or above Target and below Maximum, provided, however , if 2016 Financial Performance equals or exceeds the Maxmmum
performance level, payouts based on Revenue Performance will not be less than the Target amount regardless of whether the actual
performance results fall below Target

“ Avalable Seat Mile ™ means the consohidated scheduled and non-scheduled total number of seats available for transporting
passengers during a reporting period multiplied by the total number of miles flown during that period

“ Industry Group " means Alaska Air Group, Inc , American Awrhnes Group, Inc, JetBlue Airways Corporation, Southwest Airlines
Co, and United Continental Holdings, Inc

“ Industry Group Average TRASM ” means the aggregate Total Operating Revenue for all members of the lndustry Group divided
by the aggregate Available Seat Miles of all members of the Industry Group

* Total Operating Revenue * means, for Delta and each member of the Industry Group, the applicable company’s total operating
revenue for a calendar year based on its regularly prepared and publicly available statements of operations prepared in accordance with
GAAP, provided , with respect to Delta, Total Operating Revenue shall exclude the portion of revenue associated with refinery sales to thurd
parties net of exchange

In determining the Total Operating Revenue for Delta and each member of the Industry Group, the Commuttee shall make such
adjustments with respect to any subject company as i1s necessary to ensure the results are comparable, including, without limitation,
differances in accounting policies (for example, non-recurring adjustments to deferred revenue resulting from (1) instial application of
accounting policies, (1) the application of accounting policies to materially modified contracts, or (11} significant accounting estimate
changes associated with mergers, acquisttions, divestitures or fresh start accounting as a result of emergence from bankruptcy) Without
limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Commuittee shall {1} make such deternunations based on publicly audited financtal statements filed
by the subject company with the US Securities and Exchange Commission and (1) exclude from any calculation any item of gan, loss or
expense to be special or unusual 1n nature or infrequent in occurrence

“ TRASM * means Total Operating Revenue divided by Available Seat Miles

(d) Leadership Effectiveness Performance Measure The Leadership Effectiveness Performance measure (applicabte to Participants
who are vice presidents or senior vice presidents) for 2016 will be based on an evaluation of whether a Participant has demonstrated
leadership attributes and results during 2016 including, among other things, supporting diversity, providing talent management, meeting
financial budget, improving employee engagement, and being a role model for the Rules of the Road The performance ranges and award
payout levels will be determined by the Commuttee, subject 1o Section 4(c) above

(&)  Individual Performance Measure The Individual Performance measure {applicable to Participants who are not officers) 15
generally determined by each Participant’s performance evaluation at the end of 2016 The performance ranges and award payout levels will
be determined by the Commuttee, subject to Section 4(c) above




7. Timng of Award Payments

(a) In General Subject to Sections 7(b) and 8(a) below, any payouts to a Participant under the MIP for 2016 will be made 1n cash,
as soon as practicable after (1) the Commuttee certifies the achievement of the required Financial Performance, Operational Performance and
Revenue Performance results and (1) where applicable, Leadership Effectiveness Performance results have been deterruned and individual
performance has been evaluated, but in no event later than March 15, 2017, unless it ts adminstratively impracticable to do so, and such
impracticability was unforeseeable at the end of 2016, in which case such payment shall be made as soon as administratively practicable after
March 15, 2017 Further, unless a payout for 2016 under the Profit Sharing Program occurs after March 15, 2017, any payout under the 2016
MIP will not be made prior to a payout for 2016 under the Profit Shaning Program, provided, howeves , if 1t 15 determined there will be no
payout for 2016 under the Profit Sharing Program, any MIP Awards that are payable based on Operational Performance, Revenue
Performance, Leaderstup Effectiveness Performance or Individual Performance will be paid as soon as practicable thereafter, but n no event
later than March 15, 2017, unless 1t 1s admimistratively impracticable to do so, and such impracticabtlity was unforeseeable at the end of 2016
in which case such payment shall be made as soon as adminstratively practicable after March 15, 2017

(b)  Executrve Officer Participants Payouts under the MIP to Participants who, as of December 31, 2016, are Executive Officer
Participants (as such term 1s defined 1n Section 4(a) above) will be subject to the following terms and conditions

{n Paymentn Restnicted Stock, If there ts no payout under the Profit Sharing Program for 2016, any payout under the MIP
to an Executive Officer Participant will be made n shares of Restricted Stock rather than in cash, with the number of shares of
Restricted Stock being equal to the result of the following formula (“ MIP Restricted Stock ”) A — B, where 2

A = the amount of the payout to the Executive Officer Participant under the MIP had the payout been made 1n cash, and

B = the closing price of a Share on the New York Stock Exchange on the later of (1) the date that the Committee
approves the payouts, (f any, to the Executive Officer Participants under the MIP following the Committee’s certification of
the achievement of the required performance measures as described in Section 7(a) and (2) the third business day following
the date on which the Company publicly announces 1ts annual financial results 1f this date 15 scheduled n the same month that
the Commuttee approves such payouts, f any

(n)  Lapsing of Restrictions, Forfeiture, Until the restrictions imposed by this Section 7(b)(u) (the “ Restrictions ) have
lapsed pursuant to the terms below, an Executive Officer Participant will not be permitted to sell, exchange, assign, transfer or
otherwise dispose of the MIP Restricted Stock and the MIP Restricted Stock will be subject to forfeiture as set forth below

(A) The Restrictions shall lapse and be of no further force or effect on the earlier of the date (1) there 15 a payout
under the Profit Sharing Program unless, priot to such payout, the Executive Officer Participant incurs a Dhsqualifying
Termuination of Employment or (2) an Executive Officer Participant tncurs a Qualifying Termunation of Employment The
MIP Restricted Stock will be immediately forfeited 1f, prior to the lapsing of the Restrictions, the Executive Officer
Participant incurs a Disqualifying Termination of Employment

(B) ™ Disqualifying Termmation of Employment ” means an Executive Officer Participant’s Termination of
Employment by the Company for Cause

2 If this formula results in any fractional share, the MIP Restncted Stock will be rounded up to the next highest ten shares
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© “ Quabfying Termmation of Employment ” means an Executve Officer Participant’s Termination of
Employment (1) by the Company without Cause or {2} due to death or Disability

(D) For purposes of this Section 7{b}(n), if an Executive Officer Participant incurs a Ternination of Employment
by reason of (1) a voluntary resignation {including the Termination of Employment by the Participant 1f he or she 1s employed
by an Affiliate at the time the Company sells or otherwise divests uself of such Affiliate) or (2) Retirement, the Restrnictions
shall lapse and be of no further force or effect on the date there 1s a payout under the Profit Sharing Program as 1f such
Executive Officer Participant’s employment had continued through such date

(E) For purposes of the MIP, * Retirement ” means a Termunation of Employment (other than for Cause or death)
erither {1) on or after a Participant’s 62 " birthday provided that such Participant has completed at least 5 years service since
his or her most recent hire date with the Company (or an Affihiate or former Affihate) or (2) on or after a Participant’s 52 ™
birthday provided that such Participant has completed at least 10 years service since his or her most recent hire date with the
Company (or an Affiliate or former Affiliate)

(11} Dividends. In the event a cash dividend shall be pad 1n respect of Shares at a time the Restrictions on the MIP
Restricted Stock have not lapsed, the Participant shall be eligible to receive the dividend upon the lapse of the Restrictions The
Restrictions shall apply to any such dividend

(1v) 2007 Plan. Wntten Notice. The MIP Restricted Stock will otherwise be subject to the terms of the 2007 Plan In the
event any Executive Officer Participant’s MIP Award 1s converted to MIP Restricted Stock, such Participant will receive a written
notice of such conversion with the details thereof as soon as practicable after the MiP payment date

8. Change in Employment Status,
(a) Termmation of Employment.

() A Termmnation Event in 2016—General Except as expressly set forth n this Section &, n the event a Participant’s
employment with Delta terminates for any reason prier to the end of the workday on December 31, 2016, such Participant will be
mnehigible for any award under the MIP In other words, 1f a Participant 1s employed according to Company records through the end of
the workday on December 31, 2016, the Parucipant will be eligible for any award earned under the MIP for 2016, including, 1f
apphcable, MIP Restricted Stock

(n} Termunation on or after January 1, 2017 Subject to Section 7(b) above, a Participant who incurs a Ternunatton of
Employment for any reason other than for Cause on or after January 1, 2017 will remain eligible for any unpaid MIP Award, which
award will be pard according to the terms of Section 7(a) above A Participant who 1s terminated by the Company for Cause on or
after January 1, 2017 will ferfeit any unpaid MIP Award

(m)  Pro Rata MIP Payment

{A) Disability or Retunement This Section 8(a}(i)(A) applies to any Participant who mncurs a Termination of
Employment prior to January 1, 2017 due to the Participant’s Disabulity or Retirement (as such term 1s defined m Section 7(b)
(m(E)) Subject to the Participant’s execution of a waiver and release of claims i a form and manner satisfactory to the
Company, such Participant will be ehgible to receive a MIP Award based on an adjusted annual base salary amount, but
otherwise mn the same manner, to the same extent and at the same time as the Participant would have received such MIP
Award 1f such Participant’s employment had continued through December 31, 2016 ( re , based on achievement of
applicable performance measures) The most recent performance evaluation prior
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to the Termunatton of Employment will generally apply to the Individual Performance measure, 1f any, applicable to the
Participant The Participant’s Annual Base Salary will be the result of the following formula X x Y/12, where

X = the Participant’s annual base salary as in effect as of the date of Termination of Employment, and

Y = the number of calendar months the Participant was actively employed by Delta during 2016 1in a MIP-ehigible
position, rounded up for any partial month ?

(B)  Termmnation of Employment Without Cause or Resulting in Benefits under the Severance Plans This Section
8(a)(iu)(B) applies to any Participant who incurs a Termination of Employment prior to January 1, 2017 due to etther (1) a
Termination of Employment by the Company without Cause or (2} for any other reason that entitles such Participant to
benefits under the Delta Air Lines, Inc 2009 Officer and Director Severance Plan or any other Company-sponsored severance
plan in which a Participant 15 eligible to participate (the “ Severance Plans ”} Subject to the Participant’s execution of a
warver and release of claims n a form and manner satisfactory to the Company, such Participant will be eligible to receive a
MIP Award based on an adjusted annual base salary amount, but otherwise 1n the same manner, to the same extent and at the
same time as the Participant would have received such MIP Award 1f such Participant’s employment had continued through
December 31, 2016 (1 e , based on achievement of applicable performance measures} The Participant’s Annual Base Salary
will be determined in accordance with the formula set forth in Section 8(a}(in)}{A) above

(C)  Death This Sectton 8(a)}{m}(C) apphes to any Participant who incurs a Termination of Employment prior to
January 1, 2017 due to the Participant’s death The Participant’s estate will be eligible to receive a Pro Rata MIP Payment
made 1n cash as soon as practicable after a Partictpant’s Termination of Employment, but in no event later than 2% months
following the end of the year in which the Termination of Employment occurs “ Pro Rata MIP Payment”™ means the result
of the following formula W x Z/12, where

W = the Participant’s Target MIP Award, and

Z = the number of calendar months the Participant was actively employed by Delta during 2016 1n a MIP-
ehgible position, rounded up for any partial month

(b)  Other Changes in Employment Status. The terms of this Section 8(b) shall apply to circumstances involving new hires,
promotions, demotions, transfers or leaves of absence during 2016 After a Participant’s Target MIP Award 15 determined under this Section
8(b), the appropriate weighting of performance measures will apply to each portion of such Target MIP Award as set forth in Section 5 above
For partial calendar months, the change in employment status wiil be considered effective as of the 1 *day of the month in which there 15 a
change n status, provided, however , 1n the event that a Participant was (1) on a disability leave of absence for a period of less than one
calendar month during 2016 and (11) actively at work for at least one full day during such calendar month, the Participant will be deemed to
have been actively employed in a MIP-eligible position for the entire calendar month The end of year performance evaluation will apply to
any Individual Performance measure applicable to the Participant unless the Participant 15 no longer subject to the such evaluation process
after the change in employment status, in which case the most recent performance evaluation will apply Any MIP Awards payable under this
Section 8(b) will be paid at the same time and in the same manner as such awards are paid to active Participants, subject to Section 7(b)
above

3 Fer purposes of the MIP, one calendar month 15 catculated from the date of measurement to the same or closest neinerical date occurring during the foltowing month For example, one
calendar month from January 31, 2016 will elapsz as of February 29 2016 two months will elapse on March 31, 2016, and so on




(1)  New Hwes With respect to any individual who becomes employed by Delta as a grade § or any more senior MiP-
eligible position during 2016 but after January 1, 2016, such individual will be a Participant in the MIP and will be eligible to receive
an award under the MIP for 2016, provided, that such Participant’s Annual Base Salary will be the result of the following formula X
x Y/12, whete

X =the Participant’s annual base salary as of December 31, 2016, and

Y = the number of calendar months the Participant was actively employed by Delta in a MIP-ehigible position during 2016,
rounded up for any partial month

(1) Promotions Participants who are erther promoted into a MIP-eligible job level or promoted into a higher level of MIP
partictpation during 2016 will have their Target MIP Award calculated based on their annual base salary at each MIP-eligible job
level (measured as of the date immediately prior to the date the promotion 1s considered effecttve for purposes of the MIP, if
applicable, as described in the first paragraph of Section 8(b) above, and as of December 31, 2016) and the number of calendar
months they were employed 1n each such capacity, multiplied by the relevant total target award percentage applicable to their position
or posittons dunng the relevant period

(m) Demotions Participants who are either demoted to a position that 1s not ehigible to participate 1n the MIP or demoted to
a lower level of MIP participation duning 2016 will have their Target MIP Award calculated based on their annual base salary at each
MIP-ehgible job level {measured as of the date immedately prior to the date the demotton 1s considered effective for purposes of the
MIP, as described i the first paragraph of Section 8(b) above, and, if applicable, as of December 31, 2016) and the number of
calendar months they were employed in each such capacity, multiphed by the relevant total target award percentage apphcable to
their position or positions during the relevant peried

(1v)  Transfers and Leaves of Absence In the event that during 2016 a Participant (A) transfers employment from Delta to a
Delta subsidiary or Affiliate that does not participate in the MIP or {B) goes on any type of leave at any time during 2016, the
Participant wiil have his Target MIP Award calculated, subject to Section 8(b)(v), based on his annual base salary (measured as of the
date immediately prior to the date the transfer or leave 15 considered effective for purposes of the MIP) and the number of calendar
months he was actively employed in a MIP-eligible position during 2016, multiplied by the relevant total target award percentage
applicable to his MIP-ehigible position

(v}  Minary Leave In the event that at any time during 2016 a Participant 1s on a Mihtary Leave of Absence, his or her
Annual Base Salary shall be equal to the aggregate annual base salary the Participant received from Delta during 2016 plus any
amount of base salary such Participant would have received had he or she been actively employed by Delta in any corresponding
MIP-ehgible position during such leave “Military Leave of Absence " means a Participant’s absence from his or her position of
employment at any time during 2016 because of service in the umformed services, as defined under the Uniformed Services
Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994, as amended (* USERRA ™), provided, that a Participant must provide the
Company appropriate evidence that his or her absence was due to service in the umiformed services and the period of such service m
order to be considered to be on a Milstary Leave of Absence for purposes of the MIP For purposes of the MIP, any Participant who 1s
absent due to mihtary service (according to Delta’s records) as of December 31, 2016 and has been on such leave for a cumulative
period (during the period he or she has been employed by Delta) of five years or less, will be presumed to be on a Military Leave of
Absence Any Participant who 1s similarly absent due to mulitary service (based on Delta’s records) and who has been on such leave
for a period of more than five years will not be considered to be on a Military Leave of Absence until he or she provides appropnate
evidence that he or she 1s entitled to an exception to the five-year limit on unuformed service as set forth in USERRA
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9  Treatment of Payments Under Benefit Plans or Programs. MIP payments, which for an Executive Officer Participant who receives
MIP Restricted Stock means the amount of the payout to the Executive Officer Participant under the MIP had the payout been made 1n cash,
will be considered as earmings under any benefit plan or program spensored by Delta only to the extent such payments are mncluded as
earnings under the terms of the specific plan or program, provided , however | that any MIP payment made to an Executive Officer
Participant in MIP Restricted Stock will be considered as earmings only for purposes of the Company’s restoration payment program, as m
effect from time to ttme If such payments are included, unless otherwise provided 1n such plan or program, participants will be eligible to
contribute amounts paid under the MIP nto such plans 1n the same manner and to the same extent as their ordinary compensation and any
amounts 5o coniributed will be subject to any applicable Company contributions and/or matches Notwithstanding anything to the contrary n
this Section 9 and except as otherwise provided under the terms of any defined contnbution plan sponsored by the Company, any MIP
payment received 1n connection with a Termmatien of Employment shall not be considered earnings under any benefit plan or program
sponsored by Delta

10. Effective Date The MIP will become effective as of January 1, 2016, provided however, 1f on or before the date the Comnuttee adopts
the MIP any employee who would otherwise have participated in the MIP 15 informed that s or her employment will be terminated by the
Company without Cause, any severance such employee 1s entitled to receive will be calculated based on the 2015 Management Incentive Plan
as 1n effect as of December 31, 2015

11. Amendment. Except as otherwise expressly set forth in this Section and Section 14, the terms of Section 14 of the 2007 Plan shall
apply to any amendment or termunation of the MIP In addition, the terms applicable to any Participant will be subject in their entirety to the
terms of any offer letter or other document to which the Participant has agreed The terms of such offer letter or other document, 1f contrary to
the terms of the MIP, shall govern the rnights of the corresponding Participant

12.  Fractions. Any calculation under the MIP that results in a fractional amount will be rounded up to two decimal points

13.  Section 409A of the Code. Notwtithstanding anything in the MIP to the contrary, any payments or benefits under the Plan are intended
to be exempt from the applicable requirements of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations
promulgated thereunder (together, “ Section 409A ™) and shall be limited, construed and interpreted 1n accordance with such intent, provided,
however , to the extent that any amount paid hereunder it connection with a Termination of Empleyment constitutes deferred compensation
under Section 409A and 1s paid to a “specified employee” as defined in Section 409A, the payment of such amount will be delayed for six
months

14,  Clawback. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the MIP and subject to further amendment of this Section 14 to the extent
required to be 1n comphance with any applicable law or regulation or Delta’s 1nternal clawback policy, as it may be amended from time to
time, 1f the Commuttee determines that a vice presydent or more senmor officer Participant has engaged (n fraud or misconduct that caused, in
whole or 1n part, the need for a required restatement of Delta’s financial statements filed with the Secunties and Exchange Commussion, the
Commuttee will review all incentive compensation awarded to or earned by such Participant, including, without limitation, any MIP Award,
with respect to fiscal penods matenally affected by the restatement and may recover from the Participant all such incentive compensation to
the extent that the Commuitee deems appropriate after taking into account the relevant facts and circumstances Any recoupment hereunder
may be n addition to any other remedies that may be available to Delta under applicable law, including, disciplinary act:on up to and
including termination of employment




EXHIBIT A— DELTA CONNECTION GOALS-

Delta Connection’s Operational Performance will be based on the number of times during 2016 that the group of Delta Connection carriers
meets or exceeds its monthly operational goals for completion factor and on-time arnval performance (the “ Delta Connection Goals ) The
monthly Delta Connection Goals are included on the following table

Completion Factor Oon-Time Arrival Performance
2016 Goal 2016 Goal
Month o 2016 Relative CF Absolute CF Relative Al14 Absolute Al4
January Ist 97 4% 1st 80 7%
February Ist 97 2% 1st 81 1%
March Ist 98 3% Ist 82 4%
Apnl Ist 98 9% 1st 84 2%
May 1st 98 8% Ist 84 3%
June 1st 98 4% Ist 80 6%
July Ist 98 4% Ist 81 0%
August 1st 98 6% 1st 83 6%
September Ist 99 3% Ist 86 7%
Qctober 1st 99 1% Lst 86 2%
November Ist 99 1% Ist 86 3%
December 1st 98 0% Ist 80 7%
Overall Ist 98 5% st 831%

The monthly goal in each performance category may be met by achieving either the specific numenc target or ranking (with a comparator
group ranking of “1” being the best performance)

A The primary source of reported metrics used to calculate performance will be each Delta Connection carnier’s data which flows mto
Delta’s data warchouse

B All domestic and international Delta Connection carrier system operations subject to capacity purchase agreements and/or revenue
proration agreements will be included 1n the performance measures, icludmg the operations of Chautauqua, Compass, ExpressJet,
Golet, Endeavor Air, Shuttle America and Sky West, but excluding any revenue proration operations with respect to which passenger
reservations are not reflected on Delta’s reservations system (the * Delta Conaection Program ) In the event that a carnier enters or
leaves the Delta Connection Program, that camer’s operations will be included or excluded from the performance measures as
applicable

C The monthly calculation for completion factor will be as follows

|
2

3

D The monthly calculation for on-time performance will be as follows

1
2

Add all Delta Connection scheduled system operations for the month

Add all Delta Connection system completed flights for the month (including flights canceled by one carrier and covered by
another via an extra section, which also includes flights changed te Delta aircraft)

Divide the result of C 2 by the result of C 1 for a combined Delta Connection system completion factor

Add al! Delta Connection completed system operations for the month

Add all Delta Connection system on tine operations for the month On time operations are defined as the number of flights
that arrive at the scheduled destination within 15 minutes of the scheduled arrival time

Divide the result of D 2 by the result of D 1 for a combined Delta Connection system on-time performance measure




E All calculations wiil be performed and validated by Delta Connection Operations

F The comparator group for the relative measure shall inciude the regional portfolios for Alasha Air Group, [nc, United Continental
Holdings, Inc and American Arrlines Group, Inc and the data 1s compiled by a third party selected by the Company

11



Exhibit 12 1

Delta Air Lines, Inc
Computation of Ratio of Earnungs to Fixed Charges

Year Fnded December 31,

(m millions, except for rano data) 2015 2014 2013 012 2011
Earmings before income taxes 3 7,157 % 1,072 % 2,527 % 1025 % 769
Add {deduct)
Fixed charges from below 584 737 947 1,116 1,202
Capitalized interest (36) {33} (29} 20 {9)

Eamings as adjusted

3 7,705 § 1,776 § 3,445 § 2,120 § 1,962

Frxed charges

Interest expense including capitahized amounts and amortization of debt costs 3 534 3§ 691 § 851 % 1,044 § 1122

Portion of rental expense representative of the interest factor 50 46 56 72 80
Fixed charges b 584 § 737 § 947 § 1116 § 1,202
Ratio of eamungs to fixed charges 1319 241 364 190 163
Special [tems

Year Ended December 31,

(0 millions) 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
MTM adjustments and settlements $ 1301 § (2,346) $ 276 § 27 3 (26)
Restructunng and other (35) (716) 424) (452) (242)
Loss on extingmshment of debt —_ (268) — (118} (68)
Virgin Atlantic MTM adjustments 26 (134) — - —

Total income (10ss)

$ 1,292 § (3464) § (148) $ (541 % (336)




NAME OF SUBSIDIARY

Aero Assurance Ltd

DAL Global Services, LLC
Delta Matenal Services LLC
Delta Private Jets, Inc
Endeavor Atlr, Inc

Epsilon Trading, LLC
MIPC, LLC

MLT Vacations, Inc

Monroe Energy, LLC

New Sky, Ltd

EXHIBIT 21 1

SUBSIDIARIES OF DEL I A AlR LINES, INC
as of December 31, 2015

JURISPICTION OF IN\CORPORATION OR
ORGANZATION

Vermont
Delaware
Delaware
Kentucky

Georgia
Delaware
Delaware
Mmnesota
Delaware
Bermuda

Certain subsidianes were omitted pursuant to Item 601(21)(u} of the SEC’s Regutation S-K



Exhibit 23 1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference n the followmng Registration Statements

{1y Registration Statement No 333-142424 on Form S-8 pertaining to Delta Air Lines, Inc 2007 Performance Compensation
Plan,

{2) Registration Statement No 333-149308 on Form S-8 pertamming to Delta Air Lines, Inc 2007 Performance Compensation
Plan,

(3) Regstration Statement No 333-154818 on Form $-8 pertaming to Delta Air Lines, Inc 2007 Performance Compensation
Plan, and

4) Registration Statement No 333-151060 on Form $-8 pertaining to Northwest Airlines Corporation 2007 Stock Incentive
Plan,

of our reports dated February 5, 2016 , with respect to the consolidated financial statements of Delta Air Lines, Inc, and the
effectiveness of intemal control over financal reporting of Delta Air Lines, Inc included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of
Delta Air Lines, Inc for the year ended December 31, 2015

/s/ Emst & Young LLP
Atlanta, Georgia
February 5, 2016



Exhibit 31 1
| I Richard H Anderson, certify that

: 1 I'have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Delta Air Lines, Inc (“Delta™) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 ,

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a matenal fact or omit o state a matenial fact necessary to make the
statements made, n light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included n this report, fairly present o alf matenal respects the
financial condinion, results of operations and cash flows of Delta as of, and for, the periods presented in this report,

4 Delta's other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and mamntaiming disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15{(e)} and internal conirol over financial reporting (as defined 1n Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for Delta and
have

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to Delta, including uts consohidated subsidianes, 1s made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period mn which this report 1s being prepared

{b} Designed such mternal control over financtal reporting or cansed such wmternal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes 1n accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,

{c) Ewaluated the effectiveness of Delta's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by thus report based on such evaluation, and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change m Delta's internal control gver financial reporting that occurred during Delta's most recent fiscal quarter that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to matenally affect, Delta’s mternal centrol over financial reporting, and

3 Delta's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of mternal control over financial reporting, to Delta's auditors
and the Audit Commttee of Delta's Board of Directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions)

{a) All significant deficiencies and matenial weaknesses 1n the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
hikely to adversely affect Delta's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information, and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that mvolves management or other employees who have a sigmficant role in Delta's internal control over
financial reporting

February 5, 2016 /s/ Richard H Anderson
Richard H Anderson
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 312
[, Paul A Jacobson, certify that

1 I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Delta A Lines, Inc (“Delta”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015

2 Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a matenial fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in hight of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the penod covered by this report,

3  Based on my kiowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information mncluded m this report, fairly present in atl material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of Delta as of, and for, the perniods presented 1n this report,

4 Delta's other cerifying officer and 1 are responsible for estabhishing and mamntamnmg disclosure controls and procedures (as defined i Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(¢) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for Delta and
have

{a) Designed such disclesure controls and procedurcs, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that matenal mformation relating to Delta, including its consolidated subsidiaries, 15 made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period m which thus report 1s being prepared

{b) Designed such mternal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes 1n accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,

(¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of Delta's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of
the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the peniod covered by thts report based on such evaluation, and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in Deita's internal control over financiat reporting that occurred during Delta's most recent fiscal quarter that
has matenally affected, or 1s reasonably likely to matenally affect, Delta's internal control over financial reporting, and

5 Delta's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of mternal control over financial reporting, to Deltas auditors
and the Audit Commuttee of Delta's Board of Directors (or persens performing the equivalent functions)

(a) All sigmficant deficiencies and matenal weaknesses 1n the design or operation of internal control over financial reportinig which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect Delta's ability to record process, summanze and report financial information, and

(b} Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who bave a significant rote m Delta's internal control over
financial reporting

February 5 2016 /s/ Paul A Jacobson
Paul A Jacobson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financral Officer




Exhibit 32

February 5, 2016

Secuntics and Exchange Commussion
450 Fifth Street, N W

Washington D C 20549

Ladies and Genttemen
The certifications set forth below are hereby submitied to the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to, and solely for the purpose of complying with,
Secuon 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code in connection with the filing on the date hereof with the Secunitres and Exchange Commussion of

the annual report on Form 10-K of Delta Arr Lines, In¢ {“Delta™) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 (the *“Report™)

Each of the undersigned, the Chuef Executive Officer and the Cxecutive Vice President and Chief Financral Officer, respectively, of Delta, hereby certifies that,
as of the end of the penod covered by the Report

1 such Report fully complies with the requirements of Sectron 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and

2 the information contawned 1n the Repont fairly presents, 1n all mateniat respects, the financial condition and results of operations of Delta

fs/ Richard H Anderson
Richard H Anderson
Chief Executive Officer

fs/ Paul A Jacobson
Paul A Jacobson
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




